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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on
an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Finance
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Fairfield,
Connecticut (“Town"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial

statements, which collectively comprise the Town's basic financial statements, and have issued our report
thereon dated February 1, 2023.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town's internal control over
financial reporting (“internal control”) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Town's financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not
been identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town's financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the Town’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

PKE O Gorampr. Danas, LLP

Wethersfield, Connecticut
February 1, 2023
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Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program;
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance;
and Report on Schedule of Expenditures of
Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Finance
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the Town of Fairfield, Connecticut's (“Town") compliance with the types of compliance
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and
material effect on each of the Town's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022. The Town's
maijor federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule
of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the Town complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above
that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended
June 30, 2022.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAS"); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”). Our responsibilities under those standards and the
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of
our report.

We are required to be independent of the Town and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our
audit does not provide a legal determination of the Town’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred
to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Town's federal
programs.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the Town'’s
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error; as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable
user of the report on compliance about the Town’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal
program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance,
we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e |dentify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the Town's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

e Obtain an understanding of the Town's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control
over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in.the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control
over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses
or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town'’s basic financial statements.
We issued our report thereon, dated February 1, 2023, which contained unmodified opinions on those financial
statements.

Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of
the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements
and certain additional procedures including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

PKE O Camp. danes, 2P

Wethersfield, Connecticut
February 1, 2023



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Federal Identifying Number
AL Name of Funder Assigned by Funder Provided to Total
Federal Awarding Agency/Program or Cluster Title Number Pass Through Entity Pass Through Enlity Subrecipients Expenditures
U.S. Department of Agriculture
Child Nutrition Cluster:
School Breakfast Program 10.553 State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20508 $ - $ 334,338
National Schaol Lunch Program - Cash 10.555 State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20560 - 3,348,634
National Schaol Lunch Program - Commodities 10.555 State Depariment of Administrative Services N/A - 316,737
COVID-19 Natienal Schoal Lunch Program Emergency Operating
Cost Reimbursement 10.555 State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-23085 - 33,909
Total Child Nutrition Cluster $ 4033618
COVID-19 State Administrative Expense for Child Nutrition - Supply
Chain Assistance Grants 10,560 State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-23126 - 152,435
COVID-19 Pandemic EBT Administrative Costs 10.649 State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-29802 - 10,438
Tatal U.S. Department of Agriculture 4,196,491
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
CDBG - Entitlement Grants Cluster:
Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants 14.218 Direct Pragram N/A - 500,447
U.S. Department of Justice
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 State Office of Policy and Management 12060-0PM20350-21921 - 10,000
U.S. Department of Labor
COVID-19 Unemployment Insurance 17.225 State Department of Labar N/A - 22224
U.S. Department of Transportation
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster:
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 State Department of Transportation 12062-DOT57191-22108 50-209 - 131,954
Transit Services Cluster:
Enhanced Mobility for Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities 20.513 State Department of Transportation 12062-DOT57931-21361 - 56.798
Highway Safety Cluster:
National Priority Safety Programs 20.616 State Department of Transportation 12062-DOT57513-22600 - 25,781
Alcohol Open Container Requirements 20.607 State Department of Transportation 12062-DOT57513-22091 - 33.319
Total U.S. Department of Transportation 247 852
U.S. Department of the Treasury
Caronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 State Office of Policy and Management 12060-OPM20600-29561 - 35,000
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 Direct Program N/A - 6,389,526
Total U.S. Department of the Treasury 6,424,526
U.S. Endowment for the Arts
COVID-19 American Rescue Plan Act - National Leadership Grants 45312 Connecticut State Library 12060-CSL66011-29642 - 22,834
U.S. Depariment of Education
Title | - Grants to Local Educational Agencies State Department of Education 12060-SDEB4370-20679-2022 - 414,215
Title | - Grants to Local Educational Agencies State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20679-2021 - 62,755
Total Title | - Granls to Local Educational Agencies 84.010 476,970
(Continued)

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Federal Identifying Number
AL Name of Funder Assigned by Funder Provided ta Total
Federal Awarding Agency/Program or Cluster Title Number Pass Through Entity Pass Through Entity Subrecipients Expenditures
Special Education Cluster (IDEA):
Special Education - Grants to Stales (IDEA, Pari B) State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20977-2022 $ - $ 1,650,712
Special Education - Grants to States (IDEA, Part B) State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20977-2021 - 698.168
COVID-18 American Rescue Plan - Special Education - Grants to
States (IDEA, Part B) State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-23083 = 440,879
Total Special Education - Grants lo States (IDEA, Part B) 84.027 2,789,759
Special Education - Preschool Grants (IDEA Preschool) State Department of Education 12060-SDEG4370-20983-2022 - 21,086
Special Education - Preschool Grants (IDEA Preschool) State Department of Education 12060-SDEG4370-20983-2021 - 37,845
Total Special Education - Preschool Grants (IDEA Preschool) 84.173 58,931
COVID-19 American Rescue Plan Elementary and Secondary
School Emergency Relief Fund - Preschool Grants 84.173 State Depariment of Education 12060-SDEB4370-29684-2022 - 506
Total Special Education Cluster (IDEA) 5 2,849,196
Career and Technical Education - Basic Grants to States (Perkins I\V) 84.048 State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20742-2022 - 84 441
Twenty-First Century Community Leaming Centers 84.287 State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20863-2022 - 84,000
English Language Acquisition State Grants (Title Ill, Part A) State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20868-2022 - 389
English Language Acquisition State Grants (Title IIl, Part A) State Depariment of Education 12060-SDE64370-20868-2021 - 34,514
English Language Acquisition State Grants (Title Ill, Part A) State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20868-2020 - 2,302
Total English Language Acquisition State Grants (Title Ill, Part A) 84,365 37,205
Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-20858-2022 - 160,567
Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants State Depariment of Education 12060-SDE64370-20858-2021 - 47,985
Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants State Department of Education 12060-SDEGB4370-20858-2020 - 13,572
Total Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants 84367 222124
Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-22854-2022 - 23,516
Student Suppert and Academic Enrichment Grants State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-22854-2021 - 21,101
Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-22854-2020 - 585
Total Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants 84.424 45202
COVID-19 Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund 84,4250 State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-29570 - 647,324
COVID-19 Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund 84.425D State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-28571-2020 - 26,747
COVID-19 Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund -
Special Populations Recovery Grant 84.425D State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-29571-170002-2021 - 34124
COVID-19 American Rescue Plan Elementary and Secondary
School Emergency Relief Fund 84.425U State Department of Education 12060-SDE64370-29636-2021 - 1,030,862
Total COVID-19 Education Stabilization Fund 84.425 1,739,057
Total U.S. Department of Education 5,538,195
(Continued)

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Federal |dentifying Number
AL Name of Funder Assigned by Funder Provided to Total
Federal Awarding Agency/Program or Cluster Title Number Pass Through Entity Pass Through Entity Subrecipients Expenditures
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Drug-Free Communities Support Pragram Grant 93.276 Direct Program N/A s - $ 69,826
Epidemiology and Labaratory Capacity for Infectious Diseases 93.323 State Department of Public Health 12060-DPH48557-29582 - 163,222
Preventive Health and Health Services Block Grant Funded Solely
with Prevention and Public Health Funds (PPHF) 93.758 State Depariment of Public Health 120680-DPH48873-22664 - 16,299
Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 239,347
U.S. Department of Homeland Securi
State Department of Emergency Services and Homeland
Disaster Grants - Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared Disasters) 97.036 Security 12060-DPS32990-21891 - 254,782
State Depariment of Emergency Services and Homeland
Hazard Mitigation Grant 97.039 Security 12060-DPS32983-22519 - 88,739
State Department of Emergency Services and Homeland
BRIC: Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities 97.047 Security 12060-DPS32962-22756 - 15,218
Port Security Grant Program 97.056 Direct Program N/A - 35,309
Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security - 394,048
Total Federal Awards $ - $ 17,595,964
N/A - Not applicable or not available. (Concluded)

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Basis of presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (“Schedule”) includes the federal award
activity of the Town of Fairfield, Connecticut (“Town”) under programs of the federal government. The
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”).

Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Town, it is not intended to

and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, changes in fund balance, or cash flows

of the Town.

Summary of significant accounting policies

A. Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance wherein
certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

B. The Town has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.

Noncash federal awards

The Town received and expended $316,737 of USDA donated commodities under the National School Lunch
program.

Prior year findings and questioned costs

There were no prior year audit findings or questioned costs.

Fedededede
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Summary of Auditors' Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors' report issued: Unmodified opinion

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no
none

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes X reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? yes X no
Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no

none

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes X reported
Type of auditors' report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified opinion
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.516(a)? yes X no
Identification of major programs:

AL Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster
10.553,10.655 Child Nutrition Cluster
21.027 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds
84.425 COVID-19 Education Stabilization Fund

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B
programs: $ 750,000
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X yes no

Findings - Financial Statement Audit

None

Findings and Questioned Costs - Major Federal Award Programs Audit

None

10
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Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program;
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance; and
Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial
Assistance Required by the State Single Audit Act

Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Finance
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program
Opinion on Each Major State Program

We have audited the Town of Fairfield, Connecticut's (“Town”) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements identified as subject to audit in the Office of Policy and Management's Compliance Supplement
that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Town's major state programs for the year ended
June 30, 2022. The Town's major state programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the Town complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above
that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state programs for the year ended June 30, 2022.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major State Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAS’); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the State Single Audit Act (C.G.S.
Sections 4-230 to 4-236). Our responsibilities under those standards and the State Single Audit Act are further
described in the Auditors’' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Town and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major state program. Our
audit does not provide a legal determination of the Town’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred
to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance
~ Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,

statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Town's state
programs.

11
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Page 2
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the Town's
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing
Standards, and the State Single Audit Act will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of
not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error; as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable
user of the report on compliance about the Town's compliance with the requirements of each major state program
as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the State Single Audit
Act, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e |dentify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the Town's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

« Obtain an understanding of the Town's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the State Single Audit Act, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control over compliance. Accordingly,
no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control
over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.

12
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control
over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses
or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the State Single
Audit Act. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Required by the State Single Audit
Act

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements.
We issued our report thereon, dated February 1, 2023, which contained unmodified opinions on those financial
statements.

Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial
assistance is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the State Single Audit Act and is not
a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
financial statements and certain additional procedures including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of state financial
assistance is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

PKE O Gramp. Dais, LLP

Wethersfield, Connecticut
February 1, 2023

13



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

State Grantor/Pass Through Grantor/Program Title

State Grant Program
Core CT Number

Passed Through
to Subrecipients

Total
Expenditures

Department of Education:
Talent Development

School Based Diversion Initiative and "Second Chance Society"

Non Sheff Transportation

Child Nutrition State Matching Grant

Healthy Foods Initiative

Adult Education

Health Services

Bilingual Education English Learner Pilot Program
School Breakfast

Open Choice

Magnet Schools

Department of Social Services:
Medicaid

Department of Children and Families:
Youth Service Bureaus
Youth Service Bureau Enhancement

Department of Economic and Community Development:
Urban Action Grant

Department of Emergency Services and Public Protection:
Fire Training School
School Security Competitive Grant Program
Asset Forfeiture
Enhanced 911 Telecommunications Fund

Office of Policy and Management:

Property Tax Relief on Property of Totally Disabled Persons

Property Tax Relief for Veterans
Tiered PILOT

MRSA - Tiered PILOT

Local Capital Improvement Program
Municipal Grants-in-Aid

Connecticut State Library:
Connecticard Payments
Historic Documents Preservation Grants

Department of Public Health:
Local and District Departments of Health

Department of Transportation:
Town Aid Roads Grants Transportation Fund - Municipal
Town Aid Roads Grants Transportation Fund - STO

Total State Financial Assistance Before Exempt Programs

11000-SDE64370-12552
11000-SDE64370-12587
11000-SDE64370-12632
11000-SDE64370-16211
11000-SDE64370-16212
11000-SDEB4370-17030
11000-SDEB4370-17034
11000-SDEB4370-17042
11000-SDE64370-17046
11000-SDE64370-17053
11000-SDE64370-17057

11000-DSS60000-16020

11000-DCF91141-17052
11000-DCF91141-17107

13019-ECD46250-41240

11000-DPS32251-16065
12052-DPS32183-43546
12060-DPS32155-35142
12060-DPS32741-35190

11000-OPM20600-17011
11000-OPM20600-17024
11000-OPM20600-17111
12060-OPM20600-35691
12050-OPM20600-40254
12052-0PM20600-43587

11000-CSL66051-17010
12060-CSL66094-35150

11000-DPH48558-17009

12052-DOT57131-43455
13033-DOT57131-43459

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance.
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3 10,038

37,962
20,150
32,560
52,512
1,589
49,527
700
15,894
342,202
14,950

162,745

25,760
13,126

8,905

70,395
43,913
13,197
145,070

3,076
103,603
2,202,078
782,539
382,077
96,747

8,840
7,500

119,747

359,958

359,958

5,487,318

(Continued)



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance

State Grantor/Pass Through Grantor/Program Title

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

State Grant Program
Core CT Number

Passed through
to Subrecipients

Total
Expenditures

Exempt Programs:

Department of Education:
Education Cost Sharing
Special Education - Excess Cost - Student Based

Department of Administrative Services:
School Construction Projects
School Construction

Office of Policy and Management:
Municipal Stabilization Grant
Mashantucket Pequot/Mohegan Fund Grant

Total Exempt Programs

Total State Financial Assistance

11000-SDE64370-17041
11000-SDE64370-17047

13010-DAS27635-40901
13010-DAS27635-43744

11000-OPM20600-17104
12009-OPM20600-17005

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance.
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$§ 1185485
3,802,563

47,709
2,941,671

191,245
114,941

8,283,614

$ 13,770,932

(Concluded)



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Basis of presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance (“Schedule”) includes state grant
activity of the Town of Fairfield, Connecticut (“Town”), under programs of the State of Connecticut. Various
departments and agencies of the State of Connecticut have provided financial assistance through grants and
other authorizations in accordance with the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut. These financial
assistance programs fund several programs including general government, finance, public safety, public
works, health and welfare, culture and recreation and education.

Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Town, it is not intended to
and does not present the financial position, changes in fund balance, changes in net position, or cash flows
of the Town.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The accounting policies of the Town conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

The information in the Schedule is presented based upon regulations established by the State of Connecticut,
Office of Policy and Management.

Basis of Accounting

The expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. In
accordance with Section 4-236-22 of the Regulations to the State Single Audit Act, certain grants are not
dependent on expenditure activity and, accordingly, are considered to be expended in the fiscal year of
receipt. These grant program receipts are reflected in the expenditures column of the Schedule.

Loan program

In accordance with Section 4-236-23(a)(4)(F) of the Regulations to the State Single Audit Act, the notes to
the Schedule shall include loans and loan activities. The following is a summary of the various loan program
activity:

Department of Energy and Environmental Protection:

Clean Water Funds: (21014-OTT14230-40001)

Grant Issue Interest Original Balance Balance
ID Date Rate Amount July 1, 2021 Retired June 30, 2022

CWF 399C  06/30/03 2.0%  $29436399 $ 1893125 §$1746040 § 147,085

Prior year findings and questioned costs

There were no prior year audit findings or questioned costs.

dekkh Kk
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Summary of Auditors' Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors' report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

State Financial Assistance

Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Type of auditors' report issued on compliance for major
programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with Section 4-236-24 of the
Regulations to the State Single Audit Act?

Unmodified opinion

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

Unmodified opinion

yes

The following schedule reflects the major programs included in the audit:

State Grantor and Program

State Core-CT Number

X no
none
X reported
X no
X no
none
X reported
X no

Expenditures

Office of Policy and Management:
Tiered PILOT
MRSA - Tiered PILOT
Local Capital Improvement Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and
type B programs:

Financial Statement Findings
None

State Financial Assistance Findings and Questioned Costs

None
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12050-OPM20600-40254

$ 200,000
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Woton of FFairfield

Sullivan Independence Hall 725 Old Post Road Phone (203) 256-3065
Finance Department Fairfield, Connecticut 06824 Fax (203) 255-7380

February 1, 2023

To the Honorable First Selectwoman, Members of the Board of Selectmen, Members of the Board of Finance
and Citizens of the Town of Fairfield, Connecticut.

The Finance Department is pleased to present the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of the
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut (Town) for the year ended June 30, 2022. The report includes the
independent auditors’ report as required by Connecticut Statutes. The report is prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB).

Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data, and the completeness and fairness of the presentation,
including all disclosures, rests with the management of the Town. Management of the Town is responsible
for establishing and maintaining internal controls designed to ensure that the assets of the Town are
protected from loss, theft or misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for
the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The
internal controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are
met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the
benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the calculation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments
by management. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data are accurate in all material
respects and are reported in a manner that presents fairly the financial position and results of operations as
measured by the financial activity of its various funds. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to
gain an understanding of the Town's financial activities have been included.

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP, a public accounting firm fully licensed and qualified to perform audits of
municipalities within the State of Connecticut, has audited the financial statements. The goal of the
independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the Town of
Fairfield, Connecticut for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, are free from material misstatement. The
independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The independent auditor
concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion
that the Town of Fairfield's financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, are fairly presented
in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor's report is presented as the first component of the
financial section of this report.

The independent audit of the financial statements of the Town was part of a broader, federal and state
mandated “Single Audit” designed to meet the special needs of grantor agencies. The standards governing
Single Audit engagements require the independent auditor to report not only on the fair presentation of the
financial statements, but also on the audited government’s internal controls and compliance with legal
requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and legal requirements involving the administration
of federal awards. These reports are available in the Town'’s separately issued Single Audit Report.
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Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) require that management provide a narrative introduction,
overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion
and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should be read in
conjunction with it. The Town’s MD&A can be found immediately following the independent auditors’ report.

Profile of the Town of Fairfield

The Town of Fairfield covers approximately 31.3 square miles and is located on Long Island Sound immediately
west of the City of Bridgeport. Fairfield is bordered by Westport, Weston, Easton, Trumbull and Bridgeport.
Fairfield is primarily a residential community; however, there is significant commercial development scattered
throughout the Town. The Town is serviced by the Connecticut Turnpike (I-95), the Merritt Parkway (Conn. 15)
and the Metro North commuter railroad. Fairfield is the home to both Fairfield University and Sacred Heart
University. The 2021 population was 61,949. The Town was originally settled in 1639.

The Town currently operates under a Charter most recently revised in 2006. The Town functions under a Board
of Selectmen, Representative Town Meeting (RTM) form of government, adopted in 1947. The RTM is the final
budget-making authority and the legislative body of the Town. The RTM consists of 40 members, elected for 2
year terms from 10 voting districts. The Board of Selectmen consists of 3 members, chaired by the First
Selectwoman and is elected every 4 years. The First Selectwoman serves as the Chief Elected Official of the
Town. The Board of Finance consists of 9 members, elected for 6 year terms on a staggered basis. The financial
administrator of the Town is the Chief Fiscal Officer. The Chief Fiscal Officer oversees the Accounting, Internal
Audit and Budget functions as well as the Purchasing Department, the Assessor's Office, the Tax Collector's
Office, and the Information Technology Department. The Accounting Office is administered by the Controller
and accounts for all Town funds. The Controller is responsible for maintaining the financial records of the Town
and for the financial reporting of the Town’s activities and operations. The Assessor's Office develops the list of
property and related assessments for all real estate, personal property and motor vehicles for the purpose of
taxation. The Tax Collector's Office bills, collects, processes and deposits taxes, interest and fees on all taxable
property in the Town, as well as sanitary sewer use.

The annual budget serves as the foundation for the Town’s financial planning and control. The Town maintains
budgetary controls with the objectives to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual
appropriated budget, approved by the RTM or by referendum, if one is called. The Town maintains an
encumbrance accounting system as one technique of accomplishing budgetary controls. As demonstrated by
the budgetary schedules included in the financial section of this report, the Town continues to meet its
responsibility for sound financial management. In addition to budgetary required supplementary information
schedules, RSI-1A and 1B, RSI-1C describes the budget process used by the Town.

Local Economy and Major Initiatives

Possessing a highly educated workforce, two outstanding universities and an exceptional quality of life, Fairfield
remains a top choice for business, as evidenced by its recent designation by the non-profit Yankee Institute for
Public Policy as Connecticut's “most business friendly Town”. Fairfield's economy is strong and diverse and
includes roughly 3,000 businesses ranging from well-known companies such as R.C. Bigelow Tea to many
smaller local establishments and entrepreneurial start-ups.

The Town of Fairfield has recognized that in order to attract new business investment, it needs to provide a
living environment conducive to the successful recruitment and retention of top talent. To that end, the Town
has strived to develop an amenity rich, walkable and vibrant community that easily allows the integration of
work and personal life. Fairfield has also embraced the principles of smart growth and is actively seeking
opportunities to thoughtfully grow its commercial grand list, particularly around its transit hubs. Fairfield boasts
three Metro North rail stations, the newest of which--Fairfield Metro--features platforms that can accommodate
up to twelve rail cars, a sky bridge and at grade parking for over 1,300 vehicles.



Once home to heavy industry, the Fairfield Metro area continues to evolve, thanks in large part to updated
zoning regulations that encourage mixed use, transit oriented development, which permit residential uses with
greater density and relaxed parking requirements. Trademark Fairfield, a new 5-story, 140,000sf mixed use
development, with 101 apartments over ground floor retail, was the first such project, and opened in late 2017.
A larger, second phase development, which includes 160 apartments, with structured parking and additional
retail, was completed in 2019, In the summer of 2022, New Jersey based developer Accurate completed the
purchase acquisition of a 24-acre site adjacent to the Fairfield Metro Center train station and began construction
on the first phase of a mixed use, transit-oriented development project. Titled the “Crossings at Fairfield Metro”,
the project will include 357 residential units, a 118-key hotel, as well as 110,000 square feet of office and retail
space.

In Fairfield Center, work was recently completed on a 90-unit luxury residential development on the former
Knights of Columbus site, just steps from the Fairfield Train station. The building which houses the iconic
Fairfield Community Theatre was sold in 2019 to prominent local developer Kleban Properties and has been
renovated in partnership with Sacred Heart University into a premier cinema, performing arts and education
venue. Within the past few years, Fairfield has added three assisted living residential communities, the first of
which, Sturges Ridge by Benchmark Senior Living, will celebrate its five year anniversary this coming October.
Maplewood and Sunrise Senior Living have completed similar projects in the Southport and Stratfield sections
of Fairfield, respectively, providing much-needed housing options, particularly for seniors requiring specialized
care. Elsewhere, construction commenced on a new, 25,000 square foot medical office building adjacent to
the Merritt Parkway to be occupied by Hartford Health Care.

Fairfield is fortunate to be home to two nationally acclaimed, private universities, both of which have been
growing and making significant investments in their on-campus facilities. Fairfield University completed work
on a new $40 million building to house its Dolan School of Business, and opened this fall a new 4,000-seat
arena to replace the venerable Alumni Hall. Across Town, Sacred Heart University opened a new state-of-the-
art ice hockey arena on its West Campus, after completing work on three new residence halls, while
construction of an additional three-story 484-bed residence hall recently got underway.

Much of the past three years have been impacted by the global pandemic. The Town of Fairfield moved swiftly
to respond and to support its business community by providing information and guidance, fast-tracking its
permitting process to facilitate outdoor dining and launching a small business grant program. To date, the
Town's COVID Small Business Assistance Program has provided micro-grants to eighty-two small businesses
adversely impacted by the pandemic. The Fairfield Economic Development Commission (EDC) continues to
support these and other initiatives aimed at supporting Fairfield's existing business base, creating opportunities
for new business investment and expanding the commercial component of the Town's grand list.

Long-Term Financial Planning

The Town's long-term financial planning is focused on maintaining a moderate to low debt service to general
fund expenditure ratio and to increase its general fund balance to budget ratio.

In July 2022, the Town issued $32,460,000 of general obligation bonds and $8,090,000 of bond anticipation
notes. The majority of the bonds and the bond anticipation notes were used to fund the Town’s capital
replacement program for both Town and School projects; larger building maintenance and improvement
projects, emergency communications, engineering studies, a new athletic field, and replacement of town
maintenance equipment. Working with its Municipal Financial Advisor, the Town identified and acted on an
opportunity to refinance $13.5 million in debt, which resulted in principal and interest savings of
approximately $600,000.



Relevant Financial Policies

The Town's financial policies have been applied consistently with the prior year and had no notable current year
effect on the financial statements. For fiscal year 2022 the Town implemented GASB Statement No. 87 -
Leases. The Town's accounting policies for lease receivables and payables were updated accordingly. There
were no developments at the State level that impacted the current year financial statements.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting to the Town for its Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021. This was the nineteenth consecutive year that the Town has achieved this prestigious
award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the Town published an easily readable and
efficiently organized annual comprehensive financial report. This report satisfied both generally accepted
accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current annual
comprehensive financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program's requirements, and
we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the efficient and dedicated services of the
entire staff of the Finance Department. The consistent and diligent work by the department throughout the year
helps to make the development and completion of the ACFR a less daunting task. For that, each member has
my sincere appreciation. In particular, | would to thank Town Controller Caitlin Bosse for her commitment to
the detailed preparation required to successfully complete this report.

This annual comprehensive financial report reflects a commitment to the citizens of Fairfield, the Board of
Finance, the Board of Selectmen, and the RTM, and all concerned readers of this report, to provide information
in conformance with the highest standards of financial accountability.

Respectfully submitted,

| AAAALL };:/(«-’L"L/V"?/LM’/
!

Jared Schmitt

Chief Fiscal Officer
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ACCOUNTANTS AND ADVISORS

Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Finance
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Fairfield, Connecticut (“Town”), as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Town'’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town, as of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAS") and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govemment Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the Town, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town's ability to continue as a
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
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Page 2

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
e« Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Town's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e« Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period
of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that Management's
Discussion and Analysis, budgetary comparisons, and the pension and other post-employment benefit
schedules as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.



Board of Finance
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Page 3
Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Town's basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements and
schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial
statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements
as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual comprehensive financial report.
The other information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. |If, based on the work
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are
required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 1, 2023 on
our consideration of the Town'’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town'’s internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Gove;_nment Auditing Standards in considering the Town's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

PKE O Coamp, Danas, LLP

Wethersfield, Connecticut
February 1, 2023
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Sullivan Independence Hall 725 Old Post Road Phone (203) 256-3065
Finance Department Fairfield, Connecticut 06824 Fax (203) 255-7380

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

As management of the Town of Fairfield, Connecticut (“Town”), we offer readers of the Town's financial
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2022. The amounts presented are in thousands.

Financial highlights

The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the Town exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year as follows:

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
Change in net position $ 30,675 $ (32) $ 30,643
Total net position 290,027 1,670 291,697
Unrestricted net position (99,752) 1,102 (98,650)

The Town's total net position increased by $30,643. The increase is substantially due to the following:

Governmental fund activity:

positive operations of the general fund of $ 3524

positive operations of the capital projects fund of 15,515

Business-type fund activity:
negative operations of the parking authority of (32)

Conversion to accrual basis on Exhibit E:

capital outlay net of depreciation/amortization expense of 4,737
net principal debt activity of (8,966)
amortization of premium of 1,124
change in environmental liability of 4113
change in pension liability of (88,155)
change in OPEB liability of (8,389)
change in pension and OPEB deferred outflows/inflows of resources of 106,741
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
(Thousands)

. During the year the Town implemented GASB No. 87 - Leases. The implementation of this statement had
no impact on beginning equity, but had the following impact on Town's financial statements:

Business-Type

Activities and
Governmental Parking Authority General
Activities Fund Fund

Lease receivable $ 13,837 $ 231 $ 13,837
Deferred inflows of resources (13,837) (231) (13,837)
Capital assets:

Right-to-use leased assets 2,534 3,509 -
Long-term liabilities:

Lease liability (2,534) (3,509) -

5 The Town’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $119,145, an increase of
$28,018, in comparison with the prior year. The change is substantially due to the governmental activity
noted above and positive operations of the recreation fund of $292, WPCA fund of $2,104 and ARPA fund
of $3,285.

. At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $39,790 or 11.75%
of total general fund expenditures and other financing uses (budgetary basis). This represents a 0.41%
increase over the previous fiscal year's percent of 11.34%.

. The Town'’s total debt increased by $6,516 (3.47%) during the current fiscal year as a result of the current
year issuance of general obligation bonds of $18,795 and permanently financed bond anticipation notes
of $8,189 offset by scheduled principal payments of $20,955 made during the year.

. Net capital assets increased by $4,325 during the current fiscal year. The increase is attributable to capital
asset additions for construction in progress, land improvements, vehicles and machinery and equipment
in excess of disposals and depreciation expense.

Overview of the basic financial statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Town of Fairfield’s basic financial
statements. The Town’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial
statements, 2) fund financial statements and 3) notes to financial statements. This report also contains other
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the Town’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the Town's assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the net difference reported as net position. Over time, increases
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town is
improving or deteriorating.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
(Thousands)

The statement of activities presents information showing how the Town's net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and
earned but unused vacation leave).

The government-wide financial statements present the functions of the Town that are principally supported by
taxes, intergovernmental revenues and various charges for services (governmental activities). The governmental
activities of the Town include general government, finance, public safety, public works, health and welfare,
culture and recreation, education and interest expense. The business-type activities of the Town include the
Parking Authority.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Town uses fund accounting to
ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the Town can
be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.
Such information may be useful in evaluating the Town's near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it
is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better
understand the long-term impact of the Town’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund
balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances
provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

For governmental funds information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for the General Fund and
Capital Projects Fund, both of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds
are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining schedules elsewhere in this report.

Proprietary funds. The Town maintains two proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the functions
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The Town uses an enterprise
fund to report the activities of the Parking Authority.

Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the
Town's various functions. The Town uses an internal service fund to account for its self-insured medical benefits
and various other self-insured risks.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in
more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the Parking Authority.
The Parking Authority is considered a major fund.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on Exhibits F; G and H of this report.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
(Thousands)

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the
resources of those funds are not available to support the Town's own programs. The accounting used for
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

Notes to financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding
of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required supplementary information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes,
this report also presents certain required supplementary information as follows:

e A budgetary comparison schedule for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.

» Schedules to demonstrate the Town’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension and OPEB
benefits.

Other information

The combining schedules referred to earlier in connection with other governmental funds are presented
immediately following the required supplementary information.

Government-wide financial analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a Town'’s financial position. In the
case of the Town, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources by $291,697 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.

By far the largest portion of the Town'’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings,
machinery, equipment and infrastructure), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still
outstanding. The Town uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are
not available for future spending. Although the Town'’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related
debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since
the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

The analysis below focuses on the net position and changes in net position. Unrestricted net position at year-
end totaled ($98,650). This is an increase of $ 10,803 from the prior year.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

(Thousands)

Current and other assets
Capital assets (net)

Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources

Long-term liabilities outstanding
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

Summary Statement of Net Position

June 30
(Thousands)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Totals
(as restated) (as restated) (as restated)
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$ 208,073 $ 174729 $ 1,926 $ 1271 $ 209,999 $ 176,000
544 346 537,218 3,898 801 548,244 538,019
752419 711,947 5,824 2,072 758,243 714,019
66,449 24 111 - - 66,449 24 111
419,260 311,717 3,059 - 422 319 311,717
70,859 75,373 326 65 71,185 75,438
490,119 387,090 3,385 65 493,504 387,155
38,722 89,616 769 305 39,491 89,921
338,652 331,317 568 801 339,220 332,118
51,127 38,389 - - 51,127 38,389
(99,752) (110,354) 1,102 901 (98,650) (109,453)
$ 290,027 $ 259,352 $ 1,670 $ 1702 § 291697 $ 261,054

A portion of the Town’s net position of $51,127 represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on

how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position is ($98,650).

The Town’s net position increased by $30,643 during the current fiscal year. The increase is due the different
basis of accounting (accrual versus modified accrual) for pension and OPEB, capital assets and long-term debt.

During the fiscal year, there was a net increase in capital assets of $4,325 primarily due to current year additions
for various school related renovations and paving projects offset by the scheduled depreciation expense. In
addition, there was an increase in long-term debt of 6,516 during the current fiscal year as a result of the current
year issuance of general obligation bonds of $18,795 and permanently financed bond anticipation notes of
$8,189 offset by scheduled principal payments of $20,955 made during the year. There was also a decrease in
the estimated environmental liability of $4,113.

The Town has committed fund balance in the capital project fund for the total estimated environmental liability.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
(Thousands)

Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a Town's financial position. The Town’s net position
increased $30,643 as detailed below.

Statement of Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30

(Thousands)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Totals
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Rewenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for senices $ 34870 $ 34940 $ 951 $ 782 $ 35821 § 35702
Operating grants and contributions 47,460 42,377 - - 47,460 42,377
Capital grants and contributions 9,023 17,938 - - 9,023 17,938
General revenues:
Property taxes 311,079 295,831 - - 311,079 295,831
Grants and contributions not

restricted to specific programs 3,368 2,276 - - 3,368 2,276
Income from investments (1,716) 3,334 13 - (1,703) 3,334
Other 622 261 - - 622 261
Total revenues 404,706 396,957 964 762 405,670 397,719

Expenses:
General government 18,741 13,167 - - 18,741 13,167
Finance 6,611 6,152 - 5 6,611 6,152
Public safety 50,396 46,121 - - 50,396 46,121
Public works 27,366 44192 - - 27,366 44 192
Health and welfare 11,241 9,662 - - 11,241 9,662
Culture and recreation 13,151 11,650 - - 13,151 11,650
Education 242 283 232,066 - - 242 283 232,066
Interest 4,242 3,530 - - 4,242 3,530
Parking authority - - 996 962 996 962
Total expenses 374,031 366,540 996 962 375,027 367,502
Change in net position 30,675 30,417 (32) (200) 30,643 30,217
Net position - July 1 (as restated) 259,352 228,935 1,702 1,902 261,054 230,837
Net position - June 30 $ 290,027 $ 259,352 $ 1,670 $ 1,702  § 291,697  $261,054

Key elements of the increase are as follows:
Governmental activities

* Property tax revenue increased $15,248 driven by an increase in the levy needed to support the budget.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
(Thousands)

e Operating grants and contributions increased by $5,083 during the year, primarily due to COVID-19
related grants, including ARPA and ESSER.

e Capital grants and contributions decreased by $8,915 primarily due to a decrease in the amount of ARPA
grants received and the type of projects approved.

e Public safety expenses increased by $4,275 substantially due to an increase in pension and OPEB
expense from the prior year.

¢ Public works expenses decreased by $16,826 substantially due to the environmental liability recorded in
the previous year. In addition, the liability decreased by $4,113 during the year.

« Education expenses increased by $10,217 substantially due to the increase in the education budget and
actual of $8,108.

Business-type activities

e The parking authority had a decrease of net position of $32. This is $168 more than prior year as a result
of higher charges of $189 as use of parking lots have begun to increase after the COVID-19 pandemic.

Financial analysis of the Town’s funds

As noted earlier, the Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the Town's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
inflows, outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the Town's
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a Town’s net
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of the end of the current fiscal year, the Town's governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance
of $119,145, an increase of $28,018 in comparison with the prior year.

Nonspendable $ 120
Restricted 51,007
Committed 28,281
Assigned 4,986
Unassigned 34,751
Total $ 119,145

General fund

The general fund is the operating fund of the Town. At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund
balance of the general fund was $39,790, while total fund balance was $44 324, Total fund balance increased
$3,524 as a result of operations as discussed below in budgetary highlights.

As a measure of the general fund's liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total
fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 11.75% of total general fund
budgetary basis expenditures and other financing uses, while total fund balance represents 13.09% of that same
amount, as compared to 11.34% and 12.59% for the prior year.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

(Thousands)

General fund budgetary highlights

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Rewenues:
Property taxes

" Intergovernmental
Charges for senices
Income from investments
Net change in fair value
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures:
Current

General government
Finance
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation

Education
Debt senice

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Cancellation of prior year encumbrances
Transfers in
Transfers out

Net other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - July 1, 2021

Fund balance - June 30, 2022

General Fund

Budget and Actual
For The Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands )
Variance
Additional with
Original Appropriations Final Final
Budget and Transfers Budget Actual Budget
$ 308,446 5 7,500 $ 315,946 $ 316,545 $ 599
4,937 - 4,937 6,239 1,302
17,390 900 18,290 18,582 292
1,685 - 1,685 615 (1,070)
(330) - (330) (979) (649)
94 . 94 315 221
332,222 8,400 340,622 341,317 695
43,525 (1,571) 41,954 41,722 232
5,151 (15) 5,136 4,702 434
34,971 496 35,467 35,111 356
15,377 (2,400) 12,977 12,974 3
8,116 (138) 7,978 7,685 293
7,475 2,203 9,678 9,431 247
192,084 - 192,084 191,545 539
24,797 145 24,942 24,860 82
331,496 (1,280) 330,216 328,030 2,186
726 9,680 10,406 13,287 2,881
" . & 561 561
120 - 120 120 -
(846) (9,680) (10,526) (10,528) -
(726) (9,680) (10,406) (9,845) 561
s . $ - $ - 3,442 § 3442
34,690
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
(Thousands)

Significant revenue final budgetary variances were as follows:

* Property taxes revenue was more than the amount budgeted by $8,099 before the additional appropriation
mostly due to a large, long delinguent taxpayer's payment and due to conservative budgeting due to the
pandemic. The variance after the additional appropriation was $599.

* Intergovernmental revenue was more than the amount budgeted by $1,302 primarily due to unbudgeted
COVID-19 pandemic related grants received and conservative budgeting based upon the lack of stability in
prior year's State funding.

* Income from investments and net change in fair value was less than the amount budgeted by $1,719 primarily
due to the increasing interest rates impact on the Town’'s investments in government bonds. The Town
intends to hold the bonds to maturity.

Significant expenditure budgetary variances, transfers and additional appropriations were as follows:

» Public works administration budget was reduced by $2,267 due to the separation of the parks
departments as a separate cost center for $1,981 and for a transfer out to the capital fund.

* Parks department cost center was separated from public works department as noted above for $1,981.

e Transfers out to the capital projects fund was increased by $8,400 funded by additional revenues of
$7,500 from property taxes and $900 for charges for services. The purpose of the transfer was to fund
remediation liability costs.

Capital projects fund

Capital Projects Fund intergovernmental revenues totaled $3,133 during the year, of which $2,989 were school
construction grants. Expenditures totaled $24,209 consisting primarily of school expansion and renovation and
the water treatment plant hardening and micro grid project expenditures. The fund balance increased from
$3,092 to $18,607 as a result of the timing for expenditures and permanent financing.

Proprietary funds.
The Town's proprietary funds provide the same information found in the government-wide financial statements,
but in more detail. The Town has two proprietary funds: Parking Authority and the Internal Service Fund which

is used for workers’ compensation, general liability and various types of medical related claims.

Parking authority

Net position of the parking authority at year end amounted to $1,670, a decrease of $32 as compared to a $200
decrease in the prior year. The increase is due to higher parking fee revenues of $189 as a result of recovery
from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Internal service fund

Unrestricted net position of the Internal Service Fund at the end of the year amounted to $6,032, an increase of
$66 from the prior year balance of $5,966. Operations were essentially break even for the year.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
(Thousands)

Capital assets and debt administration

Capital assets. The Town’s investment in capital assets amounts to $548,244 (net of accumulated
depreciation/amortization). This investment in capital assets includes land, construction in progress, land
improvements, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, vehicles, intangible assets and
infrastructure. The netincrease in the Town's net capital assets for the current fiscal year was $4,325 or 0.80%,
mostly due to current year additions for various school related renovations offset by depreciation/amortization
expense.

Capital Assets - Net

June 30
(thousands)
Governmental Activities  Business-Type Activities Totals
(as restated) (as restated) (as restated)
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Land $§ 3330 § 3b5248 § - $ - § 33390 § 35248
Construction in progress 85,612 68,723 - - 85,612 68,723
Land improvements 4524 4,524 504 209 5,028 4733
Right-to-use land improvements 2,122 2,358 3,176 3,509 5,298 5,867
Buildings and improvements 346,051 356,975 167 549 346,218 357,524
Vehicles 10,278 8,882 - - 10,278 8,882
Machinery and equipment 11,443 11,272 51 43 11494 11,315
Right-to-use machinery and equipment 13 33 - - 13 33
Intangible assets 68 124 - - 68 124
Infrastructure 50,845 51.470 - . 50,845 51,470
Total § 544348 § 539609 § 3898 5 4310 $ 548244 § 543919

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:

Construction in progress additions of:

Mill Hill Elementary School renovation $ 7,572
Early Childhood Care Center 3,003
Water treatment plant hardening project 1,582
Roger Ludlowe and Sherman McKinley roof repairs 1,390
WPCA Easton tank pumps construction 1,010

Land improvements addition:
Fairfield Ludlowe High School tennis court 400

Buildings addition from construction in progress of:

Quincy Building 303
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

(Thousands)

Capital assets (continued)

Vehicles purchases of:

Police vehicles
Dump truck
Dump pick-up truck

Machinery and equipment of:
Generator

$ 283
119

790

Additional information on the Town's capital assets can be found in Note lll. D.

Long-term debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town's long-term debt totaled $194,500. The debt is

backed by the full faith and credit of the Town.

Long-Term Debt

2022

June 30

(Thousands)
General obligation bonds $ 183,276
Bond anticipation notes*
Equipment financing notes
Clean water notes payable
Leases
Total $ 194,500

* Permanently financed

_2021
(as restated)

$ 173,702
9,600

254

1,894
2,534

$ 187,984

The Town’s total debt increased by $6,516 (3.47%) during the current fiscal year as a result of the current year
issuance of general obligation bonds of $18,795 and permanently financed bond anticipation notes of $8,189
offset by scheduled principal payments and refunded bonds of $20,955 made during the year.

The Town’s short-term bond anticipation notes decreased from $7,800 to $5,666 during the year based upon
the cash flow needs and the subsequent permanent financing for various Town and school projects.

Moody's, Standard and Poor’s and Fitch Ratings continue to express the highest levels of confidence in the
Town, its management and its ability to manage an increasing debt burden by all awarding their highest AAA

rating to the Town.

State Statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 7 times total prior
year tax collections including interest and lien fees. The current debt limitation for the Town is $2,097,130, which
is significantly in excess of the Town’s outstanding general obligation debt.

Additional information on the Town's long-term debt can be found in Note III. G.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
(Thousands)

Economic factors and next year’s budgets and rates

* At June 2022, the unemployment rate for the Town was 3.6% as compared to the State's average
unemployment rate of 4.1% and a national unemployment rate of 3.8%. This compares to 5.4% for the prior
year. The decreases are due to the job market recovery subsequent to the coronavirus pandemic.

» Inflationary trends in the region compare favorably to national indices.

» Public school population experienced a slight decrease for the 11th consecutive year.

All of these factors were considered in preparing the Town's budget for the 2023 fiscal year.

Requests for information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town's finances for all those with an interest
in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests
for additional financial information should be addressed to the Finance Department, Town of Fairfield,
Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut 06824.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash

Investments

Receivables (net):
Property taxes
Assessments and use
Intergovernmental
Leases
Loan
Accounts

Other

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Temporarily restricted:
Cash
Investments
Permanently restricted:
Investments

Total restricted assets

Receivables (net):
Property taxes
Assessments and use
Loan
Leases

Total receivables (net)

Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation/amortization):
Land
Construction in progress
Land improvements
Right-to-use land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Machinery and equipment
Right-to-use machinery and equipment
Intangible assets
Infrastructure

Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation/amortization)

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Pension related
OPEB related

Total deferred outflows of resources

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Governmental

$ 13691
149,834

3,908
411
2,936
656
204
1,345
34

173,019

266
13,718

13,984

6,093
743
1,829

12,605
21,070

33,390
85,612
4,524
2,122
346,051
10,278
11,443
13

68

50,845
544,346

579,400
752,419

54,784

11,665
66,449

Business-
type

$ 1495
230

123
123

504
3,176
167

51

3,898
4,029

5,824

Exhibit A
(10f2)

Total

$ 15186
150,064

3,908
411
2,936
713
204
1,356
36

174,814

274
13,718

13,992

6,093
743
1,629

12,728
21,193

33,390
85,612
5,028
5,298
346,218
10,278
11,494
13

68

50,845
548,244

583,429
758,243

54,784

11,665
66,449

(Continued)



Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Retainage payable

Accrued payroll and related liabilities

Accrued interest payable
Unearned revenue
Security deposits

Bond anticipation notes
Other

Bonds and notes payable
Leases payable
Compensated absences
Heart and hypertension
Environmental obligation
Claims payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Performance bonds
Bonds, notes and related liabilities
Leases payable
Compensated absences
Heart and hypertension
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Environmental liability
Claims payable

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Advance property tax collections
Advance permit fees collections
Deferred charge on refunding
Pension related

OPEB related

Leases related

Total deferred inflows of resources

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:

Endowments:
Nonexpendable
Expendable

Construction projects

Care of animals

Public works

Community development housing

ARPA funded projects

Cafeteria operations

Unrestricted

Total net position

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Governmental
Activities

$ 12556
703
15,329
3,236
1,370

5,666
977
18,887
204
1,126
805
5,223
4,777

70,859

5,487
180,650
2212
4,502
2614
101,243
104,379
9,701
8,472

419,260
490,119

3,730
1,641
8,715
11,929
12,707

38,722

338,652

120
8,497
7.900

763

14,273
1,915
15,700
1,959

(99,752)
$ 290,027

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-type
Activities

3.059
3,385

Exhibit A
(20f2)

Total

$ 12,594
703
15,333
3,236
1,370
8
5,666
977
18,887
475
1,131
805
5223
4777

71,185

5,487
180,650
5,271
4,502
2,614
101,243
104,379
9,701
8,472

422,319

493,504

3,730
594
1,641
8,715
11,929

12,882

39,491

339,220

120
8,497
7,900

763

14,273
1,915
15,700
1,959

(98,650)
$ 291,697

(Concluded)



Functions/Programs

Governmental activities:
General government
Finance
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Education
Interest

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:
Parking authority

Total

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Program Revenues
_=10g

Operating

Charges for Grants and

Expenses Services Contributions
s 18741 $ 5310 $ 380
6.611 - -
50,396 4,002 1,139
27,366 13,994 1,157
11,241 605 1,479
13,151 7,944 337
242,283 3,015 42968
4.242 - -
374,031 34,870 47,460
996 951 -

$ 375,027 $ 35,821 $ 47,460

General revenues:
Property taxes
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
Income from investments
Other

Total general revenues
Change in net position

Net position - July 1, 2021 (as restated)
Net position - June 30, 2022

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Capital
Grants and
Contributions
$ 1,890
2,000
5,133
9,023
$ 9,023

Net Revenues (Expenses) and
Change in Net Position

Exhibit B

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ (11,161) $ - $ (11,161)
(6,611) - (6,611)
(43,255) - (43,255)
(7,082) - (7,082)
(9,157) - (9,157)
(4,870) - (4,870)
(196,300) - (196,300)
(4,242) - (4,242)
(282,678) - (282,678)

- (45) (45)

$ (282,678) $ (45) $ (282,723)
311,079 - 311,079
3,368 - 3,368
(1,716) 13 (1,703)
622 - 622
313,353 13 313,366
30,675 (32) 30,643
259,352 1,702 261,054

_8 200027

$ 1,670

$ 291,697



Assets

Cash
Investments
Restricted investments
Receivables (net)
Property taxes
Assessments and use fees
Intergovernmental
Leases
Loan
Accounts
Due from other funds
Other

Total Assets
Liabilities

Accounts payable
Retainage payable
Accrued payroll

Due to other funds
Unearned revenue
Bond anticipation notes
Performance bonds
Other

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable revenue
Property taxes
Advance property tax collections

Sewer assessment and use charges

Leases related

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
Fund Balances

Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances

S 97,283

$ 97283

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2022

(Thousands)

Capital

General Projects

$ 9724 3 -
54,131 28,544
5487 :

7.297

382 615
13,261 ’

309 -
6,692 -

$ 6990 $ 2551
- 703
15,219 -
426 3,132
126 "
. 4,166
5,487 -
s o BTF —_ =
29,225 10,552
7,297
3,730
12,707 -
23,734 -
. 7,900
4,534 15,746
39,790 (5,039)
44,324 18,607

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$ 29,159

$ 29159

Other
Governmental
Funds

$ 47233
47,490
8,351

943
1.939

1,868
628

426

34

$ 65912

_

3 2,577

110
3,324
1,244
1,500

8,755

943

943

120
43,107
8,001
4,986

56,214

$ 65912

Exhibit C
(10f2)

Total
Governmental
Funds

$§ 13957
130,165
13,838

7,297
943
2,936
13,261
1,868
937
7,118
34

$ 192,354

—_— .

$ 12118
703

15,329
6,882
1,370
5,666

5487

977

48,532

7297
3,730
943
12,707

24,677

120
51,007
28,281

4,986
34,751

119,145

3 192354
(Continued)



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Reconciliation of Fund Balance
to Net Position of Governmental Activities
June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position (Exhibit A)
are different from the governmental funds balance sheet due to:

Total fund balances (Exhibit C, Page 1)

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds:
Beginning capital assets (net)

Capital asset additions (net of construction in progress)
Depreciation/amortization expense

Total

Other long-term assets and deferred outflows of resources are not available resources and, therefore,

are not reported in the funds:

Property tax and sewer assessment interest and lien accrual
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Deferred outflows related to pension

Deferred outflows related to OPEB

Total

¥
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and,
therefore, are unavailable in the funds:

Property tax and sewer assessment receivable - accrual basis change

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of
various self-insured risk premiums to benefiting activities

The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental activities in the
statement of net position

Some liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, including bonds payable, are not
due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Bonds and notes payable

Premium

Leases payable

Compensated absences

Heart and hypertension

Net pension liability

Net OPEB liability

Environmental liability

Accrued interest payable

Deferred charges on refunding

Deferred inflows of resources related to pension
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB

Total

Net Position (Exhibit A)

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$ 119,145

539,609
21,551
(16,814)

544,346

4,208
(1,326)
54,784
11,665

69,331

8,240

6,032

(192,084)
(7,453)
(2,416)
(5.628)
(3,419)

(101,243)

(104,379)

(14,924)
(3,236)
(1,641)
(8,715)

(11,929)

(457,067)

8290027
(Concluded)



Revenues:
Property taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services

Income from investments

Net change in fair value
Contributions
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures:

Current:
General government
Finance
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Education

Capital outlay

Debt service

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):

Issuance of debt
Premium
Transfers in
Transfers out

Net other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - July 1, 2021
Fund balances - June 30, 2022

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Governmental Funds

General

$316,545
33,680
18,582
615
(979)

315

368,758

41,669
4,582
35,072
12,621
7,676
9,446
218,902

24,860

364,828

13,930

120

(10,526)

(10,406)

3,524

40,800
$ 44324

28

Capital
Projects

24,209

24,209
(20,769)

26,984

9,300

36,284
15,515
3,092

$ 18,607

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Other
Governmental
Funds

22,061

16,657
209

(1,561)
977

38,343

3,938

3,070
5,606
1,290
2,078
15,823
372
1,230

33,407
4,936

487
2,450
1,346

(240)

4,043
8,979
47,235

$ 56,214

Exhibit D

Total
Governmental
Funds

$ 316,545
58,874
35,239

824
(2,540)

977

622

410,541

45,607
4,582
38,142
18,227
8,966
11,524
234,725
24,581
26,090

412,444
(1,903)

27,471

2,450

10,766
(10,766)

29,921
28,018
91,127
$ 119145



Exhibit E

(1 of 2)
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)
Amounts reported in the statement of activities (Exhibit B) are different due to:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (Exhibit D) $ 28,018
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities the cost
of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation/amortization expense
Capital outlay 21,551
Depreciation/amortization expense (16,814)
Total ; 4,737
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported
as revenues in the funds and revenues recognized in the fund financial statements are not recognized in the
statement of activities:
Change in property tax and sewer assessment receivable - accrual basis change (3,596)
Change in property tax and sewer assessment interest and lien revenue (2,340)
Total (5,936)
The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to governmental funds,
while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental
funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect
of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and
amortized in the statement of activities. The details of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items are as follows:
Debt issued or incurred
Bonds, notes and bond anticipation notes (permanently financed) (27,356)
Premium (2,450)
Leases (115)
Principal repayments
General obligation bonds and notes 20,722
Leases 233
Total (8.966)
(Continued)

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds:

Change in:
Compensated absences
Heart and hypertension
Pension liability
OPERB liability
Environmental liability
Other
Accrued interest payable

Amortization of:
Premium
Deferred charge on refunding
Deferred outflows related to pension
Deferred inflows related to pension
Deferred outflows related to OPEB
Deferred inflows related to OPEB

Total

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of
various self-insured risk premiums to benefiting activities

Change in net position (Exhibit B)

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit E
(2 0f 2)

$  (789)
(310)
(88,155)
(8,389)
4113
(1,581)
(58)

1,124
60
37,562
56,354
4,776
8,049

12,756

66
$ 30,675

—_—

(Concluded)



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Current assets:
Cash
Investments
Receivables (net):
Leases
Accounts
Other

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Temporarily restricted assets:
Cash
Receivables:
Leases

Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation/amortization):
Land improvements
Right-to-use land improvement
Buildings and improvements
Equipment

Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation/amortization)

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Security deposits
Lease payable

Compensated absences
Claims payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liability:
Lease payable
Claims payable

Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Advance permit fees collections
Leases related

Total deferred inflows of resources
Net Position

Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

Total net position

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Enterprise
Fund
Parking

Authority

$ 1,495
230

57

(N
2

1,795

326

3,059
3385

594
175

769

568
1,102

$ 1670

Exhibit F

Internal
Service
Fund

$ -
19,549

170

19,719

19,719

—_—

438

4777
5215

8,472

13,687

6032
$ 6,032



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Proprietary Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Operating revenues:
Charges for services
Leases
Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits

Fiscal and operational services

Insurance

Police and contracted services

Utilities

Processing and other fees
Repairs and maintenance
Supplies

Depreciation

Claims incurred
Administration

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Income from investments
Interest expense

Change in net position

Total net position - July 1, 2021

Total net position - June 30, 2022

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Thousands)

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Enterprise
Fund
Parking

Authority

$ 845
88
18

951

161
84
75
84
32
40
17

3

430

926

Exhibit G

Internal
Service
Fund

$15,332

15,332

e

66
5,966

3 6,032



Exhibit H
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Thousands)
Enterprise
_ Fund Internal
Parking Service
—Authority — Fund
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities:
Receipts from customers $ 1,187 $ -
Receipts from lease payments 51 -
Receipts for charges for services G 15,332
Cash paid to suppliers (265) -
Cash paid to employees (239) -
Cash paid for benefits and claims - (13,131)
Cash paid for administration - (2,0869)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities 734 132
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities:
Sale (purchase) of investments (14) (132)
Income from investments 13 -
Net cash from (used in) investing activities (1) 132
Cash flows from (used in) capital and related financing activities:
Purchase of capital assets (18) -
Principal payments - leases (179) -
Interest payments - leases (70) -
Net cash from (used in) capital and related financing activities 267 NIRRTV
Net increase (decrease) in cash 466 =
Cash - July 1, 2021 (including restricted cash) 1,037 -
Cash - June 30, 2022 (including restricted cash) $ 1,503 $ -
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
from (used in) operating activities
Operating income (loss) $ 25 $ 66
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
from (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 430 -
(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable 4 (1)
Lease receivable 51 -
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (10) (554)
Security deposits 1 -
Deferred inflows - advance collections - permit fees 289 -
Deferred inflows - leases related (56) -
Claims payable - 621
Net cash from (used in) operating activities $ 734 $ 132

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Investments:
Mutual funds:
Equity
Money market
Bond
Fixed income
Real estate funds
Private equity funds

Total investments

Receivables:
Interest and dividends

Total assets

Accounts payable
Due to general fund
Claims payable

Total liabilities

Restricted for:
Pension benefits
OPEB benefits

Total net position

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Assets

Liabilities

Net Position

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Pension
and OPEB
Trust
Funds

$ 258,894

4973
39,804
113,819
32,938

36,672

487,100

33

487,133

190
236
358

784

416,963
69,386

$ 486,349



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Additions:
Contributions:
Employer
Plan members
Total contributions
Investment income (loss):
Change in fair value of investments
Recoveries
Interest and dividends
Total investment income (loss)
Less investment expenses
Net investment income (loss)
Total additions
Deductions:
Benefits
Recovery expenses
Administration
Total deductions
Change in net position
Net position - July 1, 2021

Net position - June 30, 2022

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Exhibit J

Pension
and OPEB
Trust
__Funds

$ 21470
2,398

———

23,868

(67,351)
7,560
__ 10,256

(49,535)

132

(49,667)
(25,799)

33,542
1,946
111

35,599
(61,398)

047,747

—_—

$ 486,349



Exhibit K
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

History and organization

The Town of Fairfield, Connecticut ("Town") operates under a Representative Town Meeting ("RTM"), Board of
Selectmen, Board of Finance form of government and provides the following public services as authorized by
its charter: public safety (police and fire), public works, health and social services, culture and recreation,
education and general administrative services.

The accompanying financial statements present the Town and its component units, entities for which the Town is
considered to be financially accountable. The Town is financially accountable for the pension and OPEB trust
funds and therefore, they are considered fiduciary component units. The financial statements of the fiduciary
component units are reported as pension and OPEB trust funds in the fiduciary fund financial statements. The
pension and OPEB trust funds do not issue separate financial statements.

. Summary of significant accounting policies
A. Government-wide and fund financial statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the Town. Governmental activities are
normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who
purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental, proprietary and fiduciary funds, even
though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual
governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

B. Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial
statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for
which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures generally
are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, pension and OPEB benefits,
certain other employee benefits, and certain other long-term liabilities are recorded only when payment is
due. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
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Exhibit K
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

B. Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation (continued)

Property taxes, expenditure reimbursement type grants, certain intergovernmental revenues, charges for
services, transfers and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. For
reimbursement grants, the Town considers revenues, including property taxes, to be available if they are
collected within one year of the end of the current fiscal period. Only the portion of special assessments
receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the
current period. All other revenue items, including property taxes, are considered to be measurable and
available only when cash is received by the Town.

The Town reports the following major governmental funds:

The government's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial
General Fund resources of the general government, except those required to be
accounted for in another fund.

Accounts for the financial resources to be used for major capital asset
Capital Projects Fund| |construction and/or purchases. The types of revenues recorded in this
fund are grant revenue, contributions and other fees.

The Town reports the following major proprietary fund:

Parking Authority Accounts for the activities of the Town train station parking operations.

Additionally, the Town reports the following fund types:

Accounts for and reports the proceeds of specific revenue resources that

Special Reven ; : i
PasialisSvente are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes other

Fs than debt.
Debt Service Fund Accounts for and reports resources and expenditures that are assigned
for the repayment of debt.
Reports resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only
Permanent Funds earnings, not principal, may be used for purposes that support the Town's

rograms.
Accounts for risk financing activities for medical insurance benefits and
other self-insured risks.

Accounts for the activities of the Town Employees' Retirement Plan and
Pension Trust Funds | |the Police and Fire Retirement Plan, which accumulate resources for
pension benefit payments to qualified employees.

Internal Service Fund

Other Post-
Employment Benefit
("OPEB") Trust
Funds

Accounts for the activities of the Town and Police and Fire OPEB Plan,
which accumulate resources for retiree medical and life insurance
benefits.
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Exhibit K
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

B. Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation (continued)

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. Exceptions are charges between certain Town functions because the elimination of these
charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions
concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods,
services or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions and 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
Town's enterprise and internal service fund are charges for parking permits and fees and charges
benefiting various types of self-insurance. Operating expenses for the enterprise fund and internal service
fund include salaries, benefits, repairs and maintenance, the cost of insurance, administrative expenses
and depreciation/amortization on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition
are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

For purposes of measuring the net pension and OPEB liabilities, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB and pension and OPEB expense,
information about the fiduciary net position and additions to/deductions from fiduciary net position of the
Town of Fairfield pension and OPEB plans and the Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System
(“TRS") and the Connecticut State Retiree Health Insurance Plan (“RHIP") have been determined on the
same basis as they are reported by the Town of Fairfield pension and OPEB plans, TRS, and RHIP. For
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with benefit terms.

C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity

1. Cash and investments
a. Cash

The Town considers cash as cash on hand and demand deposits. For cash flow purposes the
Town considers as cash equivalents money market accounts and short-term investments with
original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

b. Investments

In general, State of Connecticut Statutes allow the Town to invest in obligations of the United
States of America or United States government sponsored corporations, in shares or other
interests in any custodial arrangement, pool, or no-load, open-end management type investment
company or investment trust (as defined), in obligations of any state or political subdivision rated
within the top two rating categories of any nationally recognized rating service, or in obligations of
the State of Connecticut or political subdivision rated within the top three rating categories of any
nationally recognized rating service. For the capital nonrecurring fund, not more than 31.00% can
be invested in equity securities. Investment income for pooled investments is recorded in the
general fund. For all investments investment income is recorded in the fund in which it was
earned.
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C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity (continued)

State Treasurer's Short-Term Investment Fund is an investment pool managed by the State of
Connecticut Office of the State Treasurer. Investments must be made in instruments authorized
by Connecticut General Statutes 3-27c - 3-27e. Investment guidelines are adopted by the State
Treasurer. The fair value of the position in the pool is the same as the value of the pool shares.

The Town's pension and OPEB funds have adopted a formal investment policy that defines
allowable investments, prohibited investments, prohibited transactions, asset allocation
guidelines, diversification guidelines and fixed income and cash guidelines.

The following was the Town's adopted asset allocation policy for both the Town’s pension and

OPEB Plans:
Target Allocation

Town's Town's
Asset Class Pension OPEB
Equities 50.00% 60.00%
Fixed income 35.00% 20.00%
Private equity 10.00% 10.00%
Real estate 5.00% 10.00%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

c. Method used to value investments

Investments for the Town are reported at fair value except as described below. Securities traded
on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current
exchange rates.

Certain pension investments are valued using the most recent valuation available from the
external fund manager and are based on net asset value. These estimated values do not
necessarily represent the amounts that will ultimately be realized upon the disposition of those
assets, which may be materially higher or lower than values determined if a readily available
market for the securities existed.

Fair value of investments

The Town measures and records its investments using fair value measurement guidelines
established by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).
These guidelines recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows:

Level 1 Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets

Observable inputs: quoted prices for identical securities in markets that
are not active. The fair value was determined based on quoted prices in

Level 2 : . R ;
less active, dealer or broker markets. Fair values are primarily obtained
from third party pricing services for identical or comparable assets

Level 3 Unobservable inputs
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C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity (continued)

d. Investment risk policies

Interest rate risk is the risk that the government will incur losses in fair
Interest rate risk value caused by changing interest rates. The Town's target duration is
3.50 years and at no time should exceed 4.50 years.

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty will not fulfill its
specific obligation even without the entity's complete failure. The Town’s
Credit risk investment policy limits investments purchases to securities with a credit
rating within the top two categories of nationally recognized rating
services.

Concentration of credit risk is the risk attributed to the magnitude of an
Concentration of entity’s investments in a single issuer. The Town follows the limitations
credit risk specified in the Connecticut General Statutes. Generally, the Town's
deposits cannot be 75% or more of the total capital in any one depository.

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the Town will not be able to recover the value of its
Custodial credit risk investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party. The Town requires depositories to have a IDC ranking of 200 or
higher and a Kroll rating of B- or higher.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of the investment may be
Foreign currency risk | |affected by changes in the rate of exchange. The Town does not have a
formal policy with respect to the foreign currency risk.

2. Receivables and payables
a. Interfunds

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at
the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either "due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current
portion of interfund loans) or "advances to/from other funds" (i.e., the non-current portion of
interfund loans).

b. Property taxes and other receivables

In the government-wide financial statements, all trade, property tax, sewer use, sewer
assessment and loan receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. Allowance
percentages range from 1.00% to 22.38% of outstanding receivable balances and are calculated
based upon prior collections.

Property taxes are assessed on property as of October 1. Taxes are billed in the following July
and are due in four installments: July 1, October 1, January 1 and April 1. Liens are effective on
the assessment date and are continued by filing before the end of the fiscal year following the due
date.
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C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity (continued)

In the fund financial statements, property tax revenues are recognized when they become
available. Only taxes collected during the fiscal year are recorded as revenue.

Loan receivables consist of Community Development Block Grant loans. The Town provides low
interest loans for residential rehabilitation as well as loans to local businesses for facility
improvements.

c. Leases receivable

The Town is a lessor for noncancellable leases of land and buildings. The Town recognizes a
lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources in the government-wide and governmental
fund financial statements.

At the commencement of a lease, the Town initially measures the lease receivable at the present
value of payments expected to be received during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease
receivable is reduced by the principal portion of lease payments received. The deferred inflow of
resources is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease receivable, adjusted for lease
payments received at or before the lease commencement date. Subsequently, the deferred inflow
of resources is recognized as revenue over the life of the lease term.

Key estimates and judgments related to leases include:

The Town uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount
rate used to discount the expected lease receipts to present value.

Discount Rate

Lease Term The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease.

Lease receipts included in the measurement of the lease receivable is
composed of fixed payments from the lessee.

Lease Payments

The Town monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease
and will remeasure the lease receivable and deferred inflows of resources if certain changes
occur that are expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease receivable.

3. Restricted assets

The restricted assets for the Town are restricted for performance bonds, security deposits and
endowments. Performance bonds are temporarily restricted until the monies are returned to the
vendor after satisfactory completion of contract or the Town calls the bond for nonperformance. The
trust agreement restricts the expenditure of the investment income only for the designated purpose.
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C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity (continued)

4. Capital assets

Capital assets, which include construction in progress, property, plant, equipment and infrastructure
assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental
columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the Town as
assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $10,000 and $100,000 for infrastructure (amounts
not rounded) and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at
historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets,
donated works of art and similar items and capital assets received in service concession
arrangements are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend assets' lives are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are
capitalized as projects are constructed.

Property, plant and equipment of the Town are depreciated/amortized using the straight-line method
over the following estimated useful lives:

Assets Years
Land improvements 20
Buildings and improvements 45
Machinery and equipment 5-20
Vehicles 6-15
Infrastructure 20-70
Intangible assets (software) 10
Right-to-use leased assets Lease term

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, represents a consumption
of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, represents an acquisition of
net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources
(revenue) until that time.

The Town reports deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB in the
government-wide statements for differences between expected and actual experience, changes in
assumptions and net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments. The
deferred outflow or inflow related to differences between expected and actual experience and
changes in assumptions will be amortized over the average remaining service life of all plan
members. The deferred outflow or inflow related to the net difference between projected and actual
earnings on plan investments will be amortized over a five-year period.
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C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity (continued)

Deferred inflows of resources also include deferred inflows relating to advance refunding of debt.
These amounts are deferred and are amortized over the shorter of the life of the old or new debt.

Deferred inflows of resources include deferred inflows relating to the lease receivable. These
amounts are deferred and are amortized to lease revenue in a systematic and rational manner over

the term of the lease.

Advance tax collections and permit fees represent taxes and permit fees associated with a future
period. This amount is recognized during the period in which the revenue is associated.

For governmental funds, the Town reports unavailable revenue, which arises only under the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, unavailable revenue is reported only in the governmental
funds' balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable revenues from several sources:
property taxes (including advance collections, if any), sewer assessment, use charges and other
charges. These amounts are recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts
become available.

6. Compensated absences

Employees are paid by a prescribed formula for absence due to vacation and sickness. The eligibility
for vacation pay vests when earned; however, unused sick leave may only be accumulated for use in
future absences. Compensated absences are only reported in governmental funds if they are due
and payable to an employee who has resigned or retired before or at fiscal year-end. The General
Fund is the primary source to liquidate compensated absences.

7. Long-term liabilities

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term liabilities are
reported as liabilities in the governmental activities' statement of net position. Bond premiums and
discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method.
Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Issuance costs, whether
or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenses.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts,
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported
as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing
sources, while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs,
whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service
expenditures.
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C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity (continued)

8. Lease liabilities

The Town is a lessee for noncancellable leases of buildings and equipment. The Town recognizes
a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset (lease asset) in the government-wide

financial statements. The Town recognizes lease liabilities with an initial, individual value of $10,000
or more.

At the commencement of a lease, the Town initially measures the lease liability at the present value
of payments expected to be made during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease liability is reduced
by the principal portion of lease payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial
amount of the lease liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease
commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs. Subsequently, the lease asset is amortized on
a straight-line basis over its useful life.

Key estimates and judgments related to leases include:

The Town uses the interest rate charged by the lessor as the discount
rate to discount the expected lease payments to the present value. When

Discount Rate the interest rate charged by the lessor is not provided, the Town generally
uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for
leases.

Lease Term

The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are
Lease Payments composed of fixed payments and any purchase option price that the
Town is reasonably certain to exercise.

The Town monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and
will remeasure the lease asset and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly
affect the amount of the lease liability.

Lease assets are reported with other capital assets and lease liabilities are reported with long-term
debt on the statement of net position.

9. Net position and fund balances

In the government-wide financial statements, net position is classified into the following categories:

This category presents the net position that reflects capital assets net of
Net Investment in depreciation/amortization and net of only the debt applicable to the
Capital Assets acquisition or construction of these assets. Debt issued for non-capital
purposes, and unspent bond proceeds, are excluded.
Restricted Net This category presents the net position restricted by external parties
Position (creditors, grantors, contributors or laws and regulations).
Unrestricted Net This category presents the net position of the Town which is not classified
Position in the preceding two categories.
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C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity (continued)

Sometimes the Town will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted
bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. |n order to calculate the amounts to report as
restricted net position and unrestricted net position in the government-wide financial statements, a
flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It
is the Town’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been depleted before unrestricted net

position is applied.

In the fund financial statements, fund balances are classified into the following categories:

This category presents amounts that cannot be spent either because they
Nonspendable are in nonspendable form or because they are legally or contractually
required to be maintained intact.

This category presents amounts that can be spent only for specific
purposes because of enabling legislation or because of constraints that
are externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or
regulations of other governments.

This category presents amounts that can be used only for specific
purposes determined by a formal action of the highest level of decision-
making authority for the Town. Commitments may be established,
modified or rescinded only through resolutions approved by the Board of
Finance, this includes properly approved purchase orders
(encumbrances).

This category presents amounts that do not meet the criteria to be
classified as restricted or committed but that are intended to be used for
specific purposes. Intent is expressed by the approval of a resolution by
the Board of Finance.

This category presents amounts that do not meet the criteria above and
are available for any purpose. This category is only reported in the general
fund for positive amounts and in any other fund that has a fund balance
deficit.

Restricted

Committed

Assigned

Unassigned

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund
balance is available, the Town considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an
expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned or unassigned fund balances are available,
the Town considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds
and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless the Board of Finance has provided otherwise in its
commitment or assignment actions.

Minimum fund balance policy

The Board of Finance has adopted a minimum fund balance policy for the General Fund. The

policy establishes the intent to maintain a level of unassigned fund balance of at least 7.25% to

11.00% of annual budgeted expenditures. Further, once unassigned fund balance is greater than

I63.00%, the Board of Finance may transfer any excess above 8.00% to the Town's Internal Service
und.
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C. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and equity (continued)

10. Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, deferred outflows and inflows of resources
including disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities and reported revenues, expenses and
expenditures during the fiscal year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

11. Reclassifications

Certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been reclassified in order to be consistent with
the current year's presentation.

Il. Stewardship, compliance and accountability
A. Basis of budgeting

The Town has legally adopted annual budgets for the General Fund and the Water Pollution Control
Authority ("WPCA").

The Town uses the budgetary basis of accounting under which purchase orders for contracts or other
commitments are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation. Encumbrances
are recognized as a valid and proper charge against a budget appropriation in the year in which the
purchase order, contract or other commitment is issued and, accordingly, encumbrances outstanding at
year end are reported in the budgetary statements included as required supplementary information.

Appropriations for capital projects are continued until completion of applicable projects, even when
projects extend more than one fiscal year.

B. Donor-restricted endowments

The Town has received certain endowments for conservation activities and the improvement and
betterment of the Fairfield Library and Fairfield public schools. The amounts are reflected in net position
as restricted for endowments. Investment income is approved for disbursement by the Library Board and
the Board of Education and is included in restricted fund balance. At year end, there is $3,683 of
appreciation for the Library endowment and no appreciation available for appropriation from the H. Smith
Richardson Conservation Fund and Simeon and Carrie Pease Fund.

The Town allocates investment income of donor-restricted endowments in accordance with donor
restrictions and Connecticut law, which has adopted the provisions of the Uniform Prudent
Management of Institutional Funds Act ("UPMIFA"). Under UPMIFA, investment income earned on
donor-restricted endowment funds is considered to be unrestricted in the absence of explicit donor
restrictions. Further, in the absence of explicit donor restrictions regarding investment appreciation,
such appreciation is treated the same as the related investment income. Investment losses that reduce
the value of endowment investments below the original principal amount serve to reduce restricted net
position or unrestricted net position, depending upon the applicable donor’s stipulations regarding the
treatment of investment income and appreciation.
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C. Capital projects authorizations

The following is a summary of project authorizations and unexpended balances:

Project Cumulative
Project Name Authorization Expenditure Balance
W.P.C.A facility improvements $ 15,900 $ 13,013 $ 2,887
Sherman Elementary renovation 3,200 2,945 255
Storm Sandy facilities restoration 5156 3,409 1,747
FLHS expansion 15,538 15,018 520
Penfield repair and restoration 7.447 7,324 123
Kings Highway/Commerce Drive 3,449 2,836 613
WPCF improvements 13,201 11,247 1,954
Commerce Dr/ State St bridge 2,759 - 2,759
Capital projects 79,090 50,359 28,731
Nonrecurring capital projects 25,850 25,794 56
Valley Road bridge 3,200 2,504 696
Mill Hill renovation 23,276 22213 1,063
Holland Hill expansion 18,541 18,097 444
FWMS roof 3,000 2,431 569
Smith Rich clubhouse 7,270 6,828 442
Giant Steps-309 Barberry Rd 5,124 5,110 14
Remediation costs - Town 1,484 1,255 229
Remediation costs - WPCA 202 49 163
DPW Vehicles and Equipment 3,920 2,056 1,864
BOE Roofs and Bathrooms 3,653 971 2,682
Duck Farm Road Bridge 3,730 139 3,591
Town Facility Upgrade 1,950 - 1,950
Emergency Radio Project 7,000 - 7,000
Tide Gate System Project 2,250 - 2,250
Transfer Station Repairs 450 - 450
RLMS Turf Field 4125 - 4,125
Phase 1- Air Conditioning at Schools 22,701 - 22,701
HVAC - Fitts House-FWHS 1,094 - 1,094
Total $ 284,560 $ 193,598 $ 90,962
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Ill. Detailed notes

A. Cash and investments

1. Deposits — custodial credit risk

Exhibit K

At year end, the Town’s bank balance was $119,164 and was exposed to custodial credit risk as

follows:

Uninsured and uncollateralized
Uninsured and collateral held by the pledging bank’s
trust department, not in the Town’s name

Total amount subject to custodial credit risk

$ 68,962
24,341

§ 93,303

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Town to significant concentrations of credit risk
consist primarily of cash. From time to time, the Town's cash account balances exceed the Federal

Deposit Insurance Corporation limit.

deposits with major financial institutions and monitoring their credit ratings.

2. Investments

The Town reduces its credit risk by maintaining its cash

a. The Town'’s investments (including restricted investments) consisted of the following types and
maturities. Specific identification was used to determine maturities:

Investment Maturities (In Years)

Fair Less 1-5 5-10

Type of Investment Value N/A Than 1 Years Years
Mutual Funds:

Equity $265122 $265122 § = $ - $ »

Money market 21,714 L. 21,714 - -

Bond 39,871 - - - 39,871

Fixed income 115,472 - - - 115,472
Real estate funds 32,938 32,938 - - -
Private equity limited partnership

investments 36,672 36,672 - -
Certificates of deposit 69,369 - 69,369 -
Pooled fixed income 28,543 - 28,543 -
Bank money market 33,015 - 33,015 -
Municipal bonds 7.984 - 630 7,354 -
Corporate bonds 182 - 173 9
Total $650882 $334732 $153444 § 7,354  $155352
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A. Cash and investments (continued)
b. The Town had the following recurring fair value measurements:

Quoted Market  Significant
Prices in Active  Observable

Markets Inputs
Amount Level 1 Level 2
Investments by fair value level
Mutual funds:
Equity $ 265122 $ 265122 $ -
Money market 21,714 21,714 -
Bond 39,871 39,871
Fixed income 115,472 115,472 -
Municipal bonds 7,984 - 7,984
Corporate bonds 182 - 182
Total investments by fair value level 450,345 $ 442179 $§ 8166

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

Real estate funds 32,938
Private equity limited partnership investments 36,672
Total investments measured at NAV 69,610

Other investments not subject to fair value measurement

Certificates of deposit 69,369
Pooled fixed income 28,543
Bank money market 33,015
Total other investments 130,927
Total investments $ 650,882

Level 1: Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets
Level 2: Observable inputs: quoted prices for identical securities in markets that are not active. The

fair value was determined based on quoted prices in less active, dealer or broker markets. Fair values
are primarily obtained from third party pricing services for identical or comparable assets.
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A. Cash and investments (continued)

C.

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

Investments valued using the net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) are considered
“alternative investments” and, unlike more traditional investments, generally do not have readily
obtainable market values and take the form of limited partnerships. The Town values these
investments based on the partnerships' audited financial statements. If June 30 statements are
available, those values are used preferentially.

However, some partnerships have fiscal years ending at other than June 30. If June 30 valuations
are not available, the value is estimated from the most recently available valuation taking into
account subsequent calls and distributions. The following table represents the unfunded
commitments, redemption frequency (if currently eligible), and the redemption notice period for the
Town's alternative investments measured at the NAV:

Redemption
Frequency Redemption
Fair Unfunded (if Currently Notice
Investment Description Value Commitments Eligible) Period
Real estate funds 1 $ 32,938 $ - Quarterly 90 days
Private equity limited
partnership investments 2 36,672 8,560 Not permitted Not permitted

Total investments
measured at the NAV $ 69,610 $ 8,560

1. Real estate funds - This type includes 1 real estate fund that invests primarily in U.S.
commercial real estate. This fund permits redemptions quarterly with 90 days notice. The
fair values of the investments in this type have been determined using the NAV per share (or
its equivalent) of the Town's ownership interest in partners’ capital.

2. Private equity limited partnership investments - This type includes 2 private equity funds that
invest primarily in private equity limited partnerships. One of the funds has a portfolio of
approximately 40 private equity partnerships. The nature of the investments is that
distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund.
Liquidations of the underlying investments vary based upon the limited partnership and the
date of the Town's investment. The fair values of the investments in this type have been
determined using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the investment.
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A. Cash and investments (continued)

d. The Town's investments subject to credit risk have average ratings by Standard & Poor's as

follows:
Ratings
Type of Investment AAA AA A BBB Unrated Totals
Mutual funds:
Money market $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 21714 § 21,714
Bond - - 39,871 - - 39,871
Fixed income - 115,472 - - - 115,472
Pooled fixed income 28,543 - - - - 28,543
Municipal bonds 821 6,788 375 - - 7,984
Corporate bonds - - - 182 - 182
Total $ 29364 § 122260 $ 40246 $ 182 $ 21,714 $ 213,766

e. Certain investments are covered by the Securities Investor Protection Corporation ("SIPC") up to
$500, including $250 of cash from sale or for purchase of investments, but not cash held solely for
the purpose of earning interest. SIPC protects securities such as notes, stocks, bonds,
debentures, certificates of deposit and money market funds.

The following Town investments are held by the counterparty's trust department or agent but
not in the Town's name and, therefore, are subject to custodial credit risk as follows:

Amount
Less Subject To
Insured Custodial
Total Amounts Credit Risk
Municipal bonds $ 7,984 $1,000 $ 6,984
Corporate bonds 182 182 -
Total $ 8,166 $2,182 $ 5,984
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B. Receivables

Exhibit K

1. Receivable balances have been disaggregated by type and presented separately in the financial
statements. Only receivables for the Town's government-wide financial statements with allowances
for uncollectible accounts, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are

presented below.

Property Taxes
Interest and
Taxes Lien Fees Total
Current portion $ 2,043 $ 1,865 $ 3,908
Long term portion 5,254 2,100 7,354
Less allowance for uncollectible (373) (888) (1,261)
Net long term portion $ 4,881 $ 1212 $ 6,093

Assessments and Use Fees

Assessments Interest
and and CDBG Outside
Use Fees Lien Fees Total Loans Services
Current portion $ 326 $ 85 $ 411 $ 204 $ 504
Long term portion 617 156 773 1,664 -
Less allowance for uncollectible (28) (2) (30) (35) (75)
Net receivables 3 589 $ 154 $ 743 $ 1,629 $ 429
2. Leases receivable
Governmental Activities:
Deferred Lease
Lease Inflows of Lease Interest
Description Receivable Resources Revenue Revenue
Cell towers $ 6,943 $ 6,651 $ 497 $ 232
Parking spaces 3,235 3,069 363 112
Building rentals 1,419 1,370 235 52
Patio rental 1,650 1,603 34 53
Playground area 14 14 1 1
Total $ 13,261 $ 12,707 $ 1,130 $ 450
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B. Receivables (continued)

Description Lease Agreement Terms

The Town is lessor for 7 lease agreements for the right to use various cell
towers. The leases include five agreements with automatic renewal terms and
two agreements with no renewal terms. All cell tower agreements range from 8-
Cell towers 26 years left on their current terms.

The Town is lessor for 4 lease agreements for the right to use parking spaces.
None of the four leases include any extension terms. Lease agreements range
Parking spaces from 2-11 years.

The Town is lessor for 4 lease agreements for the right to use various buildings
within the Town. Three of the four agreements do not have additional extension
terms. One has 3, 1-year renewal options. Fairfield Community Theater has a

lease term that will mature in 2069 and St. Paul's Nursery School will mature in
Building rentals 2102.

The Town is lessor for a lease agreement for the patio rental of the Fairfield
Community Theatre in June 2019. The lease agreement includes 3 10-year
Patio rental automatic extension terms that the Town will exercise.

The Town is lessor for a lease agreement for the playground rental of the Saint
Paul's Nursery School in May 2003. The agreement is a 99-year lease with no
Playground area extension terms the Town can exercise.

One of the parking space leases is to the Town's Parking Authority (enterprise fund). The annual
lease payments for the fiscal year totaled $235.

Business-Type Activities:

Deferred Lease
Lease Inflows of Lease Interest
Description Receivable Resources Revenue Revenue
Restaurants and shops $ 180 $ 175 $ 56 $ 179
Description Lease Agreement Terms

The Parking Authority is lessor for 3 10-year lease agreements for the lease of
three restaurants. Based on this agreement, the Town is receiving monthly
Restaurants and payments through September 2025. There are no renewal options included in
shops these lease agreements.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements

As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Amounts expressed in thousands)

Interfund accounts

1

Interfund payables and receivables

A summary of interfund balances is as follows:

Major Funds:
General Fund:

Capital Projects Fund

Community Development Block Grant

Special Education

Affordable Housing

Public School Lunch
Miscellaneous Grants
Downtown Parking

Donations

Employees' OPEB Trust Fund

Total General Fund

Capital Projects Fund

Other Governmental Funds:
Special Revenue Funds:

Community Development Block Grant

Special Education
Affordable Housing
Public School Lunch
Miscellaneous Grants
Downtown Parking
Donations

Total Other Governmental Funds

Employees' OPEB Trust Fund
Grand total

have an operations cash account.
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Corresponding
Fund

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

General fund

General fund
General fund
General fund
General fund
General fund
General fund
General fund

General fund

Exhibit K

Due From Due To
$ 3132 $ -
842 -

- 426

86 -

745 -
1,426 =

61 -

164 -

236 “
6,692 426

- 3,132

- 842

426 .

- 86

- 745

- 1,426

- 61

- 164

426 3,324

- 236

$ 7118 $ 7,118

All interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates payments occurred between
funds for interfund goods, payroll and services provided or in instances where certain funds do not



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements

As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Amounts expressed in thousands)

C. Interfund accounts (continued)

2. Interfund transfers

A summary of interfund transfers is as follows:

Major Funds

General Fund:
Capital Projects Fund
Library Fund
Debt Service Fund

Total General Fund

Capital Projects Fund:
General Fund
Water Pollution Control Authority Fund

Total Capital Projects Fund

Other Governmental Funds:

Library Fund
Woater Pollution Control Authority Fund
Debt Service Fund

Total Other Governmental Funds

Exhibit K

Grand Total

Corresponding Transfers Transfers
Fund In Out
N/A $ - $ 9,180
N/A 120 -
N/A - 1,346
120 10,526
N/A 9,180 -
N/A 120 -
9,300 -
General Fund 120
Capital projects fund - 120
General Fund 1,346 -
1,346 240
$ 10,766 $ 10,766

Transfers are used to move budgeted appropriations from the general fund for funding of the
capital fund and various programs and activities in other funds. Transfers are also used for certain

debt service activity.
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D. Capital assets
Capital asset activity for the fiscal year was as follows:

Balance Balance
Governmental activities: July 1, 2021 Increases Decreases June 30, 2022
(as restated)

Capital assets, not being depreciated/amortized:

Land $ 35248 % - $1858 § 33390
Construction in progress 68,723 18,061 1,172 85,612
Total capital assets, not being depreciated/amortized 103,971 18,061 3,030 119,002
Capital assets, being depreciated/amortized:
Land improvements 8,144 504 - 8,648
Right-to-use land improvements 2,358 - - 2,358
Buildings and improvements 547,289 539 - 547,828
Vehicles 23,865 2,466 892 25,439
Machinery and equipment 22,341 1,275 38 23,578
Right-to-use machinery and equipment 33 115 - 148
Intangible assets 454 - - 454
Infrastructure 147,088 1,621 - 148,709
Total capital assets, being depreciated/amortized 751,572 6,520 930 757,162
Total capital assets 855,543 24,581 3,960 876,164
Less accumulated depreciated/amortized for:
Land improvements 3,620 504 - 4,124
Right-to-use land improvements - 236 - 236
Buildings and improvements 190,314 11,463 - 201,777
Vehicles 14,983 1,070 892 15,161
Machinery and equipment 11,069 1,104 38 12,135
Right-to-use machinery and equipment - 135 - 135
Intangible assets 330 56 - 386
Infrastructure 95,618 2,246 - 97,864
Total accumulated depreciated/amortized 315,934 16,814 930 331,818
Total capital assets, being depreciated/amortized, net 435,638 (10,294) - 425,344
Capital assets, net $ 539,609 $ 7,767 $ 3,030 $ 544,346
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

D. Capital assets (continued)

Depreciation/amortization expense was charged to functions/programs of the Town as follows:

Exhibit K

General government $ 512
Finance 212
Public safety 1,018
Public works 4,048
Health and welfare 71
Culture and recreation 1,009
Education 9,944
Total depreciation/amortization expense $ 16,814
Balance Balance
July 1, June 30,
Business-type activities: 2021 Increases Decreases 2022
(as restated)
Capital assets, being depreciated/amortized:
Land improvements $ 704 % - $ - $ 704
Right-to-use land improvements 3,509 - - 3,509
Buildings and improvements 1,117 - - 1,117
Machinery and equipment 93 - - 93
Total capital assets, being depreciated/amortized 5,423 - - 5,423
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
Land improvements 155 45 - 200
Right-to-use land improvements - 333 - 333
Buildings and improvements 908 42 - 950
Machinery and equipment 32 10 - 42
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 1,095 430 - 1,525
Capital assets, net $ 4,328 $ (430) $ - $ 3,898

Depreciation/amortization expense was charged to functions/programs of the Town as follows:

Parking Authority

$ 430
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements

As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

E. Construction commitments

The Town had the following construction commitments:

Wastewater Treatment Plant Hardening

Valley Road Bridge

Mill Hill School

FLHS Building Automation
Police Dept HVAC

RLMS Roof

FWHS HVAC

Duck Farm Road Bridge

Total

$ 421
6

1,065
857

379
1,512
843

2,817

$ 7,900

F. Short-term liabilities - bond anticipation notes

Exhibit K

The Town is using bond anticipation notes (“BANs") prior to the issuance of the bonds at the completion

of the project.

Short-term liability activity for the fiscal year was as follows:

Maturity Coupon  Balance Permanently  Balance
Purpose Date Rate July 1,2021 Additions Reductions Financed June 30, 2022
General Purpose ~ 7/9/2021 2.00% $ 4703 § - $ 4703 % - 3 -
Schools 7/9/2021  2.00% 3,097 - 3,097 - .
General Purpose  7/8/2022  2.00% - 6,311 - 2,236 4,075
Schools 7/8/2022  2.00% - 7,544 - 5,953 1,591
Total $ 7800 $13855 $ 7800 $ 8189 § 5,666

The bond anticipation notes mature in July 2022, and carry a coupon interest rate of 2.00%. In July 2022,
the Town issued $32,460 of general obligation bonds which permanently financed a portion of the bond
anticipation notes outstanding at fiscal year-end. These bonds mature through 2042 and carry interest

rates of 4.00% - 5.00%.

In July 2022, the Town issued $8,090 of bond anticipation notes that mature in July 2023, and carry a
coupon interest rate of 2.50% and a true interest cost of 2.15%.

In July 2022, the Town also issued $13,455 of refunding bonds that carry coupon rates of 4.00% to 5.00%
to refund bonds issued in 2012 and 2014 totaling $14,470.
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G. Changes in long-term liabilities
General obligation bonds, equipment financing notes and leases are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the Town.

1.

Summary of changes

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Amounts expressed in thousands)

The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities during the fiscal year:

Governmental Activities:

Exhibit K

Balance Balance
Original Date of Date of Interest July 1, June 30, Current Long-Term
Description Amount Issue Maturity Rate 2021 Additions  Deductions 2022 Portion Portion
(as restated)
General purpose:
Refunding issue $ 5,447 2008 01/01/23  3.375%-5.00% $ 776 3 - $ 388 388 % 388 $ -
Refunding issue 1,764 2012 06/30/26 2.00%-5.00% 290 - 290 - - S
Debt issue 500 2014 06/30/35 2.00%-4.00% 350 - 25 325 25 300
Refunding issue 2,467 2015 07115127 1.75%-4.00% 2,285 - 360 1,925 362 1,563
Refunding issue 8,845 2016 07/15/30 2.00%-5.00% 7,837 - 1,037 6,800 489 6,311
Debt issue 3,500 2016 06/30/37 2.00%-5.00% 2,800 - 175 2,625 175 2,450
Debt issue 10,885 2017 07/13/37 3.00%-5.00% 9,493 - 373 9,120 570 8,550
Debt issue 3,157 2018 07/01/38  3.00% -3.75% 2,645 - 321 2,324 321 2,003
Debt issue 7,011 2019 07/01/39  2.00% - 3.00% 6,660 - 350 6,310 350 5,960
Refunding issue 5,332 2020 06/30/33 2.00% - 5.00% 5332 - 478 4,854 499 4,355
Debt issue 10,980 2020 07/01/41  2.00% - 5.00% 10,980 - - 10,980 545 10,435
Debt issue 19,794 2021 07/01/41  2.00% - 5.00% 4,500 15,294 - 19,794 989 18,805
Total general purpose 79,682 53,948 15,294 3,797 65,445 4713 60,732
Schools:
Refunding issue 40,623 2008 01/01/23  3.375%-5.00% 5,787 - 2,887 2,900 2,900 -
Refunding issue 25,011 2012 06/30/26 2.00%-5.00% 14,340 - 4,250 10,090 2,520 7,570
Debt issue 11,000 2014 06/30/35 2.00%-4.00% 7,700 - 550 7,150 550 6,600
Refunding issue 21,773 2015 07/15/27 1.75%-4.00% 18,075 - 2,680 15,395 2,698 12,697
Refunding issue 17,995 2016 07/15/30 2.00%-5.00% 16,088 - 1,668 14,420 1,036 13,384
Debt issue 16,811 2016 06/30/37 2.00%-5.00% 13,451 - 840 12,611 840 11,771
Debt issue 2,000 2017 07/113/37 3.00%-5.00% 1,752 - 77 1,675 100 1,575
Debt issue 13,868 2018 07/01/38  3.00% -3.75% 13,180 - 379 12,801 404 12,397
Debt issue 8,699 2019 07/01/39  2.00% - 5.00% 8,220 - 480 7,740 480 7,260
Refunding issue 13,533 2020 06/30/33 2.00% - 5.00% 13,533 - 1,202 12,331 1,266 11,065
Debt issue 12,105 2020 07/01/41  2.00% - 5.00% 12,105 - - 12,105 605 11,500
Debt issue 6,101 2021 07/01/41  2.00% - 5.00% 5,100 1,001 - 6,101 431 5,670
Total schools 189,519 129,331 1,001 15,013 115,319 13,830 101,489
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As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

G. Changes in long-term liabilities (continued)

Balance Balance
QOriginal Date of Date of Interest July 1, June 30, Current Long-Term
Description Amount Issue Maturity Rate 2021 Additions Deductions 2022 Portion Portion
(as restated)
Sewer:
Refunding issue $ 160 2008 01/01/23  3.375%-5.00% $ 23 % - 3 M1 % 12 % 12 8 -
Debt issue 2,500 2021 07/01/41 2.00%-5.00% - 2,500 - 2,500 - 2,500
Total sewer 2,660 23 2,500 11 2,512 12 2,500
Total bonds 269,361 183,302 18,795 18,821 183,276 18,555 164,721
Bond anticipation notes (permanently financed) - 8,189 - 8,189 - 8,189
Notes (direct borrowings):
Mower (Golf) 131 2019 08/10/23 5.27% 54 - 26 28 28 % 5
Copiers 360 2017 10/31/21 2.50% 23 - 23 - - -
Copiers 242 2020 9/30/22 2.50% 177 - 62 1156 65 50
Copiers 372 2022 11/01/25 2.10% - 372 44 328 91 237
Clean Water - CWF 399C 29,436 2003 07/31/22 2.00% 1,894 - 1,746 148 148 -
Total notes 30,541 2,148 372 1,901 619 332 287
Total bonds/notes 185,450 27,356 20,722 192,084 18,887 173,197
Premium 6,127 2,450 1,124 7,453 - 7,453
Total bonds, notes and related liabilities 191,577 29,806 21,846 199,537 18,887 180,650
Leases 2,534 115 233 2,416 204 2,212
Compensated absences 4,839 1,048 259 5628 1,126 4,502
Heart and hypertension 3,109 859 549 3.419 805 2,614
Net pension liability 13,088 103,455 15,300 101,243 - 101,243
Net OPEB liability 95,990 24,015 15,626 104,379 - 104,379
Environmental liability 19,037 - 4,113 14,924 5,223 9,701
Claims payable 12,628 13,752 13,131 13,249 4,777 8,472
Total long-term liabilities $ 342,802 §$ 173,050 $ 71,057 $ 444,795 $ 31,022 § 413,773

All bonds and notes will be liquidated by the General Fund, except for clean water loan 399C, which is liquidated by the Water Pollution Control Authority Fund.

All other long-term liabilities listed above are also generally liquidated by the General Fund, except for the environmental liability which will be liquidated from the
capital project fund.
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G. Changes in long-term liabilities (continued)
Business-Type Activities:

The following are the changes in long-term liabilities, which will be funded from enterprise fund
operations:

Balance Balance
July 1, June 30, Current  Long-Term
Description 2021 Additions  Deductions 2022 Portion Portion

(as restated)

Leases $ 3508 9 - $ 176 $ 3330 $ 271 $ 3,089

The following is a summary of principal and interest amounts of bond and note maturities:

Bonds Notes
Fiscal Year Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 $ 18,555 $ 5811 $ 332 $ 13
2024 15,540 4,967 143 6
2025 15,695 4,275 95 3
2026 15,870 3,609 49 1
2027 13,360 3,055 - -
2028 13,375 2,608 - -
2029 11,745 2,207 - -
2030 10,055 1,879 - -
2031 9,950 1,609 - -
2032 ' 8,440 1,374 - -
2033 8,425 1,161 - -
2034 6,510 967 - -
2035 6,510 798 - -
2036 5,880 644 - -
2037 5,881 495 - -
2038 4,860 359 - -
2039 4,190 258 - -
2040 3,290 135 - -
2041 2,575 82 - -
2042 2,570 27 - -
Totals $ 183,276 $ 36,320 $ 619 $ 23

2. Assets pledged as collateral

The Town's outstanding equipment financing notes of $471 are secured with collateral of the
equipment purchased.
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G. Changes in long-term liabilities (continued)

3. Statutory debt limitations

The Town's indebtedness does not exceed the legal debt limitations as required by Connecticut
General Statutes as reflected in the following schedule:

Net
Category Debit Limit Indebtedness Balance
General Purpose $ 674,078 $ 71,756 $ 602,322
Schools 1,348,155 122,863 1,225,292
Sewer 1,123,463 2,512 1,120,951
Urban Renewal 973,668 - 973,668
Pension Deficit 898,770 - 898,770

The total overall statutory debt limit for the Town is equal to seven times annual receipts from prior
year taxation, $2,097,130.

The indebtedness reflected above includes bonds outstanding in addition to the amount of bonds
authorized and unissued against which bond anticipation notes are issued and outstanding.

4. Authorized/unissued bonds

The amount of authorized and unissued bonds as follows:

General purpose $ 38,202
Schools 42 750
Sewers 13
Total $ 80,965

5. Environmental liability

The Town has identified multiple sites throughout the Town that will require environmental testing,
hazard investigation, and remediation related to contamination due to the use of fill pile from the
Town’s reclamation yard, the Water Pollution Control Facility, Penfield Pavilion and related parking lot
and additional sites throughout the Town. The estimated cost of remediation is $14,924. The Town
has committed fund balance to fund the cost of the remediation for the total estimated liability in the
capital projects fund.

The estimate is subject to change due to price changes, technology changes or other changes. The

pollution remediation liability does not reflect any recovery of outlays because it is unknown at this
time whether the Town will be able to recover remediation costs from other parties.
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G. Changes in long-term liabilities (continued)
6. Leases

Lease agreements are summarized as follows:

Lease Balance
Term* Interest Original June 30,
Description Date (years) Rate** Amount* 2022
Electric golf carts 2017-2021 2 2.00% $ 115 $ 98
Town copiers 2019 4 2.00% 60 42
Education maintenance garage 2019 19 2.00% 2,359 2,276
Total $ 2,534 3 2416
Business-Type Activities:
Lease Balance
Term* Interest Original June 30,
Description Date (years) Rate** Amount* 2022
Parking lots 7/1/2018 2-11 2.00% $ 3,509 $ 3,330

*As of GASB No. 87 implementation date of July 1, 2021.

**All interest rates have been imputed based on the rate from recently issued debt as there were no
interest rates specified in the lease agreement.

Governmental Activities:

Description Lease Agreement Terms

The lease is not renewable and the Town will not acquire the
Electric golf carts equipment at the end of the term.

The lease is not renewable and the Town will not acquire the
Town copiers equipment at the end of the term.

The lease term includes ten-year additional terms that the Town
Education maintenance garage anticipates renewing.

Business-Type Activities:

Description Lease Agreement Terms

The parking lots include a two-year and eleven-year lease terms.
The Town does not currently anticipate renewing either parking
space. The Town currently receives semi-annual and annual
Parking lots payments for both parking lots.
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G. Changes in long-term liabilities (continued)

The following is a summary of lease payable principal and interest payments to maturity:

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 $ 204 $ 48 $ 270 $ 67
2024 110 44 272 61
2025 101 42 288 56
2026 101 40 304 50
2027 106 38 320 44
2028 111 36 338 38
2029 116 34 356 31
2030 121 31 374 24
2031 126 29 394 16
2032 132 26 414 7
2033 138 24 - -
2034 144 21 - -
2035 150 18 - -
2036 156 15 - -
2037 163 12 - -
2038 170 9 - -
2039 177 5 - -
2040 90 2 - -
Totals $ 2,416 $ 475 $ 3,330 $ 394

7. Heart hypertension
Under Connecticut General Statues, the Town is obligated to pay for certain former public safety

employees job related medical costs for the remainder of the employee’s life. The liability represents
actuarially based estimate of future costs.
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H. Fund balance classifications and restricted net position
Fund balances are composed of the following:

Other
General Capital Governmental
Fund Balance Component Fund Projects Funds Total
Nonspendable:

Education programs $ - $ - $ 20 $ 20

Library programs - - 70 70

Conservation programs - - 30 30
Total nonspendable - - 120 120
Restricted:

Construction projects - 7,900 - 7,900

Conservation - - 390 390

Public safety - care of animals - - 763 763

Sanitary sewer operations* - - 14,273 14,273

Culture and recreation:

Community develepment programs - - 1,657 1,657
Housing programs - - 258 258
Library operations - - 8,107 8,107

Town approved projects (ARPA) - - 15,700 15,700

Cafeteria operations™ - - 1,959 1,959
Total restricted - 7,900 43,107 51,007
Committed:

General government 378 - - 378

Finance - information systems 187 - - 187

Public safety - fire department 56 - - 56

Public works - operations 1,110 - - 1,110

Remediation costs - 15,746 - 15,746

Public safety - police and port security - - 2,193 2,193

Fairfield center improvements - - 401 401

Health and rehabilitation programs 9 - - 9

Park and recreation programs 235 - 1,449 1,684

Education programs 2,559 - 1,946 4 505

Other - - 2,012 2,012
Total committed 4,634 15,746 8,001 28,281
Assigned:

Debt service - - 4,986 4,986
Unassigned 39,790 (5,039) - 34,751
Total $ 44 324 $ 18,607 $ 56,214 $ 119,145
General Fund encumbrances totaled $4,534.

*The amount of restricted net position, which was restricted by enabling legislation, totaled: $ 16,232
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IV. Other information

A. Risk management

The Town purchases commercial insurance coverage for all the following risks and limits as detailed

below:
Coverage (not in thousands) Limit Deductible Aggregate

General liability $1,000,000 $ 500,000
Auto 1,000,000 500,000
Law enforcement liability. public
officials and school leaders 1,000,000 100,000
Damage to Town property 1,000,000 100,000
Pollution 1,000,000 125,000 $2,000,000
Flood damage 10,000,000 500,000 10,000,000
Excess liability 10,000,000
Medical insurance individual stop loss 150,000
Workers compensation stop loss:

Employees 600,000

Police, fire and EMT 750,000 - -

The Town is exposed to various risks for which it has retained the risk of loss including torts; theft of,
damage to and destruction of assets; natural disaster; general liability; workers' compensation; and
employee and post-retiree group medical. Settled claims have not exceeded commercial coverage in any
of the past three years, and there has not been any significant reductions in insurance coverage from
amounts held in prior years.

The Town utilizes a risk management fund (the Internal Service Fund) to account for and finance its
uninsured risks of loss. The fund records all claim expenditures and liabilities when it is probable that a
loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated.

All Town departments and agencies are charged premiums by the Internal Service Fund, which are
included in department and agency expenditures, to cover the estimated cost of claims payment based
on historical cost estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior and current year claims. Claims liabilities
include an estimate of claims incurred but not reported and are the Town's best estimate based on
available information.

The claims liability reported in the fund is based upon accounting principles, which require that a liability
for estimated claims incurred but not reported be recorded. The amount of claim accrual is based on the
ultimate costs of settling the claim, which include past experience data, inflation and other future
economic and societal factors and incremental claim adjustment expenses, net of estimated subrogation
recoveries. The claim accrual does not include other allocated or unallocated claims adjustment
expenses.
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A. Risk management (continued)

Current Year
Claims  Claims and Claims
Payable Changesin Claims Payable Current Long-Term
July 1 Estimates Paid June 30 Portion Portion

General Liability

2020-2021 $ 1940 % 844 $§ 380 § 2404 $1,202 $ 1,202
2021-2022 2,404 520 664 2,260 1,130 1,130
Workers Compensation
2020-2021 9,793 1,368 1,683 9,478 2,369 7,109
2021-2022 9,478 1,660 1,349 9,789 2,447 7,342
Subtotal
2020-2021 11,733 2,212 2,063 11,882 3,571 8,312
2021-2022 11,882 2,180 2,013 12,049 3,577 8,472
Medical Insurance
2020-2021 475 10,188 = 9,917 746 746 -
. 2021-2022 746 11,572 11,118 1,200 1,200 -
Totals
2020-2021 12,208 12,400 11,980 12,628 4317 8,312
2021-2022 $12628 $ 13,752 $13,131 $13249 $4777 $ 8472

B. Commitments and litigation

Amounts received or receivable from the grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor
agencies. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the
applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be
determined at this time, although the Town expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

The Town is a defendant in various lawsuits. The outcome of these lawsuits is not presently
determinable. The resolution of these matters is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the
financial condition of the Town.

C. Tax abatements (amounts not in thousands)
An economic development tax incentive program was enacted pursuant to Section 12-65b of the

Connecticut General Statutes. This program is intended to attract new businesses to the Town and
encourage the expansion of existing businesses to strengthen the Town's tax base.
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C. Tax abatements (amounts not in thousands) (continued)

The program is designed to provide the Town with the opportunity to create new employment, enhance
the tax base, encourage technological innovation or investment, or address other goals of the Town. The
program is available for strategic businesses, locally owned small business, restaurants and other retail
establishments, affordable housing, warehousing and distribution centers.

The economic development tax incentive amount is based upon the total cost of improvements to real
property. The form of the adjustment or reduction in the assessed value of that portion of the real property
is comprised of the qualifying new construction or expansion.

Improvements of $500,000 to $3,000,000 will qualify for a 3 year phase-in, improvements of $3,000,001
to $10,000,000 will qualify for a 5 year phase-in and improvements valued at greater than $10,000,001
will qualify for a 7 year phase-in.

There is currently 1 company participating in the economic development tax incentive program.

The amount of the tax abatement under these programs was approximately $101,000.

V. Pensions and other post-employment benefit (“OPEB”) plans
A. Town pension plans
1. Plan description
a. Plan administration

The Town administers two single-employer defined benefit pension plans (the Employees'
Retirement Plan and the Police and Fire Retirement Plan), which provide pensions for all
permanent full-time employees of the Town, excluding certified employees of the Board of
Education and police and fire personnel. Both pension plans grant the authority to establish and
amend the benefit terms to the Representative Town Meeting. The Employees’ Retirement
Plan is closed to employees hired after April 1, 2011. The plans do not issue separate, stand-
alone financial reports.

Management of each plan is vested in a Joint Retirement and Investment Board, which consists
of appointed by employees elected by the employee groups represented in the Plan.

b. Plan membership

As of July 1, 2021 for Employees and Police and Fire, the plans’ membership consisted of:

Police and
Employees Fire
Inactive members and beneficiaries currently
receiving benefits 589 234
Active members 374 199
Total 963 433
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A. Town pension plans (continued)

2.

Benefit provisions

Employees'
Retirement Plan

Police and Fire
Retirement Plan

Normal retirement

Public works: Age 59 1/2 with 10 years of
service

Police: Age 51 with 25 years of service

All others: Age 62 with 10 years of service

Fire: 30 years of service regardless of age

Benefit calculation

Public works: 2.2% of the average of final
salary over the period of highest 2
consecutive years' times years of service

Police members hired prior to March 18,
2013 and Fire members hired prior to March
10, 2012, the retirement benefit is calculated
at 2% of base salary plus longevity for each
year of service up to 10 years, plus 2.5% for
years 11-20, 3% for years 21-25, and 4% for
years 26-30. The maximum benefit is 80% of
base salary plus longevity.

Educational Office Professionals and
Professional and Technical Employees
and department heads: 2.275% of a
member's highest salary times years of
service

Other members: 1.25% of final salary up
to $7,800 plus 2.3% of the excess for all
other members

Service connected
disability amount

50% of the member's annual base salary
on the date of the accident or injury
reduced by any workers' compensation
benefits being received after retirement

For members hired after the dates above, the
benefit is calculated in the same way as for
previously hired employees until the period
following 25 years. After 25 years, the benefit
is calculated at 3% for each year of service
up to a maximum of 70% for Police and 75%
for Fire.

Not less than 66 2/3% of the member's
annual base salary, plus longevity on the date
of the accident.
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A. Town pension plans (continued)

Employees'
Retirement Plan

Police and Fire
Retirement Plan

connected disability
service requirement

Non-service . .
s Calculated in the same manner as Calculated in the same manner as regular
connected disability . :
regular retirement benefits retirement benefits
amount
Non-service

10 years of service

5 years of service

Death benefits as a result of an accident
occurring during the course of Town
employment will be equal to 50% of
member's highest salary.

Pre-retirement: 25% of the member's final
pay after one year of service. After five years
of service, benefits are payable equal to 1%
of final salary multiplied by years of service to
a maximum of ten years plus 1 %% of final
salary multiplied by years of service in
excess of 10 years to a maximum of 25% of
final pay.

Death benefit Death benefits from causes not related to
Town employment will be equal to the
member's accumulated contributions with
interest shall be paid to the member's Post-retirement: 75% of the member's
spouse or beneficiary, if there is no retirement benefit.  If death is incurred in the
spouse. If the member was eligible to line of duty, the benefit is equal to 50% of the
retire at the time of death, the spouse member's final salary.
may elect to receive 50% of the
member's benefit as if the member had
retired.
Cost of living Adjusted according to the US Consumer | |Adjusted according to the US Consumer
adjustments Price Index, but not to exceed 3% Price Index, but not to exceed 3%
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A. Town pension plans (continued)

3. Contributions

Employees' Police and Fire
Retirement Plan ~ Retirement Plan
Town employees 4.00% 4.75%
Town average contribution rate of
covered payroll was 26.04% 34.18%

4. Investments

a. Investment policy

The pension plans' policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may
be amended by the Joint Retirement and Investment Board by a majority vote of its members. It
is the policy of the Board to pursue an investment strategy that reduces risk through the prudent
diversification of the portfolio across a broad selection of distinct asset classes.

The following was the Board's adopted asset allocation policy for both the Employees' and
Police and Fire Retirement Plans:

Target
Asset Class Allocation
U.S. equities 28.00%
International equities 22.00%
U.S. bonds 25.00%
International bonds 10.00%
Private equity 10.00%
Real estate 5.00%
Total __100.00%

b. Concentrations

The Town's pension fund had an investment in a real estate LP fund totaling 6.32% of the
pension plans' net position.

In addition, the Town’s pension fund had an investment in a private equity LP totaling 4.56% of
the pension plans' net position.
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A. Town pension plans (continued)

c. Rate of return

Exhibit K

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage

and by adding expected inflation.

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the
pension plan's target asset allocation (see the discussion of the pension plan's investment

policy) are summarized in the following table:

Employees and
Police and Fire

Long-Term
Asset Class Expected Real

Rate of Return Weighting

U.S. equities 3.00%
International equities 6.30%
U.S. bonds 1.10%
International bonds 0.80%
Private equity 9.20%
Real estate 5.50%
Total

Long-Term Inflation Expectation

Long-Term Expected Nominal Return

d. Annual money-weighted rate of return

0.99%
1.39%
0.28%
0.08%
0.46%

0.28%

3.48%

2.40%

5.88%

The annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, net of pension plan

investment expense, was as follows:

Employees Police and Fire
Rate of return (8.97%) (8.96%)

The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment

expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.
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A. Town pension plans (continued)

5. Net pension liability

The components of the net pension liability were as follows:

Total pension liability

Plan fiduciary net position

Net pension liability

Plan fiduciary net position as percentage of the

total pension liability

Police

Employees and Fire
$ 263,767 $ 254,439
217,108 199,855
$ 46,659 $ 54,584
82.31% 78.55%

6. Actuarial methods and significant assumptions

The total pension liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement:

Employees Police and Fire
Valuation date July 1, 2021 July 1, 2021
Actuarial cost method Entry age Entry age
Inflation 2.40% 2.40%
Salary increases 2.40% 3.50%-4.70%
Investment rate of return 6.90% 6.90%

Mortality Rates

PubG-2010 Mortality table with
generational projection per the
MP-2020 scale

PubS-2010 Mortality table with
generational projection per the
MP-2020 scale
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A. Town pension plans (continued)
7. Changes from prior year
a. Changes in assumptions
e The discount rate was adjusted to 6.90% from 7.00%.
e The mortality assumption was updated from Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Amount-
Weighted Mortality Tables with Scale MP-2020 to PubG-2010 and PubS-2010 Mortality
Table with generational projection per the MP-2020 scale.
b. Changes in benefit terms
There were no changes in benefit terms.

8. Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was as follows:

Employees Police and Fire
Discount rate 6.90% 6.90%

The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that Town contributions will be made
at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member
rate. Based on those assumptions, the pension plans’ fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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A. Town pension plans (continued)
9. Changes in the net pension liability

The Town'’s net pension liability was measured at June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used
to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2021.

The changes in net pension liability for each plan for the fiscal year were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

75

(a) (b) (a) - (b)
Total Pension  Plan Fiduciary Net Net Pension
Employees' Retirement Plan Liability Position Liability
Balance at July 1, 2021 $ 256,353 $ 247,026 $ 9,327
Service cost 2,542 - 2,542
Interest 17,651 - 17,651
Differences between expected and
actual experience (1,865) - (1,865)
Changes in assumptions 2,765 - 2,765
Contributions - employer - 5,603 (5,603)
Contributions - member - 910 (910)
Net investment income - (21,695) 21,695
Benefit payments, including refunds
of member contributions (13,679) (13,679) -
Recovery expenses - (1,013) 1,013
Adminstrative expenses - (44) 44
Net change 7,414 (29,918) 37,332
Balance at June 30, 2022 263,767 $ 217,108 $ 46,659
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A. Town pension plans (continued)

Increase (Decrease)

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Total Pension  Plan Fiduciary Net Net Pension

Police and Fire Retirement Plan Liability Position Liability
Balance at July 1, 2021 $ 229,469 $ 225708 $ 3,761
Service cost 3,257 - 3,257
Interest 15,829 - 15,829
Differences between expected and
actual experience 16,328 - 16,328
Changes in assumptions 3,002 - 3,002
Contributions - employer - 6,006 (6,006)
Contributions - member \ - 916 (916)
Net investment income - (18,356) 18,356
Benefit payments, including refunds
of member contributions (13,446) (13,446) -
Recovery expenses - (933) 933
Adminstrative expenses - (40) 40
Net change 24,970 (25,853) 50,823
Balance at June 30, 2022 $ 254,439 $ 199,855 $ 54 584

10. Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the current discount rate as well as
what the Town's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
Discount 1% Discount 1%
Net pension liability Rate Decrease Rate Increase
Employees 6.90% $ 77,548 $ 46,659 $ 20,660
Police and Fire 6.90% 87,924 54 584 27,097
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A. Town pension plans (continued)

11. Pension expense and deferred outflows and inflows of resources

Exhibit K

The Town recognized pension expense of $4,149 for the Town Employees’ Plan and $4,188 for the
Police and Fire Employees’ Plan. The Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred

inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Employees' Retirement Plan Outflows of Inflows of
Description of Outflows/Inflows Resources Resources Net
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 79 $ 1766 $ (1,687)
Changes in assumptions 3,407 1,220 2,187
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 11,036 - 11,036
Total $ 14,522 $ 2986 $ 11,536
Deferred Deferred
Police and Fire Retirement Plan Outflows of Inflows of
Description of Qutflows/Inflows Resources Resources Net
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 16,772 $ 3,349 $ 13,423
Changes in assumptions 8,140 2,380 5,760
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 15,350 - 15,350
Total $ 40,262 $ 5,729 $ 34,533

Changes of assumptions and experience losses (gains) are amortized over the average remaining

service period of actives and inactives in years for each of the following plans:

Plan Years
Employees' Plan 3.0
Police and Fire Plan 6.6

Actual investment earnings below (or above) projected earnings are amortized over 5 years for both

plans.
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A. Town pension plans (continued)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to pensions will be recognized in
pension expense as follows:

Year Ending Police and
June 30, Employees Fire
2023 $ 3,045 $ 6,057
2024 1,319 4,830
2025 (771) 2,587
2026 7,943 9,811
2027 - 9,490
Thereafter - 1,758
Total $ 11,536 $ 34,533

B. Defined contribution retirement savings plan

The Town administers a single employer, defined contribution plan, which covers employees hired after
April 1, 2011, who are members of various bargaining units. The plan is not included in the Town's
financial statements. The plan was approved as part of the union contracts and any subsequent
amendments would occur as part of future collective bargaining agreements.

Each employee will participate in the Town's defined contribution plan. Each employee shall be required
to contribute at least 4.00% to the plan but may contribute the maximum allowed under IRS
regulations. The Town shall match the employee's contribution up to a maximum of 5.00% for one of
the contracts and 4.00% for the remaining contracts in the Plan. The Town's contribution shall not vest
until the employee has been continuously employed for 5 years for all plans. The contributions made
by employees and employer totaled $949 and $480, respectively.

C. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement system
1. Plan description

Teachers, principals, superintendents or supervisors engaged in service of public schools are
provided with pensions through the Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (“TRS"), a cost
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Teachers’ Retirement
Board (“TRB”). Chapter 167a of the State Statutes grants authority to establish and amend the
benefit terms to the TRB. TRS issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at
www.ct.govi/trb.
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C. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement system (continued)

2. Benefit provisions

Normal retirement

Age 60 with 20 years of credited service in Connecticut, or 35 years of
credited service including at least 25 years of service in Connecticut

Benefit calculation

2.00% of the average annual salary times the years of credited service
(maximum benefit is 75% of average annual salary during the 3 years of
highest salary)

Early retirement

25 years of credited service including 20 years of Connecticut service, or
age 55 with 20 years of credited service including 15 years of Connecticut
service

Early retirement
amount

Benefit amounts are reduced by 6.00% per year for the first 5 years
preceding normal retirement age and 4.00% per year for the next 5 years
preceding the normal retirement age. Effective July 1, 1999, the reduction
for individuals with 30 or more years of service is 3.00% per year by which
retirement precedes normal retirement date.

Service connected
disability amount

2.00% of average annual salary times credited service to date of disability,
but not less than 15% of average annual salary, nor more than 50% of
average annual salary. In addition, disability benefits under this plan
(without regard to cost-of-living adjustments) plus any initial award of
social security benefits and workers' compensation cannot exceed 75% of
annual average salary.

Non-service
connected disability
service requirement

Five years of credited service

Vesting - service

10 years of service

Vesting - amount

100%

Pre-retirement death
benefit amount

Lump-sum return of contributions with interest or surviving spouse benefit
depending on length of service

3. Contributions

State of Connecticut

Per Connecticut General Statutes Section 10-183z (which reflects Public Act 79-436 as amended),
contribution requirements of active employees and the State of Connecticut are amended and
certified by the State Teachers’ Retirement Board and appropriated by the General Assembly. The
contributions are actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee
contributions and investment earnings, is expected to finance the costs of the benefits earned by
employees during the year, with any additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.

Employer (school districts)

School district employers are not required to make contributions to the plan.
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C. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement system (continued)
Employees
Each teacher is required to contribute 7.00% of their pensionable wages for the pension benefit.

4. Pension liabilities, pension expense, and deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions

The Town reports no amounts for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, and related
deferred outflows and inflows due to the statutory requirement that the State pay 100% of the
required contribution. The amounts recognized by the Town as its proportionate share of the net
pension liability, the related state support, and the total portion of the net pension liability that was
associated with the Town were as follows:

Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ -

State's proportionate share of the net pension liability
associated with the Town 320,179

Total $320,179

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020.
The Town has no proportionate share of the net pension liability.

During the year, the Town recognized pension expense and revenue of $26,810 for on-behalf
amounts for contributions to the plan by the State.

5. Actuarial assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020, using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Investment rate of return 6.90%
Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.25-6.50%, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the PubT-2010

Mottality rates Table, projected generationally with MP-2019
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C. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement system (continued)

Future cost-of-living increases - For teachers who retired prior to September 1, 1992, pension
benefit adjustments are made in accordance with increases in the Consumer Price Index, with a
minimum of 3.00% and a maximum of 5.00% per annum. For teachers who were members of
the Teachers’ Retirement System before July 1, 2007, and retire on or after September 1, 1992,
pension benefit adjustments are made that are consistent with those provided for social security
benefits on January 1 of the year granted, with a maximum of 6.00% per annum. If the return on
assets in the previous year was less than 8.50%, the maximum increase is 1.50%. For teachers
who were members of the Teachers’ Retirement System after July 1, 2007, pension benefit
adjustments are made that are consistent with those provided for social security benefits on
January 1 of the year granted, with a maximum of 5.00% per annum. If the return on assets in
the previous year was less than 11.50%, the maximum increase is 3.00%, and if the return on
the assets in the previous year was less than 8.50%, the maximum increase is 1.00%.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the 5-year period ending June 30, 2019.

Changes in assumptions and inputs
There were no changes in assumptions from the prior measurement date.
Long-term expected rate of return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage
and by adding expected inflation.

The target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric rates of return for each major class
are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term

Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
Domestic equity fund 20.00% 5.60%
Developed market international stock fund 11.00% 6.00%
Emerging market international stock fund 9.00% 7.90%
Core fixed income fund 16.00% 2.10%
Inflation linked bond fund 5.00% 1.10%
Emerging market debt fund 5.00% 2.70%
High yield bond fund 6.00% 4.00%
Real estate fund 10.00% 4.50%
Private equity 10.00% 7.30%
Alternative investments 7.00% 2.90%
Liquidity fund 1.00% 0.40%

Total 100.00%
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C. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement system (continued)

6. Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90%. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at
the current contribution rate and that State contributions will be made at rates equal to the
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those
assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate
of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability is $0 and, therefore, the change in the
discount rate would only impact the amount recorded by the State of Connecticut.

Plan fiduciary net position
Detailed information about the Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement Plan fiduciary net position is

available in the separately issued State of Connecticut Annual Comprehensive Financial Report as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2021.

D. Total pension plans

Deferred Deferred
Net Pension  Outflows of  Inflows of Pension

Liability Resources Resources Expense
Employees $ 46,659 $ 14,522 $ 2,986 $ 4,149
Police and Fire 54,584 40,262 5,729 4,188
Total $101,243 $ 54,784 $ 8715 $ 8,337

E. Other post-employment benefit plans

1.

Plan description
a. Plan administration

The Town administers three single-employer, post-retirement healthcare plans for the Town,
Police and Fire and Education for the Town of Fairfield Other Post Employment Benefits ("OPEB”)
plans. The plans are considered to be part of the Town's financial reporting entity. The Town and
Police and Fire employees’ plans are included in the Town's financial reports as Other Post-
Employment Benefit Trust Funds. The Education plan does not have assets accumulated in a
trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement No. 75. The plans do not issue stand-
alone financial reports.
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E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)
b. Plan membership

As of July 1, 2020 for Town, Police and Fire and Education, the plans’ membership consisted of:

Police
Employees  and Fire  Education

Inactive members and beneficiaries currently

receiving benefits 233 196 53
Active members 252 191 1,532
Total 485 387 1,685

2. Benefit provisions

The Town plan provides for medical, dental and life insurance benefits for all eligible Town, Police and
Fire retirees and their spouses. The Education plan provides medical and dental benefits for all
Education retirees and their spouses. Benefits and contributions are established by contract and may
be amended by union negotiations. Administration costs are financed from investment earnings.

3. Contributions

Authority: Joint Retirement and Investment Board
Amendments to contributions: Union contracts
Employer contributions:
Employees $4,288
Police and Fire 35,573
Percentage of covered payroll —
Employees 22.58%
Police and Fire 34.50%
| Group [t Contributions ]
Employer The qun's contri'butions are made based upon the
actuarially determined amount.
Employees:
Town AR i A
Public works and department heads 15.00%
TELE/ECC 13.50%
THEA 12.25%
Nurses and PETA 16.00%
Police and Fire 3.25%
Education R R T T
Noncertified paraprofessionals 16.00% for single and 25.00% for dependent
Secretaries 18.00% for single and 23.00% for dependent
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E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)
Teachers who no longer work for the Town are allowed by State Statute to participate in the Town's

group medical insurance plan until they formally begin receiving benefits from the State Teachers'
Retirement Plan. These teachers are required to contribute the cost of the insurance to the Town.

Retirees: Contributions
Town:

If hired on or before June 24, 2013, shall pay the
same as they did at time of retirement for pre-65
Public works and department heads coverage. If hired after June 24, 2013, shall pay the
same percentage as active employees for pre-65
coverage

Shall pay the same percentage as active employees
for pre-65 coverage

If hired on or before December 31, 2018, at age 65,
THEA shall contribute 13.00%. If hired on or after January 1,
2019 shall contribute same as active employees

If hired after June 30, 2010, shall pay the same
percentage as active employees for pre-65 coverage
If hired after July 1, 2006, shall pay the same
percentage as active employees for pre-65 coverage

TELE/ECC

Nurses and PETA

Professional and technical

If hired after March 18, 2013, shall pay the same

Police ;
percentage as active employees for pre-65 coverage
Fire The plan members are not required to contribute to
the plan
Education:
Noncertified paraprofessionals 100.00%
Secretaries 100.00%

4. Investments
a. Investment policy

The OPEB plans' policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be
amended by the Joint Retirement and Investment Board by a majority vote of its members. It is
the policy of the Town's Retirement Board to pursue an investment strategy that reduces risk
through the prudent diversification of the portfolio across a broad selection of distinct asset
classes.
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E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)

The following was the Board's adopted asset allocation policy for both the Employees' and
Police and Fire OPEB plans:

Target

Asset Class Allocation
U.S. equities 37.00%
Non-U.S. equities 23.00%
International bonds 20.00%
Private equity 10.00%
Real estate 10.00%
Total 100.00%

b. Concentrations

The Town's OPEB funds had an investment in a real estate LP fund totaling 9.42% of total
OPEB plans' net position.

c. Rate of return

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of OPEB plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage
and by adding expected inflation.

Best estimates of geometric means real rates of return for each major asset class included in the
OPEB plan's target asset allocation are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term
Expected Real
Asset Class Rate of Return Weighting
U.S. Equities 4.60% 1.93%
Non-U.S. Equities 7.10% 1.99%
International Bonds 0.90% 0.18%
Real Estate 5.50% 0.55%
Total ' 4.65%
Long-Term Inflation Expectation 2.40%
Long-Term Expected Nominal Return 7.05%
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E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)

Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the
employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits in force at the valuation date and
the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The
projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential
effects of legal or contractual funding limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between the
employer and plan members in the future. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective.

d. Annual money-weighted rate of return

The annual money-weighted rate of return on OPEB plan investments, net of OPEB plan
investment expense, was as follows:

Employees Police and Fire

Rate of return (14.23%) (11.79%)

The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

5. Net OPEB liability

The components of the net OPEB liability were as follows:

Police
Employees and Fire Education
OPERB liability $ 67,745 $ 87,133 $ 18,887
Plan fiduciary net position 33,443 35,943 -
Net OPEB liability $ 34,302 $ 51,190 $ 18,887
Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total OPEB liability 49.37% 41.25% 0.00%
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E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)

6. Actuarial methods and significant assumptions

Exhibit K

The total OPEB liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs,

applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

projected to the
valuation date with
Scale MP-2020

projected to the
valuation date with
Scale MP-2020

Employee Police and Fire Education
Valuation date July 1, 2020 July 1, 2020 July 1, 2020
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal
Asset valuation method 5 year smoothing 5 year smoothing N/A
Investment rate of return 7.00% 7.00% 3.54%
Initial medical trend rate 6.25% 6.25% 6.50%
Ultimate medical trend rate 4.40% 4.40% 4.40%
Inflation 2.40% 2.40% 2.40%
Put?—2010 Public Pul_)—2010 Public Pub-2010 Public
Retirement Plans Retirement Plans Retremant Plaiis
Amount-Weighted Amount-Weighted ;
: . Amount-Weighted
Mortality Tables Mortality Tables A
. . Mortality Tables
A with separate tables| |with separate tables ;
Mortality : with separate tables
for General for Public Safety
for Teachers,
Employees, Employees,

projected to the
valuation date with
Scale MP-2020

7. Changes from prior year

a. Changes in assumptions

Changes in assumptions are listed below:

Education

From To

Discount rate

2.16% 3.54%

b. Changes in benefit terms

There were no changes in benefit terms.
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Exhibit K
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)
8. Discount rate
The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was as follows:

Employees Police and Fire Education

Discount rate 7.00% 7.00% 3.54%

The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that Town contributions will be made
at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member
rate. Based on those assumptions, the OPEB plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total OPEB liability. -

The Education discount rate was based on the (municipal bond rate) for 20-year, tax exempt
general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher as of the
measurement date.

9. Changes in the OPEB liability

The Town's OPEB liabilities were measured at June 30, 2022 and the total OPEB liability used to
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2020.

The changes in OPEB liability for each plan for the fiscal year were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

(@) (b) (a) - (b)
Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Employees' OPEB Plan Liability Net Position Liability
Balance at July 1, 2021 $ 66,387 $36,496 $ 29,891
Service cost 1,225 - 1,225
Interest 4,641 - 4,641
Differences between expected and
actual experience (1,893) - (1,893)
Contributions - employer - 4,288 (4,288)
Contributions - member - 25 (25)
Net investment income - (4,738) 4738
Benefit payments, including refunds
of member contributions (2,615) (2,615) -
Adminstrative expenses - (13) 13
Net change 1,358 (3,053) 4,411
Balance at June 30, 2022 $ 67,745 $33,443 $ 34,302
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)

Police and Fire OPEB Plan

Balance at July 1, 2021

Service cost

Interest

Differences between expected and
actual experience

Contributions - employer

Contributions - member

Net investment income

Benefit payments, including refunds
of member contributions

Adminstrative expenses

Net change
Balance at June 30, 2022

Education OPEB Plan

Balance at July 1, 2021

Service cost

Interest

Changes in assumptions
Benefit payments

Net change

Balance at June 30, 2022

89

Increase (Decrease)

S| - (b) _(a)-(b)
Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary = Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability
$ 84,206 $38,517 $45,689

1,611 - 1,611

5,871 - 5,871

(753) - (753)

- 5,573 (5,573)

- 547 (547)

- (4,878) 4,878

(3,802) (3,802) -

- (14) 14

2,927 (2,574) 5,501

$ 87,133 $35,943 $51,190
Total OPEB
Liability
$ 20410
578
446
(1,831)
(716)
(1,523)
$ 18,887



Exhibit K
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)

10. Sensitivity of the OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate

1.

12,

The following presents the OPEB liability, as well as what the OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than
the current discount rate:

Total/Net Discount Current

OPEB Liability Rate 1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
Employees 7.00% $ 42829 $ 34,302 $ 27,605
Police and Fire 7.00% 62,714 51,190 42,412
Education 3.54% 20,957 18,887 17,085

Sensitivity of the OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rate

The following presents the OPEB liability, as well as what the OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the
current trend rates:

Total/Net Current

OPEB Liability Medical Trend Rate 1% Decrease Trend Rate 1% Increase
Employees 6.25% decreasingto 440% $ 26,161 $ 34,302 $ 44678
Police and Fire  6.25% decreasing to 4.40% 39,926 51,190 66,119
Education 6.50% decreasing to 4.40% 16,516 18,887 21,713

OPEB expense and deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB

For the fiscal year, the Town recognized OPEB expense as follows:

Employees' OPEB Plan $ 2972
Police and Fire OPEB Plan 3,002
Education OPEB Plan 1,562
Total $ 7,536
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)

Exhibit K

The Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to

OPEB from the following sources:

Employees OPEB Plan Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Description of Outflows/Inflows Resources Resources Net
Differences between expected and actual experience 3 - $ 1,389 $ (1,389)
Changes in assumptions 657 3,426 (2,769)
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on OPEB plan investments 3,254 - 3,254
Total $ 391 $ 4815 $ (904)
Police and Fire OPEB Plan Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Description of Outflows/Inflows Resources Resources Net
Differences between expected and actual experience 3 48 $ 1,879 $ (1,831)
Changes in assumptions 81 322 (241)
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on OPEB plan investments 2,907 - 2,907
Total $ 3,036 $ 2,201 $ 835
Education OPEB Plan Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Description of Outflows/Inflows Resources Resources Net
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 660 $ 2932 $(2,272)
Changes in assumptions 4,058 1,981 2,077
Total $ 4718 $ 4913 $ (195)
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Exhibit K
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

E. Other post-employment benefit plans (continued)

Changes of assumptions and experience losses (gains) are amortized over the average remaining
service period of actives and inactives in years for each of the following plans:

Plan Years
Employees' Plan 57
Police and Fire Employees' Plan 7.2
Education 14.6

Actual investment earnings below (or above) projected earnings are amortized over 5 years for both
plans.

Amounts reported as deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in
OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ending Police and
June 30, Employees Fire Education
2023 $ (1,044) $ 108 $ (212
2024 (965) (59) (212)
2025 (644) (213) (211)
2026 688 1,282 (177)
2027 1,061 (216) (126)
Thereafter - (67) 743
Total $ (904) $ 835 $ (195

F. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement board retiree health insurance plan
1. Plan description

Teachers, principals, superintendents or supervisors engaged in service of public schools that are
currently receiving a retirement or disability benefit through the Connecticut Teachers' Retirement
System are eligible to participate in the Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System Retiree
Health Insurance Plan (“TRS-RHIP") - a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit other post-
employment benefit plan administered by the Teachers' Retirement Board (“TRB"). Chapter 167a
Section 10-183t of the State Statutes grants authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to
the TRB. TRS-RHIP issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at
www.ct.gov/trb.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Amounts expressed in thousands)

F. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement board retiree health insurance plan (continued)

2. Benefit provisions

The Plan provides for retiree health insurance benefits. Eligibility is as follows:

Age 60 with 20 years of credited service in Connecticut, or 35 years of

acli il credited service including at least 25 years of service in Connecticut

25 years of credited service including 20 years of Connecticut service, or

Early retirement age 55 with 20 years of credited service including 15 years of Connecticut
service

Service connected

disability service No service requirement

requirement

Non-service
connected disability Five years of credited service
service requirement

Vesting - service 10 years of service

Retiree health care coverage

Any member that is currently receiving a retirement or disability benefit is eligible to participate in the
Plan. There are two types of the health care benefits. Subsidized Local School District Coverage
provides a subsidy paid to members still receiving coverage through their former employer and the
CTRB Sponsored Medicare Supplemental Plans provide coverage for those participating in Medicare,
but not receiving Subsidized Local School District Coverage.

Any member that is not currently participating in Medicare Parts A & B is eligible to continue health
care coverage with their former employer. A subsidy of up to $110 per month for a retired member
plus an additional $110 per month for a spouse enrolled in a local school district plan is provided to
the school district to first offset the retiree’s share of the cost of coverage, any remaining portion is
used to offset the district’s cost.

The subsidy amount is set by statute, and has not increased since July of 1996. A subsidy amount of
$220 per month may be paid for a retired member, spouse or the surviving spouse of a member who
has attained the normal retirement age to participate in Medicare, is not eligible for Part A of Medicare
without cost, and contributes at least $220 per month towards coverage under a local school district
plan.

Any member that is currently participating in Medicare Parts A & B is eligible to either continue health
care coverage with their former employer, if offered, or enroll in the plan sponsored by the System. If
they elect to remain in the plan with their former employer, the same subsidies as above will be paid
to offset the cost of coverage.

If a member participating in Medicare Parts A & B so elects, they may enroll in one of the CTRB
Sponsored Medicare Supplemental Plans. Active members, retirees, and the State pay equally
toward the cost of the basic coverage (medical and prescription drug benefits).
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F. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement board retiree health insurance plan (continued)

Those participants electing vision, hearing, and/or dental are required by the System’s funding policy
to pay the full cost of coverage for these benefits, and no liability is assumed by the Plan for these
benefits.

Survivor healthcare coverage
Survivors of former employees or retirees remain eligible to participate in the Plan and continue to be
eligible to receive either the $110 monthly subsidy or participate in the TRB-Sponsored Medicare
Supplemental Plans, as long as they do not remarry.

3. Contributions

State of Connecticut

Per Connecticut General Statutes Section 10-183z, contribution requirements of active employees
and the State of Connecticut are amended and certified by the State Teachers’ Retirement Board and
appropriated by the General Assembly. The State contributions are not currently actuarially funded.
The State pays for one third of plan costs through an annual appropriation in the General Fund.

Employer (school districts)

School district employers are not required to make contributions to the plan.
Employees

Each member is required to contribute 1.25% of their pensionable wages.

4. OPEB liabilities, OPEB expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB

The Town reports no amounts for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, and related
deferred outflows and inflows due to the statutory requirement that the State pay 100% of the required
contribution. The amounts recognized by the Town as its proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability, the related state support, and the total portion of the net OPEB liability that was associated
with the Town were as follows:

Town’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability $ g

State's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
associated with the Town 34,883

Total $ 34,883

The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total OPEB liability used to
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020. The
Town has no proportionate share of the net OPEB liability.
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F. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement board retiree health insurance plan (continued)

The Town recognized OPEB expense and revenue of $631 for on-behalf amounts for contributions to
the plan by the State.

5. Actuarial assumptions

The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020, using the
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Investment rate of return 3.00%

Discount rate 217%

Inflation 2.50%

+ealth care cust innd rate 5.125% decreasing to 4.50% by 2023
(Medicare)

Salary increases 3.00-6.50%, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the PubT-2010

Mortality rates Table, projected generationally with MP-2019

Year fund net position will be
depleted 2023

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the 5-year period ending June 30, 2019.

Changes in assumptions and inputs

e The discount rate was decreased from 2.21% to 2.17% to reflect the change in the Municipal
Bond Index rate.

Long-term expected rate of return

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a log-normal
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of OPEB plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation.

All the plan assets are assumed to be invested in cash equivalents due to the need for liquidity. The
expected rate of return is 2.00%. Since there have not been any changes to the asset allocation and
the recent economic downturn is expected to be temporary, the funding rate of 3.00% continues to be
used for the long-term investment rate of return as of June 30, 2021.
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F. Connecticut state teachers’ retirement board retiree health insurance plan (continued)

6. Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 2.17%. The Municipal Bond Index
Rate of 2.16% was used in the determination in the discount rate. The projection of cash flows used
to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that annual State contributions will equal the most recent 5-year average of state
contributions.

7. Sensitivity of the OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate and the health care cost trend
rate

The Town's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability is $0 and, therefore, the change in the

discount rate and health care trend rates would only impact the amount recorded by the State of
Connecticut.

8. Plan fiduciary net position
Detailed information about the Connecticut State Teachers' OPEB Plan fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued State of Connecticut Annual Comprehensive Financial Report as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2021.

G. Total OPEB plans

Deferred Deferred
Net OPEB Outflows of Inflows of OPEB
Liability Resources  Resources Expense
Employees $ 34,302 $ 391 $ 4815 $ 2,972
Police and Fire 51,190 3,036 2,201 3,002
Education 18,887 4718 4913 1,562
Total $ 104,379 $ 11,665 $ 11,929 $ 7,536
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H. Pension and other post-employment benefit plan statements

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit Trust Funds
June 30, 2022

(Thousands)
Pension Other Post-Employment
Trust Funds Benefit Trust Funds
Police Police
Employees and Fire Employees and Fire Total
Assets
Investments:
Mutual funds:
Equity $ 109,947 $ 101,293 $ 22,233 $ 25421 $ 258,894
Money market 1,767 1,626 1,580 - 4973
Bond 20,734 19,070 - - 39,804
Fixed income 51,842 47,680 6,813 7,484 113,819
Real estate LP funds 13,716 12,616 3,303 3,303 32,938
Private equity LP funds 19,102 17,570 - - 36,672
Total investments 217,108 199,855 33,929 36,208 487,100
Receivables:
Interest and dividends - - 6 27 33
Total assets 217,108 199,855 33,935 36,235 487,133
Liabilities
Accounts payable - - 100 90 190
Due to general fund - - 236 - 236
Claims payable - - 156 202 358
Total liabilities = - 492 292 784
Net Position
Restricted for:
Pension benefits 217,108 199,855 - - 416,963
OPEB benefits - - 33,443 35,943 69,386
Total net position $ 217,108 $ 199,855 $ 33,443 $ 35943 $ 486,349
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As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022
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H. Pension and other post-employment benefit plan statements (continued)

Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit Trust Funds

Additions:
Contributions:
Employer
Plan members
Total contributions
Investment income (loss):
Change in fair value of investments

Recoveries
Interest and dividends

Total investment income (loss)
Less investment expenses
Net investment income (loss)
Total additions

Deductions:
Benefits
Recovery expenses
Administration

Total deductions
Change in net position
Net position - July 1, 2021

Net position - June 30, 2022

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Exhibit K

(Thousands)
Pension Other Post-Employment
Trust Funds Benefit Trust Funds
Police Palice
Employees and Fire Employees  and Fire Total
$ 5603 § 6006 $ 4288 $ 5573 § 21470
910 916 25 547 2,398
6,513 6,922 4,313 6,120 23,868
(30,143) (26,129) (5,435) (5,644) (67,351)
3,937 3,623 - - 7,560
4,570 4,204 706 776 10,256
(21,636) (18,302) (4,729) (4,868) (49,535)
59 54 8 10 132
(21,695) (18,356) (4,738) (4,878) (49,667)
(15,182) (11,434) (425) 1,242 (25,799)
13,679 13,446 2615 3,802 33,542
1,013 933 - - 1,946
44 40 13 14 111
14,736 14,419 2,628 3,816 35,599
(29,918) (25,853) (3,053) (2,574) (61,398)
247,026 225,708 36,496 38,517 547,747
$ 217108 § 199855 § 33443 § 35943 _§ 486,349
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VI. Prior period adjustments

A. Restatement

The beginning equity for governmental activities was restated as follows:

Governmental
Net position as previously reported at June 30, 2021 $ 259,583
To record equipment financing note (231)
Net position as restated at July 1, 2021 $ 259,352

B. GASB No. 87 implementation

As a result of the implementation of GASB No. 87 a lease receivable and deferred inflows of resources

and a right-to-use leased assets and lease liability were recorded. There was no impact on beginning
net position or fund balance. The amounts recorded are as follows:

Business-Type
Activities and

Governmental Parking Authority General
Activities Fund Fund

Lease receivable $ 13,837 $ 231 $ 13,837
Deferred inflows of resources - lease related (13,837) (231) (13,837)
Capital assets:

Right-to-use leased assets 2,534 3,509 -
Long-term liabilities:

Lease liability (2,534) (3,509) -

dodkeokekk
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Property taxes

Current year levy

Prior years levy

Interest on delinquent taxes
Telecommunications access lines

Total property taxes

Intergovernmental

State grants for education
Other state grants

Total intergovernmental

Charges for services

Licenses and permits
Fines

Department and other
Rents

Lease rent

Total charges for services

Income from investments

Interest and dividends
Net change in fair value

Total income from investments
Other
Total revenues

Other financing sources

Cancellation of prior year encumbrances

Transfers in

Total revenue and other
financing sources

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues and Other Financing Sources -
Budget and Actual

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

RSI-1A

(Thousands)

Additional Variance
Original Appropriations Final with Final
Budget and Transfers Budget Actual Budget
$ 305136 $ 2,000 $ 307,136 $ 307,341 $ 205
2,000 3,000 5,000 5123 123
1,200 2,500 3,700 3,980 280

110 - 110 101 9)
308,446 7,500 315,946 316,545 599
1,112 - 1,112 1,185 73
3,825 - 3,825 5,054 1,229

4 937 - 4,937 6,239 1,302
3,729 - 3,729 3,152 (577)
229 - 229 300 71
11,478 900 12,378 12,359 (19)
1,954 - 1,954 2,217 263

- - - 554 554
17,390 900 18,290 18,582 292
1,685 - 1,685 615 (1,070)
(330) - (330) (979) (649)
1,355 = 1,355 (364) (1,719)

94 - 94 315 221
332,222 8,400 340,622 341,317 695

- - - 561 561

120 - 120 120 -

$ 332342 $ 8.400 $_340.742 $ 341998 $ 1256
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RSI-1B

(1 0f 2)
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Required Supplementary Information
General Fund
Schedule of Expenditures and Other Financing Uses -
Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)
Additional Variance
Original Appropriations Final with Final
Budget and Transfers Budget Actual Budget
General government
Administrative and general:
Board of selectmen 3 567 3 13 580 $ 580 3 -
Town clerk 608 11 619 596 23
Fair TV 79 - 79 78 1
Administrative services 95 - 95 85 10
Registrar of voters 267 2 269 265 4
Zoning board of appeals 4 - 4 4 -
Town planning and zoning commission 606 23 629 629 -
Probate court 28 - 28 24 4
Historical district commission 12 - 12 3 9
Conservation commission 838 24 862 790 72
Shelifish commission 9 - 9 5 4
Legal services 685 (124) 561 541 20
Miscellaneous contingencies 30 . 30 26 4
Retiree benefits 19,736 (130) 19,606 19,697 9
Human resources 5,687 75 5762 5,758 4
Medical benefits 10,447 - 10,447 10,437 10
Economic development commission 345 4 349 332 17
Harbor management commission 23 - 23 22 1
Total administrative and general 40,066 102 39,964 39,772 192
Other:
Private agencies 995 - 985 965 40
Private school transportation 978 17 995 995 -
Contingency 1,486 (1,486) - - -
Total other 3,459 (1,469) 1,990 1,950 40
Total general government 43,525 (1,571) 41,954 41,722 232
Finance
Finance 991 53 1,044 944 100
Purchasing 371 8 379 359 20
Assessor 809 16 825 721 104
Tax collector 603 18 621 612 9
Information systems 1,912 12 1,924 1,774 150
Board of finance 110 28 138 138 -
Unemployment compensation 355 (150) 205 154 51
Total finance 5,151 (15) 5,136 4,702 434
Public safety
Fire 14,148 646 14,794 14,794 -
Police 15,819 344 16,163 16,163 -
Animal control 348 36 384 384 -
Street lighting 504 - 504 470 34
Hydrant and water service 1,884 - 1,884 1,857 27
Emergency management 151 (1) 150 142 8
Emergency communications center 2,117 (529) 1,588 1,301 287
Total public safety 34,971 466 35,467 35,111 356
(Continued)

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Public works

Public works administration
Public works operations
Building

Engineering

Total public works
Health and welfare

Health
Human services
Solid waste and recycling

Total health and welfare

Culture and recreation

Libraries

Penfield pavilion complex
Parks and recreation
Parks department
Beaches and lifeguards
Golf courses

Total culture and recreation

Education

Debt service

Total expenditures

Other financing uses
Transfers out

Total expenditures and other
financing uses

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures and Other Financing Uses -

Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)
Additional
Original Appropriations Final
_ Budget and Transfers Budget
$ 579 $ (210) $ 369
13,265 (2,267) 10,998
760 48 808
773 29 802
15,377 (2,400) 12,977
3,207 157 3,364
674 4 678
4,235 (299) 3,936
8116 138 ___ 7878
3,800 74 3,874
192 11 203
764 38 802
- 1,981 1,981
824 (13) 811
1,895 112 2,007
7475 2,203 9678
192,084 - 192,084
24797 145 24942
331,496 (1,280) 330,216
846 9,680 10,526
5332342 =5 8400 2340742

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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RSI-1B

(2 of 2)

Variance

with Final

Actual Budget
3 367 $ 2
10,998 -
808 -

801 1
12,974 3
3,181 183
574 104
3,930 6
7,685 293
3,636 238
203 -
802 -
1,981 -
802 9
2,007 -
9,431 247
191,545 539
24,860 82
328,030 2,186
10,526 -
$ 338,556 $ 2186
(Concluded)



RSI-1C
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

The Town adheres to the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data included in the general fund financial
statements. The operating budget, which is prepared by function and department, includes proposed expenditures and the
means of financing them.

Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year.

This budget is adopted on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (modified accrual basis) with the
following exceptions:

1. The Town does not budget for as revenue or expenditures payments made for the State Teachers' pension and
OPEB by the State of Connecticut on the Town’s behalf

2. Encumbrances are reported as expenditures for the budgetary basis of accounting

Reconciliation to Exhibit D

Revenues Expenditures
Budgetary Basis - RSI-1 $ 341,317 $ 328,030
Prior year encumbrances liquidated in the current year - 3,891
Encumbrances outstanding at year end charged
to budgetary expenditures - (4,534)
State Teachers' Retirement on behalf amount 26,810 26,810
State Teachers' OPEB on behalf amount 631 631
GAAP Basis - Exhibit D $ 368,758 $ 354,828

Annually in May, the proposed budget is presented at a Representative Town Meeting, at which taxpayer comments are
obtained. Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution.

The legal level of control (the level at which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) is at the department level.

The Board of Finance is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments. However, any revisions that alter the
total expenditures must be approved at a Representative Town Meeting.

The Board of Education is authorized under state law to make any transfers required within their budget at their discretion.
Additionally, as required by the Charter, these transfers must be reported to the Board of Selectmen. Any additional
appropriations must have Board of Education and Board of Selectmen approval and, if over one-half of one percent of the
annual budget, Town Meeting approval.

Encumbrances are recognized as a valid and proper charge against a budget appropriation in the year in which the purchase
order, contract or other commitment is issued and, accordingly, encumbrances outstanding at year end are reported in
budgetary reports (RS| 1) as expenditures in the current year. Generally, all unencumbered appropriations lapse at year end,
except those for the capital projects funds and those specifically reappropriated by the Board of Finance.

There were additional appropriations from additional revenue sources made during the year of: $ 8,400
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Total pension liability
Service cost
Interest
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change in benefit terms
Changes in assumptions
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions

Net change in total pension liability
Total pension liability - July 1
Total pension liability - June 30 (a)

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer
Contributions - member
Net investment income (loss)
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions
Recovery expenses
Administration
Net change in plan fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position - July 1
Plan fiduciary net position - June 30 (b)
Net pension liability (asset) - June 30 (a)-(b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability

Covered payroll

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll

Annual money weighted rate of return, net of investment
expense

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information

Employees' Retirement Plan

Last Nine Years (1)

RSI-2A

(1) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be presented as they become available.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.

(Thousands)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liabil nd Rel i
$ 2,542 $ 3,164 $ 3,194 $ 3456 $ 3,563 $ 3843 $ 3,808 $ 3697 $ 3,590
17,651 17,476 16,548 16,357 15,956 15,179 14,744 13,426 12,900
(1,865) (1.2686) 414 (3.650) 182 (807) 1,629 (1,618) -
- 2,522 - = 3 - - - -
2,765 (2,862) 8,125 (993) (1,917) 18,592 (3.417) 12,556 -
(13,679) (17.854) (12,232) (12,180) (11.666) (10,679) (11,281) (9,952) (9.232)
7.414 1,080 16,049 2,990 6,118 26,328 5473 18,108 7,258
256,353 255,273 239,224 236.234 230,116 203,788 198,315 180,206 172,948
$ 263I7E? $ 256,353 $ 255,273 $ 239,224 $ 236,234 $ 230,116 $ 203i788 $ 198,315 $ 180,206
s 5,603 $ 5712 $ 4,852 $ 5,040 § 4,890 $ 3,781 $ 4,056 $ 4964 $ 4,935
810 982 1,043 1,135 883 1,494 1,289 1,289 1,318
(21,695) 58,075 1,509 10,012 16,159 17,851 2,215 4,703 25,733
(13,679) (17,854) (12,232) (12,180) (11,6686) (10,679) (11,291) (9,952) (9,320)
(1,013) ~ - 2 5 = - (28) (205)
(44) (143) (161) (129) (139) (194) (122) (148) (148)
(29,918) 46,782 (4.989) 3,878 10,127 12,233 (3,853) 840 22,313
247,026 200,244 205,233 201,355 191,228 178,995 182,848 182,008 158,695
$ 217.108 $ 247.0& $ 200,244 3 2051233 $ 201,355 $ 191,228 $ 178,995 $ 182,848 $ 182i008
$ 46,659 $ 9327 $ 55029 $ 33,991 $ 34,879 $ 38,888 $ 24793 $ 15467 $ (1 ,SOQ
82.31% 96.36% 78.44% B5.79% 85.24% 83.10% 87.83% 92.20% 101.00%
$ 21515 $ 25,185 $ 26,772 $ 27,907 $ 29,833 $ 30,790 $ 32,713 $ 32922 $ 34,865
216.87% 37.03% 205.55% 121.80% 116.891% 126.30% 75.79% 46.98% (5.17%)
Schedule of Investment Returns
(8.97%) 29.54% 0.60% 5.19% 8.51% 10.08% 1.21% 2.59% 16.07%
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information

Employees’ Retirement Plan

RSI-2B

Schedule of Contributions
Last Ten Years
(Thousands)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Actuarially determined contributions 5 58603 $ 5717 $ 4770 $ 5041 $ 4815 $ 3,761 $ 4,056 $ 4964 $ 4935 $ 2,961
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 5,603 5712 4,852 5,040 4,890 3,761 4,056 4964 4,935 3,772
Contribution excess (deficiency) $ - $ (5) $ 82 $ (1) $ 75 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 811
Covered payroll $ 21,515 $ 25,185 $ 26,772 $ 27,907 $ 29,833 $ 30,790 § 32713 $ 32,922 $ 34,865 $ 34,856
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 26.04% 22.68% 18.12% 18.06% 16.39% 12.22% 12.40% 15.08% 14.15% 10.82%

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Employees' Retirement Plan
Schedule of Contributions

Last Nine Years (1)

RSI-2C

2021 2020 2018 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Changes of Benefit Terms | l None I None None I None I None Mane None None None ‘
The actuarially determined contribution

ratiss Are calclatid 58 of l I July 1, 2021 | July 1, 2020 July 1, 2018 | July 1, 2017 l July 1, 2016 I July 1, 2016 l July 1, 2015 | July 1, 2015 ] July 1, 2014 |
Actuarial methods and assumptions used to determine contribufion rates:

Actuarial Cost Method | L Entry age I Entry age Entry age I Entry age l Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age I
F\mamxation Methad l Level percentage, closed | Level percentage, closed J Level percentage, closed |Level percentage. closed|Level percentage, closedILwel percentage, closed| Level dollar, open | Level dollar, cpen | Level dollar, open ]
Asset Valuation Method l [ 5 year smoothing | 5 year smaothing I 5 year smoothing I 5 year smoothing I 5 year smoothing [ § year smoathing I 5 year smoothing I 5 year smoothing | 5 year smoathing l
Inflation ] | 2.40% I 2.40% 2.60% | 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 3.00% I 3.00% 1.26% |

ol Inicisicas 2.40%, average. including | 2.40%, average, including [2.40%, average, including |2.75% - 4.50%, average, |2.75% - 4.50%, average, | 2.75% - 4.50%, average, 2.50%, average, 2.50%. average, 2.50%, average, including
i inflation inflation inflation including inflation including inflation including infiation including inflation including inflation inflation
(Investment Rate of Return (Net) 6.90% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%

i i RP-2014 Table RP-2000 Mortality Table,

Pub-2010 tables projected | Pub-2010 tables projected RP-2014 AIPIJUSIEﬂ to RP-2014 White Collar | RP-2014 _Whlte Collar RP-20147Whﬂa Coltar .I‘RFT:2E14 Table ngssl Dataset Mortality Table| combined table for nan-

Mortality Rate to the valuation date with | to the valuation date with '2::?6‘ :rzec!;dsm cale tam;g;gjeciled ::?;E 1ahl:0pzr83ectad :: ﬂ:& hbl;am' il :: lhBeB 16 !‘ '[i:b!ed:l; with | P j to valuation | annuitants and annuitants,

scale MP-2020 scale MP-2020 Yolustian caln il o Yoo o T I S0 [year s [T Lsing e YomLn date with Scale MP- | projected to the valuation

MP-2018 improvement scale improvement scale improvement scale Scale MP-2015 2015 date with Scale AA

(1) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additianal years will be presented as they become available.
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Total pension liability
Service cost
Interest
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in benefit terms
Changes in assumptions
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions

Net change in total pension liability
Total pension liability - July 1
Total pension liability - June 30 (a)

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer

Contributions - member

Net investment income (loss)

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions
Recovery expenses

Administration

Net change in plan fiduciary net position

Plan fiduciary net position - July 1
Plan fiduciary net position - June 30 (b)
Net pension liability - June 30 (a)-(b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension
liability

Covered payrall

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll

Annual money weighted rate of return, net of investment expense

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information

Police and Fire Employees’ Retirement Plan
Last Nine Years (1)

RSI-3A

(Thousands)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

$ 3257 $ 3,516 $ 3238 $ 3342 $ 3303 $ 2882 $ 2674 $ 2596 $ 2520
15,829 16,073 14,984 14,505 14,135 14177 13,749 13,036 12,630
16,328 (4,339) 3,720 2,085 634 (3,510) 2,519 (4,108) -

¥ " - (25) = = - = -

3,002 (2,289) 8,539 (1,250) (1,445) 9,630 (2,870) 8,308 -
(13,448) (18,852) (11,686) (11,718) (11,062) (10,349) (10,779) (10,034) (9,610)
24,970 (5,891) 18,795 6,939 5,565 12,830 5,293 9,798 5,540
229 469 235,360 216,565 209,626 204,061 191,231 185,938 176,140 170,600

$ 254 439 $ 229 469 $ 235,360 $ 216,565 $ 209,626 $ 204,061 $ 191,231 $ 185,938 $ 176,140
$ 6,006 $ 6,223 $ 4812 $ 4,660 $ 4280 $ 3,355 $ 3341 $ 5092 $ 3955
916 880 864 793 726 741 770 623 589
(18,356) 53,416 1,674 9,937 14,938 16,471 2,054 4,475 24,665
(13,446) (18,852) (11,686) (11,718) (11,062) (10,349) (10,779) (10,034) (9,616)
(933) - . - - - C (43) (197)
(40) (134) (153) (112) (125) (175) (113) (152) (133)
(25,853) 41,533 (4,589) 3,560 8,757 10,043 (4,727) (39) 19,263
225,708 184,175 188.764 185,204 176,447 166,404 171,131 171,170 151,907
$ 199 855 $ 225,708 $ 184,175 $ 188,764 $ 185,204 $ 176,447 $ 166,404 $ 171,131 $ 171,170
$ 54584 $ 3761 $ 51,185 $ 27801 $ 24422 $ 27614 $ 24827 $ 14,807 $ 4970
78.55% 98.36% 78.25% 87.16% 88.35% 86.47% 87.02% 92.04% 97.18%

$ 17,572 $ 17,128 $ 16,892 $ 16,302 $ 16,396 $ 16,319 $ 15,905 $ 14,072 $ 14,283
310.63% 21.96% 303.01% 170.54% 148.95% 169.21% 156.10% 105.22% 34.80%

Schedule of Investment Returns
(8.96%) 29.84% 1.00% 5.20% 8.54% 10.03% 1.19% 2.62% 16.05%

(1) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be presented as they become available.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Actuarially determined contributions

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution

Contribution excess (deficiency)
Covered payroll

Confributions as a percentage of covered payroll

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Required Supplementary Information
Police and Fire Employees’ Retirement Plan

Schedule of Contributions
Last Ten Years

RSI-3B

(Thousands)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
$ 6,006 $ 6,223 $ 4812 S 4656 $ 4284 $ 3,355 $§ 3,341 $ 5092 $ 3,920 $ 1,664
6,006 6,223 4812 4 660 4,280 3,355 3,341 5,092 3,955 1,664
$ - 3 - $ - $ 4 $ (4) $ - $ - $ - $ 35 $ -
$17,572 $ 17,128 $16,892 $16.302_ $ 16,396 $ 16,319 $ 15,905 3 14.072 $14,283 $ 14,283
34.18% 36.33% 28.49% 28.59% 26.10% 20.56% 21.01% 36.19% 27.69% 11.65%

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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RSI3C
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Notes to Required Suppl y Inf ti
Police and Fire Employees’ Retirement Plan
Schedule of Contributions
Last Nine Years (1)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2018 2015 2014
Changes of Benefit Terms I | None None None None None None None None None
The actuarially determined contribution
et are: calsilatad aa /ot July 1, 2021 July 1, 2020 July 1, 2018 July 1, 2017 July 1, 2016 July 1,2016 July 1, 2015 July 1, 2015 July 1, 2014
Actuarial methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial Cost Method | | Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age
Amocﬁzéljun Method Level percentage, closed | Level percentage, closed | Level percentage, closed |Level percentage, closed|Level percentage, closed|Level percentage, closed Level dollar, open Level dollar, open Level dollar, open
Asset Valuation Method 5 year smoothing 5 year smoothing 5 year smoothing 5 year smoothing 5 year smoothing 5 year smoothing 5 year smoothing 5 year smoothing § year smoothing
Infiation 2.40% 2.40% 2.60% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 3.00% 3.00% 1.25%
— 3.5% - 4.7%, average , | 3.5% - 4.7%, average , | 3.5% - 4.7%, average , | 3.6%-4.7% , average, ai':g%; ::cﬁm' ;':‘g%; ::cf:h' 2.0% -2.50%, average, | 2.0% -2.50%, average, 2.5%, average,
it Allol including inflation including inflation including inflation including inflation i‘r’m'a“an a .&:fanon i including inflation including inflation including infiation
Investment Rate of Return (Net) 6.80% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%
RP-2000 Mortality
Pub-2010 tables Pub-2010 tables RP-2014 Adjusted to RP-2014 Adjusted to RP-2014 White Collar RP-2014 White Collar | RP-2014 Table Dataset | RP-2014 Table Dataset| Table, combined table
Mortality Rat ro‘ecl:ed o the valauatiun riectsd 1o the valuafish 2008, projected lo 2008, projected 1o table projected to the table projected to the |Mortality Table projected|Mortality Table projected| for non-annuitants and
ey RS ‘;al'e oy :ﬂla o) ';afe o seale MP-2020 | véluation date with Scale |valuation date with Scale| year 2020 using the BB | year 2020 using the B8 | to valuation date with | to valuation date with | annuitanls, projected to
L ey MP-2018 MP-2017 improvement scale improvement scale Scale MP-2015 Scale MP-2015 the valuation date with
Scale AA

(1) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be p

d as they b
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Town's proportion of the net pension liability
Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability

State of Connecticut's proportionate share of the net pension liability
associated with the Town

Total
Town's covered payroll

Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability as
a percentage of its covered payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability

Contractually required contribution (1)

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution
Contribution deficiency (excess)

Town's covered payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

(1) Local employers are not required to contribute to the plan

(2) Notapplicable since 0% proportional share of the net pension liability

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Required Supplementary Information

Connecticut State Teachers' Retirement System
Last Eight Years (3)

RSI-4A

(Thousands)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
$ - ] - $ - 3 - $ - - $ - $ =
320,179 404,262 360,022 277,598 284,890 300,561 234,535 216,781
$ 320,179 $ 404,262 $ 360,022 $ 277,598 $ 284,890 $300,561 $ 234,535 $ 216,781
(2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2)
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
60.77% 49.24% 52.00% 57.69% 55.93% 52.26% 59.50% 61.50%
Schedule of Contributions
$ - 5 - $ - $ - 5 - $ - $ - $ -
] - 5 - $ - $ - $ - 3 - $ - $ =
(2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) &
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

(3) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be presented as they become available.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Connecticut State Teach

-yt

Schedule of Contributions
Last Eight Years (1)

RSIH4B

Changes of Benefit Terms

The actuanally determined contribution rates are
calculated as of

Actuarial methods and assumptions used ta determine contribution i'alss*

|Ac1uar‘ta! Cost Method | |

Amortization Method

Remaining Amartization Period

2022 2021 2020 2018 2018 2017 2016 2015
Beginning January 1, 2018,
member contributions
increased from 6.00% to
7.00% of salary
None None None None None None None
June 30, 2020 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2016 June 30. 2016 June 30, 2014 June 30, 2014
Enlry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age Entry age
Level percent of salary, | Level percent of salary, | Level percentof salary, | Level percent of salary,
closed, grading to a level | closed, grading to a level | closed, gradingto a closed, grading to a level kevel FB::::' sdlary, (Level pe:::;:f salary, | Level pe;f::;;r adlary, |Leval p e:::;:f salary,
dallar dollar level dollar dollar
27.8 years 27.8 years 30 years 30 years 20.4 years 20.4 years 214 years 22.4 years

Asset Valuation Method

4 year smoathing

4 year smoothing

4 year smoothing

4 year smoothing

4 year smoothing

4 year smoathing

4 year smoothing

4 year smoathing

Inflation

2.50%

2.50%

2.50%

2.75%

275%

2.75%

3.00%

3.00%

‘Sala; Increases

3.00%-6.50%, average,
including inflation

3.00%-6.50%, average.
including infiation

3.25%-6.50%. average,
including infiation

3.25%-6.50%, average,
including inflation

3.25%-6.50%, average,
including inflation

3.25%-6.50%. average.
including inflation

3.75%-7.00%, average,
" including infiation

3.75%-7.00%, average,
including inflation

I;sl-of-l.iv‘mj Adjustment; | |

1.75%-3.00% based on

1.75%-3.00% based on

1.75%-3.00% based on

1.75%-3.00% based on

1.75%-3.00% based on

1.75%-3.00% based on

2.00%-3.00% based on |2.00%-3.00% based on

Investment Rate of Return (Nef)

Mortality

retirement date retirement date retirement date retirement date retirement date retirement date retirement date retirement date
6.90% 6.90% 6.90% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% B.50% 8.50%
RP-2014 White Collar | RP-2014 White Callar table | RP-2014 White Callar | RP-2014 White Collar " RP-2000 Combined
pm;"::;?;;;ﬂ;"y prog';'i’;z;;:e;ﬂﬁa“y table projectedto the | projected to the year 2020 | table projectsd to the | table projected to the M:&ﬁ:ﬂgggmg‘eﬁe 4| Mortaity Table
with MP-2018 with MP-2019 year 2020 using the BB | using the BB improvement |year 2020 using the BB| year 2020 using the BB 19 years using scale AA projected 19 years

improvement scale

scale

improvement scale

improvement scale

using scale AA

(1) This schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.

Additional years will be presented as they become available.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information

Employees’ Other Post-Employment Benefit ("OPEB") Plan

2022

Last Six Years (1)
(Thousands)

2021

2020

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

OPEB liability
Service cost $ 1,225 $ 1,206
Interest 4,641 4,648
Changes of benefit terms - -
Differences between expected and actual experience (1,893) (314)
Changes in assumptions - (2,721)
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (2,615) (3,143)
Net change in total OPEB liability 1,358 (324)
OPERB liability - July 1 66,387 66,711
OPERB liability - June 30 (a) $ 67,745 $ 66,387
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer $ 4,288 $ 3494
Contributions - member 25 101
Net investment income (4,738) 8,510
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (2,615) (3,143)
Administration (13) (20)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (3,053) 8,942
Plan fiduciary net position - July 1 36,496 27,554
Plan fiduciary net position - June 30 (b) $ 33443 $ 36,496
Net OPEB liability (asset) - June 30 (a)-(b) $ 34,302 $ 29,891
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 49.37% 54.97%
Covered payroll $ 18,994 $ 18,994
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 180.59% 157.37%

Annual money weighted rate of return, net of investment expense

Schedule of Investment Returns

(14.23%)

31.14%

§ 1141
4,298

(261)
1,387
__(3229)

3,336
63,375

$ 66,711
e
$ 5,606
94

1,015
(3.229)

_ 5
3,481
24,073

$ 27554

$ 39,157

41.30%
$ 19616

199.62%
_—

4.14%

(1) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be presented as they become available.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.

_ 2018

$ 1,194
4,741
(3,329)
(3.320)
(764)

(3,071)
(4,549)

67,924

$ 63,375

—_—

$ 43820
29

773
(3.071)

_
2,547

21,526

_2018

$ 1,359
4,555

(261)

(2,852)
2,801

__ 65123

$§ 67,924

$ 4,700
22

1,126
(2.852)

(11)
2,985

18,541

$ 24073

$ 21,526

$ 39,302 S 46,398
37.99% 31.69%
§ 18,907 $ 20178
207.87% 229.97%

3.52%
_—

4.31%

RSI-5A

_2017

$ 1,297
4,361

(148-)

@72
2,788

62395

$ 65,123

$ 4,482

2,034
(2.722)
prrma{4)

3,780

14,761

$ 18,541
§ 46,582

28.47%
$ 19,447

239.53%
_—

11.81%
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RSI-5B
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information
Police and Fire Employees' Other Post-Employment Benefit ("OPEB") Plan
Last Six Years (1)

(Thousands)

2022 2021 2020 2018 2018 2017
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

OPERB liability
Service cost $ 18611 $ 1615 $ 1,530 $ 1,482 $ 1517 § 1,449
Interest 5,871 5673 5,337 5,308 5,073 4,830
Changes of benefit terms - - - (311) - -
Differences between expected and aclual experience (753) (960) (889) (1,305) (239) 204
Changes in assumptions - 162 907 (726) - -
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (3,802) (3,456) (2,984) (2,959) (2,979) (3,186)
Net change in total OPEB liability 2,927 3,034 3,901 1,490 3372 3,297
OPERB liability - July 1 84,206 81,172 77,271 75,781 72,409 69,112
OPERB liability - June 30 (a) $ 87.133 $ 84,206 $ 81,172 $ 77271 $ 75781 $ 72409
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer $ 5573 § 4,048 $ 6,363 $ 4,960 $ 4,850 $ 4755
Contributions - member 547 529 605 531 509 520
Net investment income (4,878) 8,187 983 737 1,682 1,609
Benefit payments, including refunds of member confributions (3,802) (3,456) (2,984) (2,959) (2,979) (3.186)
Administration (14) (16) (5) (4) (8) (14)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (2,574) 9,292 4,962 3,265 4,054 3,684
Plan fiduciary net position - July 1 38,517 29,225 24263 20,998 16,944 13,260
Plan fiduciary net position - June 30 (b) $ 35943 § 38517 $ 29225 § 24263 $ 20,998 $ 16,944
Net OPEB liability (asset) - June 30 (a)-(b) § 51,190 § 45689 § 51947 5 53,008 $ 54783 $ 55,465
Plan fiduciary net pasition as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 41.25% 45.74% 36.00% 31.40% 27.71% 23.40%
Covered payroll $ 16,152 $§ 16,152 § 16,776 $ 16,169 $ 17,539 $ 16,905
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 316.93% 282.87% 309.65% 327.84% 312.35% 328.10%
Schedule of Investment Returns
Annual money weighted rate of return, net of investment expense (11.79%) 29.81% 4.15% 3.52% 8.92% 11.81%

(1) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be presented as they become available.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Actuarially determined contributions

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution

Contribution excess (deficiency)
Covered payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

Actuarially determined contributions

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution

Contribution excess (deficiency)
Covered payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

N/A - Not available

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information

Other Post-Employment Benefit ("OPEB") Plans

Schedule of Contributions

Last Ten Years

RSI-5C

(Thousands)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Employees' Plan
§ 4375 § 4375 $ 4,260 $ 4,822 $ 4703 3 4,482 $ 4,282 $ 4633 $4,430 $ 4,231
4,288 3,494 5,606 4,820 4,700 4,482 4,534 4777 4.590 4,332
$ (87) $ (881) $ 1346 $ (2) 3 (3) $ - $ 252 $ 144 $ 160 $§ 101
$ 18,994 $ 18,994 $ 19,616 $ 18,907 $20,176 $ 19447 $ 18,744 $17.851 N/A $17,798
22.58% 18.40% 28.58% 25.49% 23.30% 23.05% 24.19% 26.76% N/A 24.34%
Police and Fire Employees' Plan
3 5284 $ 5,284 $ 5,149 5 4,961 $ 4847 $ 4755 $ 4549 $ 4,750 $4.,548 $ 4416
5,573 4,048 6,363 4,960 4,850 5,275 4,747 4,861 4,659 4,535
$ 289 $ (1,236) 5 1,214 5 (1) 3 3 3 520 $ 198 $ 111 $ 111 $ 119
$ 16,152 $ 16,152 $ 16,776 $ 16,169 $17,539 § 16,905 $ 16,294 $14,607 N/A $ 14,283
34.50% 25.06% 37.93% 30.68% 27.65% 31.20% 29.13% 33.28% N/A 31.75%
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Employee and Police and Fire

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

* Other Post-Empl

Benefit (OPEB) Plans

RSISD

Changes of Benefit Terms

The actuarally determined contribution

rates are calculated as of

Actuarial methods and assumptions used to determine contribufion rates:

Actuarial Cost Method

Amortization Method

Schedule of Contributions
Last Nine Years (1)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
None None None None None None None None None
July 1, 2020 July 1, 2020 July 1, 2018 July 1, 2017 duly 1, 2016 July 1, 2016 July 1,2014 July 1, 2014 July 1,2012
Entry age normal Eniry age normal Entry age normal Entry age normal Entry age normal Eniry age normal Projected unit credit | Projected unit credit |  Projected unit credit
Level percentage Leve| percentage Level percentage Level percentage Level percentage Level percentage Level dallar Level dollar Level doliar

Asset Valuation Method

5 year smoothing

5 year smoothing

§ year smoothing

5 year smoothing

5 year smoaothing

5 year smoothing

5 year smoothing

5 year smoathing

5 year smoothing

Healthcare Inflation Rate - Initial

Healthcare Inflation Rate - Ultimate

Salary Increases

Investment Rate of Return (Net)

6.25% 6.25% 7.00% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 9.00% 2.00% 9.00%
4.40% 4.40% 4.80% 4.75% 4.75% 4.75% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
2.75% - 12.75% 2.75% - 12.75% 2.75% - 12.75% 2.75% - 12.75% 275% - 12.75% 2.75% - 12.75% 2.75% - 12.75% 2.75% - 12.75% 2.50% - 6.50%
7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%

Mortality Rate

Pub-2010 tables projected
to the valuation date with
scale MP-2020

Pub-2010 tables
projected to the
valuation date with
scale MP-2020

RP-2014 adjusted 1o 2006
Blue Collar Mortality Table
projected to valuation
date with Scale MP-2018

RP-2014 adjusted to

RP-2014 adjusted to

2006 with g i 2006 with g
moriality improvement to | mortality improvement ta
current year under current year under
Projection Scale MP- Projection Scale MP-
2018 2016

RP-2014 adjusted to
2006 with generational
moriality impravement to
current year under
Projection Scale MP-2016

RP-2014 Table Dataset
Mortality Table projected
to valuation date with
Scale MP-2015

RP-2014 Table
Dataset Mortality
Table projected to
valuation date with

Scale MP-2015

RP-2000 Mortality Table.
combined table for non-
annuitants and
annuitants, projected to
the valuation date with
Scale AA

(1) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be presented as they become available.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Required Supplementary Information

Education Other Post-Employment Benefit ("OPEB") Plan
a Last Five Years (1)

RSI-6

(Thousands)
Schedule of Changes in OPEB Liability
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

OPERB liability

Service cost $ 578 $ 692 $ 516 $ 453 $ 458

Interest 446 501 629 652 613

Differences between expected and actual experience - (3,234) (64) 904 (212)

Changes in assumptions (1,831) 816 4206 (292) (520)

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (716) (696) (689) (754) (471)

Net Change in OPEB liability (1,523) (1,921) 4,598 963 (132)
OPERB liability - July 1 20,410 22,331 17,733 16,770 16,902
OPEB liability - June 30 * $ 18,887 $ 20410 $ 22,331 $ 17,733 $ 16,770

* There are no assets that are being accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in GASB No. 75 to pay benefits.

Covered employee payroll information is not available.

(1) This schedule is intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be presented as they become available.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Required Supplementary Information

Connecticut State Teachers' Retirement Board Retiree Health Insurance Plan

Town's proportion of the net OPEB liability

Town's proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability

State of Connecticut's proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability associated with the Town

Total
Town's covered payroll

Town's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability as a
percentage of its covered payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB
liability

Contractually required contribution (1)

Contributions in relation to the contractually required
contribution

Contribution deficiency (excess)
Town's covered payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

(1) Local employers are not required to contribute to the plan

Last Five Years (3)

(Thousands)
2022 2021 2020
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability
0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
$ - $ - $ u
34,883 60,296 56,148
$ 34,883 $ 60,296 $ 56,148
- (& - 2
0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
6.11% 2.50% 2.08%
Schedule of Contributions
% - $ - $ -
$ - $ - $ -
—_a @ 2
0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

(2) Not applicable since 0% proportional share of the net OPEB liability

(3) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years.

Additional years will be presented as they become available.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.

2018

0.00%

55,494

—_—

$ 55494

—te
0.00%

1.49%

RSI-7A

2018

0.00%

73,327

$ 73327

— @
0.00%

1.79%
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Notes to Required Suppl

q

¥

Caonnecticut State Teachers' Retirement Board Retiree Health Insurance Plan
Schedule of Contributions
Last Five Years (1)

2022

2020

2019

RSI-7B

(Changes of Benefit Terms

None

None

None

None

None

The actuanally determined contribution rates
are calculated as of

June 30, 2020

June 30, 2020

June 30, 2018

June 30, 2018

June 30, 2016

Actuarial methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial Cost Method

Entry age

Entry age

Entry age

Entry age

Entry age

Amortization Method

Level percentage, closed

Level percentage, closed

Level percentage. apen

Lavel percentage, open

Level percentage, open

Amortization Period 30 years 30 years 30 years 30 years 30 years
Assel Valuation Method Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value
Inflation 2.50% 2.50% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%

Healthcare Inflation Rate

Initial 5.125% decreasing to 4.50%
(ultimate) by 2023

Initial 5.125% decreasing to 4.50%
(ultimate) by 2023

Initial 5.85% decreasing to 4.75%
(ultimate) by 2025

Initial 5.95% decreasing to 4.75%
{ultimate) by 2025

Initial 7.25% decreasing to 5.00%
(ultimate) by 2022

Salary Increases

3.00% to 6.50%, including inflation

3.00% to 6.50%, including inflation

3.25% to 6.50%, including inflation

3.25% to 6.50%, including inflation

3.25% to 6.50%, including inflation

Investment Rate of Return (Net)

3.00%

3.00%

3.00%

3.00%

4.25%

Mortality Rate

PubT-2010 Table projected generationally
with MP-2018

PubT-2010 Table projected generationally|
with MP-2019

RP-2014 White Collar table projected to
the year 2020 using the BB improvement
scale

RP-2014 White Collar table projected o
the year 2020 using the BB improvement
scale

RP-2014 White Collar table projected to
the year 2020 using the BB improvement
scale

(1) These schedules are intended to present information for 10 years. Additional years will be presented as they become available.
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General Fund

The general fund is the principal fund of the Town and is used to account for all activities of the Town, except
those required to be accounted for in another fund. The general fund accounts for the normal recurring
activities of the Town (i.e., general government, finance, public safety, public works, health and welfare,
culture and recreation, education, etc.). These activities are funded principally by property taxes, user fees
and grants from other governmental units.



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

General Fund

Comparative Balance Sheet

June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

Assets

Cash
Investments
Restricted investments
Receivables:
Property taxes
Intergovernmental
Leases
Accounts
Due from other funds
Other

Total assets
Liabilities

Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Due to other funds
Unearned revenue
Performance bonds
Other

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable revenue:
Property taxes
Advance property tax collections
Leases related

Total deferred inflows of resources
Fund Balances

Committed
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

119

2022

$ 9724
54,131
5,487

7,297
382
13,261
309
6,692

$ 97,283

$ 6,990
15,219
426

126
5,487
977

29,225

—_—

7,297
3,730
12,707

——

23,734

4,534
39,790

44,324

_$ 97,283

Schedule 1

2021
(as restated)

$ 4,795
38,451
5,627

10,775
968
13,837
198
21,975
13

$ 96,539

$ 6690
13,983

200

52

5,527

1,717

28,259

10,775
2,868

13,837

27,480

——

4,228
36,572

_—

40,800

$ 96,539
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Schedule 2
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
General Fund

Report of Tax Collector
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Thousands)
Lawful Corrections Collections
Grand Uncollected Current Transfers Adjusted Net Interest, Uncollected
List Taxes Year to Amount Taxes Liens and Taxes
Year July 1, 2021 Levy Additions Deductions Suspense Collectible Collected Other fees Total June 30, 2022
2005 $ 19 3 - $ - $ 19 $ = $ = $ A $ - $ - $ -
2006 20 - 3 4 - 19 - - - 19
2007 39 - - 3 - 36 - - - 36
2008 57 - - 3 - 54 1 1 2 53
20098 79 - - 3 - 76 8 19 27 68
2010 125 - - 3 - 122 22 31 53 100
201 174 - - 3 - 171 28 45 73 143
2012 247 - - 3 - 244 54 27 81 190
2013 849 - - 3 - 846 581 712 1,293 265
2014 914 - - 3 - 911 606 623 1.229 305
2015 1,075 - - 5 91 979 602 542 1,144 377
2016 1177 - - 5 - 1,172 680 458 1,138 492
2017 1,389 - 2 98 - 1,293 653 376 1.029 640
2018 1,714 - 4 98 - 1,620 818 318 1,136 802
2019 2,897 - 28 143 2 2,780 1,604 271 1.875 1,176
Subtotal 10,775 - 37 396 93 10,323 5,657 3,423 9,080 4,666
2020 - 309,953 612 1,452 23 BbQ,UQD 306,458 546 307.005 2,631
Total § 10.775 $ 309.953 S 649 $ 1848 § 116 $ 319,413 $ 312,116 $ 3,969 $ 316,085 $ 7,297




Special Revenue Funds

Other
Governmental

Funds
R R S W T P VU PR TS T P |

Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are
restricted committed, or assigned to expenditures for specific purposes. The nature and purpose of each

Special Revenue Fund is as follows:

Fund

Funding Source

Function

Special Assessments

Sewer and beach
assessments

Accumulation of resources for
debt retirement

Community Development Block Grant

Federal grant

Community development programs

Special Education

State and Federal grants,
custodial fees, continuing
education and summer
school programs

School related programs

Recreation

User fees

Recreation programs

ECC/Public Safety

State and Federal grants/
charges for services
and contributions

Public safety programs

Shellfish

Permit fees

Stocking shellfish beds

Affordable Housing

Permits and fees

Support the Town’s affordable
housing programs

ARPA

Federal grant

Pandemic related costs and
approved projects

Public School Lunch

Sale of food and grants

School lunch program

School Activity

Activity fees and
contributions

Student activity funds and school
scholarships

‘|Water Pollution Control Authority

Sewer use fees

Sanitary sewer operations

Miscellaneous Grants

State and Federal grants,
and public health
administrative charges

Health, law enforcement, and
public safety programs

Downtown Parking

Parking fees

Downtown employee parking and
Fairfield Center improvements

Donations

Private donations

Various




Other Governmental Funds

Debt Service Fund

The Debt Service Fund accounts for the payment of principal and interest on long-term debt of the Town.

Permanent Funds

Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings,
not principal, may be used for purposes that support the reporting Town's programs.

Fund

Funding Source

Function

H. Smith Richardson Conservation Fund

Contributions and income
from investment

Conservation

Simeon and Carrie Pease Fund Contributions Education
Contributions and income
Library Fund from investment Library
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Assels

Cash

Investments

Restricted investments

Receivables (net):
Assessments and use fees
Intergovernmental
Loan
Accounts

Due from other funds

Other

Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Due to other funds

Unearmned revenue
Bond anticipation notes

Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable revenue:
Sewer assessment and use charges

Fund Balances

Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances

Schedule 3

(1 0f 3)
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Other Governmental Funds
Combining Balance Sheet
June 30, 2022
(Thousands)
Special Revenue Funds
Community ECC/
Special Development Special Public Affordable ARPA
Assessments Block Grant Education Recreation Safety Shellfish Housing Fund
3 - 3 - 3 212 $ 13 $ - $ - $ - $ =
137 707 - 1,711 1,774 31 1,844 16,732
k| - - - - - - -
= - 1,094 - - - < -
- 1,868 - - - - - -
- - - 188 429 - - -
- - 426 - - - - -
3 168 $ 2,575 $§ 1732 $ 1912 $ 2,203 $ 31 $ 1,844 $ 16,732
$ - 5 76 $ 635 5 62 $ 10 $ - $ - $ 1,032
. 842 - - - - 86 -
- - 395 401 - - = -
- - - - - - 1,600
- 918 1,030 463 10 - 1,586 1,032
3 - - - - - - -
137 1,657 - - - - 258 15,700
- - 702 1,449 2,193 31 - -
137 1,657 702 1,449 2,193 31 258 15,700
$ 168 3 2,575 $ 1,732 $ 1,912 § 2,203 $ 31 $ 1,844 $ 16,732

(Continued)
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Schedule 3

(20f3)
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Other Governmental Funds
Combining Balance Sheet
June 30, 2022
(Thousands)
Special Revenue Funds
Water Total
Public Pollution Special
School School Control Miscellaneous Downtown Revenue
Lunch Activity Authority Grants Parking Donations Funds
Assels
Cash $ 2,557 $ 1,183 3 2 $ - 5 - $ - $ 3967
Investments 107 61 14,641 3,360 462 937 42,504
Restricted investments - - - - - - -
Receivables (net):
Assessments and use fees - - 912 & - < 943
Intergovernmental 731 - - 114 - - 1,939
Loan = * - - - - 1,868
Accounts 11 - - - - - 628
Due from other funds = " = - = - 426
Other 34 - - = % - 34
Total assets $ 3,440 $ 1,244 $ 15,555 $ 3474 $ 462 $ 937 $_52.309
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 301 5 - $ 397 $ 54 $ - $ 10 § 2577
Accrued payroll - - 110 = - - 110
Due to other funds 745 - - 1,426 61 164 3,324
Unearned revenue 435 - - 13 - - 1,244
Bond anticipation notes - = - - - - _ 1,500
Total liabilities 1,481 - 507 1.493 61 174 8,755
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue:
Sewer assessment and use charges - - 912 - - - 943
Fund Balances
Nonspendable - - & = = . -
Restricted 1,959 - 14,136 - - 763 34,610
Committed - 1,244 - 1,981 401 - 8,001
Assigned = - = = & e 2
Total fund balances 1,959 1,244 14,136 1.981 401 763 42 611

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances § 3.440 $ 1244 $ 15,555 $3.474 462 $ 937 $ 52309
(Continued)
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Assets

Cash

Investments

Restricted investments

Receivables (net):
Assessments and use fees
Intergovernmental
Loan
Accounts

Due from other funds

Other

Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Due to other funds

Unearned revenue
Bond anticipation notes

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable revenue:
Sewer assessment and use charges

Fund Balances

Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Other Governmental Funds
Combining Balance Sheet

June 30, 2022

Permanent Funds

(Thousands)

H. Smith

Debt Richardson

Service Conservation
Fund Fund
- $ "
4,986 -
- 420
$ 4,986 420
$ - 5 -
- 30
- 390
4,986 -
4,986 420
§ 4,086 420

Simeaon

and Carrie

Pease
Fund

20

§ 20

Library
Fund

$§ 266

7911

70
8,107

8.177

$ 8177

Total
Permanent

Funds

$ 266

8,351

120
8,497

8,617

3 8617

Schedule 3
(3 0f 3)

Total
Other
Governmental
Funds

$ 4,233
47,490
8,351

943
1,939
1.868

628

426

34

$ 65912

$ 2,577
110

3.324

1.244

1,500

8,755

943

120
43,107
8,001
4,986

56.214

$ 65912
(Concluded)
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Revenues:
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Income from investments
Net change in fair value
Contributions

Total revenues

Expenditures:

Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Education

Capital outlay

Debt service

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Issuance of debt
Premium
Transfers in
Transfers out

Net other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - July 1, 2021

Fund balances - June 30, 2022

Schedule 4

(1 0f 3)
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Other Governmental Funds
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)
Special Revenue Funds
Community ECC/
Special Development Special Public Affordable
Assessments Block Grant Education Recreation Safety Shelifish Housing ARPA
$ - 3 500 $ 10,045 $ - $ 122 $ = $ = $ 6,390
- 104 1.036 2,005 3,299 6 301 -
2 2 - - - = " &
2 604 11,081 2,005 3421 6 301 6,390
- - - - - B 543 3,105
- - - - 2,856 - - -
- 808 - - - - - "
- - - 1,713 - - - -
- - 11,082 - - - - -
- 808 11.082 1,713 2,856 6 543 3,105
2 (204) (1) 292 565 - (242) 3,285
2 (204) (1 292 565 - (242) 3,285
135 1,861 703 1,157 1,628 31 500 12,415
$ 137 $ 1.657 3 702 $ 1,449 $ 2193 3 31 $ 258 $.15700

(Continued)
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Revenues:
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Income from investments
Net change in fair value
Contributions

Total revenues

Expenditures:

Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Education

Capital outlay

Debt service

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Issuance of debt
Premium
Transfers in
Transfers out

Net other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - July 1, 2021

Fund balances - June 30, 2022

Schedule 4

(2 of 3)
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Other Governmental Funds
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)
Special Revenue Funds

Water Total

Public Pollution Special
School School Control Miscellaneous Downtown Revenue

Lunch Activity Authority Grants Parking Donations Funds
$ 4,297 - $ 51 $ 656 $ - $ - $ 22,061
631 1,348 7,723 57 147 - 16,657
- - - - - - 2
- - - 649 - 242 891
4928 1,348 7,774 1,362 147 242 39611
- - - 209 - 10 3,873
- - - 150 - 64 3,070
- - 5,550 4 52 - 5,606
- - - 429 - 53 1,290
- - - 23 - 36 1,772
3,543 1,196 - 2 - - 15,823
3,543 1,196 5.550 817 52 163 31,434
1.385 152 2,224 545 95 79 8,177
- - 120 - - - 120
u - 120 - - - 120
1,385 152 2,104 545 95 79 8,057
574 1,092 12,032 1.436 306 684 34,554
$ 1959 $ 1244 $ 14,136 $ 1,981 $ 401 $ 763 $ 42611

(Continued)
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Revenues:
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Income from investments
Net change in fair value
Contributions

Total revenues

Expenditures:

Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Education

Capital outlay

Debt service

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):

Issuance of debt
Premium
Transfers in
Transfers out

Net other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balances - July 1, 2021

Fund balances - June 30, 2022

Debt
Service
Fund

487
2,450
1,346

4,283

2,566
2420

§ 4,986

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Other Governmental Funds
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Thousands)
Permanent Funds
H. Smith Simeon
Richardson and Carrie Total
Conservation Pease Library Permanent
Fund Fund Fund Funds
$ - & - 3 = 3 =
- - 207 207
< g (1,561) (1,561)
- - 86 86
- - (1.268) (1.268)
65 - - 65
_ = 191 191
65 - 191 256
(65) - (1,459) (1,524)
- - 120 120
& = 120 120
(85) - (1,579) (1,644)
485 20 9,756 10,261
$ 420 $ 20 5 8177 8,617

Schedule 4
(3 of 3)

Total
Other
Governmental
Funds

$ 22,081
16,657

209

(1,561)

977

38,343

3,938
3,070
5,606
1,290
2,078
15,823
372
1,230

33,407
4,936

487
2,450
1,346
(240)
4,043
8,979
47,235
$ 56214

(Concluded)



Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Water Pollution Control Authority
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Schedule 5

Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)
Variance
Additional With
Original Appropriations Final Final
Budget and Transfers Budget Actual Budget
Revenues:
Charges for services $ 5813 $ = $ 5813 $ 7,704 $ 1,891
Licenses and permits 25 - 25 15 (10)
Intergovernmental 62 - 62 51 (11)
Other 15 - 15 4 (11)
Total revenues 5,915 - 5915 7,774 1,859
Expenditures:
Salaries 1,730 76 1,806 1,684 122
Benefits 1,278 - 1,278 1,261 17
Contracted services 388 (9) 379 333 46
Utilities 862 - 862 939 (77)
Repairs and maintenance 688 10 698 319 379
Materials and supplies 99 - 99 88 11
General and administrative 446 - 446 442 4
Capital outlay 235 - 235 214 21
Projects - 1,165 1,165 1,165 -
Contingency 77 (77) = - -
Other 30 - 30 26 4
Interest 82 - 82 82 -
Total expenditures 5915 1,165 7,080 6,553 527
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures - (1,165) (1,165) 1,221 1,332
Other financing sources (uses):
Cancellation of prior year encumbrances - - - 11 11
Appropriation of fund balance - 1,165 1,165 - 1,165
Transfer out - - - (120) (120)
Net other financing sources (uses) - 1,165 1,165 (109) 1,056
Net change in fund balances 3 - $ - $ - 1,112 $ 1,112
Fund balance - July 1, 2021 12,015
Fund balance - June 30, 2022 _$13127
Fund
Reconciliation to GAAP basis - Schedule 4 Expenditures Balance
Balance, budgetary basis - June 30, 2022 $ 6,553 $ 13127
Encumbrances outstanding at June 30, 2021
and June 30, 2022 - 6
Encumbrances outstanding at June 30, 2022
charged to budgetary expenditures (1,003) 1,003
Balance, GAAP basis - June 30, 2022 $ 5550 $ 14136

127
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This part of the Town's annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information as a context for
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary
information says about the Town's overall financial health.

Table Description
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader
Financial Trend (Tables 1-4) understand how the Town's financial performance and well-being

have changed over time.

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the

Revenue Capacity (Tables 5-7) Town's most significant local revenue source, the property tax.

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the
Debt Capacity (Tables 8-11) affordability of the Town's current levels of outstanding debt and the
Town's ability to issue additional debt in the future.

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to
help the reader understand the environment within which the
Town's financial activities take place.

Demographic and Economic
Information (Tables 12-15)

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the
reader understand how the information in the Town's financial
report relates to the services the Town provides and the activities it
performs.

Operating Information (Tables 16-17)

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the annual
comprehensive financial reports for the fiscal year.
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Governmental activities:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unresfricted

Total governmental activities net position

Business-type activities:
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

Total business-type activities net position

Net paosition:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

(1

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Net Position by Component

Last Ten Years

Table 1

(Thousands)
(Unaudited)
June 30,
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(as restated) (as restated)
$ 338,652 $ 331,317 $ 324,855 $ 331,317 $ 306,487 $ 297,952 $ 274,649 $ 267,658 $ 246,055 $ 246,689
51,127 38,389 20,639 38,389 11,737 8,678 7,043 6,225 4,909 3,990
(99,752) (110,354) (117,352) (114,270) (114,507) (95,397) 5,641 4,458 15,920 7,846
$ 290,027 $ 259,352 $ 228,142 $ 255,436 $ 203,717 $ 211,233 $ 287,333 $ 278,341 $ 266,884 § 258,525
568 801 921 474 540 - - - - -
1,102 901 981 1,339 1,074 - - - - -
$ 1670 § 1,702 $ 1,902 $ 1,813 $ 1614 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
339,220 332,118 325,776 331,791 307,027 297,952 274 649 267,658 246,055 246,689
51,127 38,389 20,639 38,389 11,737 8,678 7,043 6,225 4,909 3,990
(98,650) (109,453) (116,371) (112,931) (113,433) (95,397) 5,641 4,458 15,920 7,846
$ 291,697 $ 261,054 $ 230,044 $ 257,249 $ 205,331 $ 211,233 $ 287,333 $ 278,341 $ 266,884 $ 258,525

Source: Current and prior year financial statements.

(1) Parking Authority included in reporting entity beginning in 2021
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Expenses:
Governmental activities:
General government

Finance

Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare

Culture and recreation

Education

Railroad station project

Interest

Total governmental activities expenses

Business-type activities:

Parking Authority

Total expenses

Program revenues:

Governmental activities:

Charges for services
General government

Finance
Public safety
Public works

Health and welfare
Culture and recreation

Education

Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions

Total governmental activities program revenues

Business-type activities:
Parking Authority

Total program revenues

Net (expense) revenue:
Governmental activities
Business-type activities

Total net (expense) revenue

Table 2

(10f2)
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Years
(Thousands)
(Unaudited)
For the Year Ended June 30,
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(as restated)
$§ 18,741 $ 13,167 $ 13,621 § 13,305 $ 29,312 $ 27,256 $ 26,112 $ 29673 § 27542 $ 26,427
6,611 6,152 6,795 5,540 5617 6,195 5,828 5,997 4,833 4,581
50,396 46,121 57,530 55,0687 44 267 43,702 44162 38,629 34,958 35,857
27,366 44 192 33,473 30,366 27,759 29,901 29,045 28,938 32,259 28,715
11,241 9,662 10,334 9,584 9,010 10,524 10,111 7.794 7,693 8,142
13,151 11,650 11,116 11,238 10,621 10,748 10,574 7,951 8,424 9,470
242,283 232,066 234,956 227,652 229,485 222,761 201,684 192,338 186.797 186,202
_ = = - - - - 1 26 2,268
4,242 3,530 5,872 6,784 6,273 3,928 5622 6,566 6.916 8,802
374,031 366,540 373,697 359,536 362,344 355,015 333,238 317,917 310.448 310,564
1

996 962 1,077 1,131 1,203 - - - - -
375,027 367,502 374,774 360,667 363,547 355,015 333,238 317,917 310,448 310,564
5,310 5,987 2,966 2,942 2,554 3,148 3,131 3,487 2,810 2978
- - - - - - 94 62 72 39
4,002 12,027 12,022 11,188 10,304 9,082 B,268 8,682 7,738 7,049
13,994 3,697 4,063 4,849 3,338 4,644 3,949 3,413 5,134 3,819
605 4,226 3,846 4,249 4,139 3,402 3,645 3,407 3,136 3,613
7.944 7,293 5,067 8,200 4,238 4,178 4,039 3,541 3,168 3,607
3,015 1,710 2720 3,848 3,744 3,403 3,256 3,482 3,969 3,798
47 460 42 377 39,603 40,260 49 104 486,104 33,483 30,912 32,428 32,636
9,023 17,938 5,748 7,689 2,566 15,151 6,332 2,603 4,842 6,256
91,353 95,255 76,035 81,225 79,987 89,113 66,197 59,589 63,298 63,695

(1)

951 762 1,159 1,310 1,283 - - - - -
92,304 96,017 77,194 B2,535 81,270 89,113 66,197 58,589 63,208 63,685
(282,678) (271,285) (297 662) (278,311) (282,357) (265,902) (267,041) (258,328) (247,150) (246,869)

(45) (200) 82 179 80 - - E - -
(282,723) (271,485) (297,662) (278,311) (282,357) (265,902) (267,041) (258,328) (247,150) (245 869)

(Continued)
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Table 2

(20f2)
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut
Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Years
(Thousands)
(Unaudited)
For the Year Ended June 30,
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(as restated)
General revenues and other changes
in net position:
Governmental activities:
Property taxes $ 311.079 $ 295831 $ 294147 $286,631 $ 278,531 $273,452 $271,359 $ 264,619 $ 257,832 $251,945
Grants and contributions not restricted
to specific programs 3,368 2,276 2,907 2,393 2,292 3,696 3,073 3,753 3,860 3,526
Income from investments (1,716) 3,334 3,099 3,648 1,181 336 1,419 524 1,120 550
Other 622 261 828 555 650 209 182 185 144 193
Total general revenues 313,353 301,702 300,981 293,127 282,654 277,693 276,033 269,081 262,956 256,214
Business-type activities: (1)
Income from investments 13 - - - - N w “ < u
Extraordinary item - asset impairment gain,
net of insurance discovery - - - - - - - 704 - -
Change in net position:

Governmental activities 30,675 30,417 3,319 14,818 297 11,791 8,992 11,457 15,806 9,345
Business-type activities (32) (200) 82 179 80 = - - - -
Change in net position $ 30643 $ 30,217 $ 3,401 $ 14,995 $ 377 $ 11,791 $ 8992 $ 11457 $ 15,806 $ 9,345

(Concluded)

Source: Current and prior year financial statements.

(1) Parking Autharity included in reporting entity beginning in 2021
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Table 3

Governmental Funds
Last Ten Years
(Thousands)
(Unaudited)
June 30,
2022 2021 2020 __ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(as restated)

General fund:

Committed $ 4534 $ 4,228 $ 5285 $ 1,324 2,508 $ 18619 $ 825 $ 863 $ 815 $ 1398

Unassigned 39,790 36.572 34,819 34,688 32,142 27,839 27,435 24,260 21,168 17.408
Total general fund 44,324 40,800 40,104 36,012 34,651 29,458 28,260 25,123 21,983 18,806
All other governmental funds:

Nonspendable 120 120 120 120 70 70 70 70 70 70

Restricted 51,007 38,269 20,519 18,190 11,667 8,608 6,973 6,155 4,839 3,920

Committed 23,747 27,690 7.761 3,424 2,670 2,715 2,526 2,436 2,234 1,781

Assigned 4,986 2,420 387 6,509 5,391 5,154 2,426 634 2,236 3,220

Unassigned (5.039) (18,172) B (5.706) (8,143) (7.695) (10,205) (13,165) (814) (12.082)
Total all other governmental funds 74,821 50,327 32,271 22,537 11,655 8.852 1,790 (3.870) 8,565 (3,101)
Grand total $ 119,145 $§ 91127 § 72375 $ 58,549 46,306 $ 38310 $ 30,050 $ 21,253 $ 30,548 $ 15705

_— =

Source: Current and prior year financial statements.
Notes:
General fund:

Committed Increased due to increase in continued appropriations

Unassigned Increased due to positive operations
All other governmental funds:

Restricted Increased due to increase in construction commitments and positive operations of the sewer fund

Committed Increased due to ARPA grant funds received and remediation commitments

Assigned Increased due to increase in debt service fund balance

Unassigned Increased due to timing of capital projects expenditure and related financing
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Revenues:
Property taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Income from investments
Net change in fair value
Contributions
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures:

Current:
General government
Finance
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Education

Capital outlay

Debt service:
Principal
Interest

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Issuance of debt
Issuance of refunding bonds
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Premium
Capilal lease
Insurance proceeds
Transfers in
Transfers out

Net other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances

Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expendilures

Source: Current and prior year financial statements.

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Governmental Funds
Changes in Fund Balances

Table 4

Last Ten Years
(Thousands)
(Unaudited)
For the Year Ended June 30
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

$ 316,545 $ 298,261 $ 290,580 $ 284 491 $ 277,956 $ 271812 $ 270,365 $ 263,941 $ 256,634 $ 250,020
58,874 61,427 47,590 49 691 53,577 54671 42933 36,393 41,328 42 686
35,239 34,807 30,566 32,984 30,321 28,069 26,861 26,209 26,609 24 820
824 1,277 3,099 3,548 1,181 336 1419 524 1.120 550
(2,540) 2,057 - - - - - - - -
977 1,164 668 651 478 336 253 1,186 126 66

622 261 828 555 650 208 182 185 144 193
410,541 399,254 373.341 371.920 364,163 355,433 342,013 328,438 325,960 318,335
45,607 40,510 41,609 39,804 38,020 35,012 35,251 38,064 - 26,490
4,582 4,764 5,182 4,198 4424 4,850 4,920 5,044 4,653 4,478
38,142 36,539 36,164 36,070 35,448 33,981 34,075 32477 35,999 36,033
18,227 19,573 22327 23,519 21,247 24,824 23,458 23,003 23,309 24,134
8,966 8,450 8485 8,096 7.789 9,157 9128 6,994 7.841 8.258
11,524 8,327 8,370 9,027 8,398 8,985 8,938 8,276 8,933 8,303
234,725 224,165 216,107 212,918 215,687 206,177 190,890 183,041 182,167 176.951
24,581 39,063 19,081 22,252 11,454 13,425 22,817 21,908 5,654 12,040
20,722 21,446 18,835 16,642 16,406 , 17,353 17,353 16,548 14,713 14,116
5,368 4,556 6,598 8,231 7,240 6,396 7,398 8,261 8.644 9,142
412 444 407,393 382,758 380.857 366,113 360.160 354,326 343,616 291,913 319,945
(1,903) (8.139) (9.417) (8,837) (1,950) (4,727) (12,313) (15,178) 34.047 (1.610)
27 471 24,097 21,943 14,453 6.665 11,147 20,311 3312 8,188 37,600
- - 18,865 - - - 26,840 24,240 10,555 -

- - (20,248) - - - (29,248) (25,924) (11,074) -

2,450 1,770 2,683 437 1,080 1,840 3,205 2,167 887 3,132

- - - - - - - - - 274

- - - - - - - 2,088 - -

10,766 10,013 2,355 B,279 3,135 2128 1,700 3,339 4,685 3,700
(10,766) (10,013) (2,355) (8.279) (3,135) (2.128) (1,700) (3.339) (4.685) (3,700)
28,921 25,867 23,243 14,880 7.755 12,987 21,110 5,883 8,536 41,006
$ 28,018 $ 17,728 $ 13,826 $ 5953 $ 5805 $  8.260 $§ 8797 $  (9,295) $ 42,583 $ 39,396
6.67% 7.16% 6.98% 7.00% 7.00% 6.91% 6.98% 7.80% 8.18% 7.27%
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Table 5
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Assessed and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Years
(Thousands)
(Unaudited)
Real Property Personal Property Total
Percentage
of Total
(1) (2) 3 I ) Assessed e

Value to Total

Year Net Estimated Net Estimated Net Estimated Total Direct

Ended Assessed Actual Assessed Actual Assessed Actual Estimated Tax

June 30 Value Value Value Value Value Value Actual Value Rate
2013 $ 10,133,965 $ 14,477,093 $ 787,754 $1,125,363 $ 10,921,719 $ 15,602,456 70.00% 23.37
2014 10,150,146 14,500,209 803,540 1,147,914 10,953,686 15,648,123 70.00% 23.93
2015 10,154,157 14,505,939 834,462 1,192,089 10,988,619 15,698,028 70.00% 24.40
2016 10,199,908 14,571.297 852,048 1.217,211 11,051,956 15,788,508 70.00% 24.79
2017 9,973,621 14,248,030 807,813 1,154,019 10,781,434 15,402,049 70.00% 25.45
2018 10,039,769 15,061,160 818,218 1,168,883 10,857,987 16,230,043 70.00% 25.82
2019 10,058,837 15,089,764 817,476 1,167,823 10,876,313 16,257,587 70.00% 26.36
2020 10,141,632 15,291,966 833,256 1,190,366 10,974,888 16,482,332 70.00% 26.79
2021 10,213,475 15,245,837 871,237 1,244,624 11,084,712 16,490,461 70.00% 26.79
2022 10,684,301 15,263,287 1,006,050 1,437,214 11,690,351 16.70-0,501 70.00% 26.98

Source: Town of Fairfield, Assessor's Office

Notes:

(1) Assessed values are net of exemptions; real property revalued as of October 2015 Grand List.

(2) Since real property is valued once every five years, sales ratios from the Office of Policy and Management are used to estimate current values
(3) Includes personal property, motor vehicle and supplemental motor vehicle assessments.

(4) Assessment ratio, which is 70% of market value, is used to estimate market value since personal properly is revalued every year.

(5) There are no overlapping tax rates for the Town of Fairfield.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Principal Property Taxpayers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Table 6

Nature of
Name Business
Aquarion Water Company Water Utility
United llluminating Company Electric Utility
Connecticut Light & Power dba Eversource Public Utility
Southern Connecticut Gas Company Gas Utility

1401 King LLC

NNN Auto Owner IV LLC
T-C Kings Crossing LLC
Toyota Lease Trust

BRCD Holdings LLC

JP Morgan Chase

General Electric Company
National Broadcast Company
Jack, Bradley & Karin
Honda Lease Trust

Brick Walk Associates LLC
Kings Highway Really LLC

Financial Service Vehicle Trust

Total

Real Estate Developer & Mgr
Real Estate Developer & Mgr
Real Estate Developer & Mgr
Motor Vehicle Leasing Co
Real Estate Developer & Mgr
Moter Vehicle Leasing Co
Corporate Headquarters
Corporate Headquarters
Residential Homeowner
Motor Vehicle Leasing Co
Real Estate Developer & Mar
Real Estate Developer & Mar

Motor Vehicle Leasing Co

Based on the October 2020 and October 2011 Net Taxable Grand lists, respectively.

Source: Assessor's Office, Town of Fairfield.

$ 11,690,351,000

——te

(Unaudited)
2022 2013
Percenlage Percentage
Assessed Net Taxable Assessed Net Taxable
Value Rank Grand List Value Rank Grand List

$ 65,650,570 1 0.56% H] 54,561,319 2 0.50%
60,175,960 2 0.51% 17,851,534 7 0.16%
54,652,590 3 0.47% 61,578,791 1 0.56%
49,705,090 4 0.43% - - 0.00%
32,748,380 5 0.28% - - 0.00%
29,560,160 6 0.25% - - 0.00%
28,535,570 7 0.24% - - 0.00%
26,963,360 8 0.23% - - 0.00%
23,012,860 g 0.20% - - 0.00%
22,387,340 10 0.19% 0.00%

- - 0.00% 34,666,440 3 0.32%

- - 0.00% 31,945,900 4 0.29%

- - 0.00% 24,203,270 5 0.22%

- - 0.00% 19,465,040 6 0.18%

- - 0.00% 17,451,630 8 0.16%

- - 0.00% 17,234,000 9 0.16%

. - 0.00% 16,614,140 10 0.15%

$ 393,391,880 3.36% $ 295,562,064 2.70%
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Property Tax Rates, Levies and Collections

Last Ten Years
(Thousands)
(Unaudited)
(2) Net Percentage Collections
Year (1) Total Current Levy of Current in
Ended Mill Adjusted Tax Taxes Subsequent
June 30 Rate Tax Levy Collections Collected Years
2013 23.37 $ 250,603 $ 247,576 98.79% $ 2884
2014 23.93 256,935 253,640 98.72% 3,105
2015 24.40 263,352 259,688 98.61% 3,399
2016 24.79 269,553 266,010 98.69% 3,238
2017 25.45 271,587 268,169 98.74% 3,041
2018 25.82 276,797 273,905 98.96% 2,400
2019 26.36 285,677 282,288 98.81% 2,749
2020 26.79 292,681 287,186 98.12% 4,693
2021 26.79 295,891 292,994 99.02% 1,721
2022 26.98 309,090 306,459 99.15% -

Source: Tax office.

Notes:

(1) There are no overlapping tax rates for the Town of Fairfield.
(2) Adjusted tax levy equals the tax levy after lawful corrections, abatements and transfers to suspense.

Table 7

Percent

of Current
Total Levy Delinguent

Collections Collected Balance
$ 250,460 99.94% $ 143
256,745 99.93% 190
263,087 99.90% 265
269,248 99.89% 305
271,210 99.86% 377
276,305 99.82% 492
285,037 99.78% 640
291,879 99.73% 802
294,715 99.02% 1,176
306,459 99.15% 2,631
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Table 8
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Ratios of OQutstanding Debt by Type
Last Ten Years
(Thousands, Except Personal Income and Per Capita)
(Unaudited)

General
Obligation
Year Bonds and Percentage Debt
Ended Long Term of Personal Per
June 30 BANS Notes Premium Leases Total Income Capita
2013 $ 197,106 $ 15,956 $ 13,021 - $ 226,083 0.05% $ 3,806
2014 191,948 14,180 11,933 - 218,061 0.05% 3,661
2015 180,975 12,372 10,869 . 204,216 0.05% 3,396
2016 185,286 10,543 9,814 - 205,643 0.05% 3,389
2017 181,643 8,764 7,582 - 197,989 0.06% 3,245
2018 173,633 7,569 7,217 - 188,419 0.06% 3,081
2019 173,232 5776 6,458 - 185,466 0.07% 3,010
2020 177,095 3,936 5471 - 186,502 0.07% 3,028
2021 183,302 2148 6,127 2,534 194111 0.07% 3,144
2022 191,465 619 7.453 2,416 201,953 0.07% 3,260

Source: Current and prior year financial statements.
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Years

(Thousands, Except Per Capita)

(Unaudited)

General Obligation Debt Outstanding

General

Obligation
Year Bonds and
Ended Long Term

June 30 BANS

2013 $ 197,106
2014 191,948
2015 180,975
2016 185,286
2017 181,643
2018 173,633
2019 173,232
2020 177,095
2021 183,302
2022 191,465

Premium
$ 13,021
11,933
10,869
9,814

7,582
7,569
6,458
5,471
6,127

7,453

Source: Current and prior year financial statements.

Total
210,127
203,881

191,844
195,100

189,225
181,202
179,690
182,566
189,429

198,918

Percentage of
Actual Taxable
Value of

Property
1.39%

1.30%
1.30%
1.30%

1.30%
1.22%
1.16%
1.13%
1.18%

1.21%

Table 9

Debt
Per

Capita
$ 3,637
3,423
3,191
3,215

3,101
2,963
2,917
2,964
3,068

3,211



Table 10

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Schedule of Debt Limitation
Connecticut General Statutes, Section 7-374 (b)
For The Year Ended June 30, 2022
(Thousands)

(Unaudited)

Tax Base:

There is no overlapping debt for the Town.

Source: Current and prior year financial statements.

138

Total tax collections (including interest and lien fees) for prior year $ 299590
General Urban Pension
Purpose Schools Sewers Renewal Deficit
Debt Limitation:
2 1/4 times base $ 674,078 $ - 8 - % - $ -
4 1/2 times base - 1,348,155 - - -
3 3/4 times base - - 1,123,463 - -
3 1/4 times base - - - 973,668 -
3 times base - - - - 898,770
Total debt limitation 674,078 1,348,155 1,123,463 973,668 898,770
Indebtedness:
Bonds 65,445 115,319 2,512 - -
Bond anticipation notes - short-term 4,075 1,591 - - -
Bond anticipation notes - long-term 2,236 5,953 - = -
Total indebtedness 71,756 122,863 2,512 - -
Debt limitation in excess of outstanding debt $ 602,322 $ 1,225292 $ 1.120,951 $ 973668 $ 898770
The total net indebtedness above amounts to: 197.131
In no event shall total indebtedness exceed seven times the base for debt limitation computation: $2.097.130




Year
Ended

June 30

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021

2022

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Years

(Thousands)
(Unaudited)
(1)
Net Debt
Debt Applicable
Limit to Limit

$ 1,756,349 $ 207,889
1,791,979 203,230
1,845,858 194,507
1,891,638 199,812
1,901,193 190,798
1,901,193 181,320
1,945,377 178,256
1,995,784 179,896
2,037,070 189,422
2,097,130 197,131

Source: Current and prior year financial statements.

Note:

(1) There is no overlapping debt for the Town.

139

Legal
Debt

—Margin__

$ 1,548,460
1,688,749
1,651,351
1,691,826
1,710,395
1,719,873
1,767,121
1,815,888
1,847,648

1,899,999

Table 11

Percentage
of Net Debt
Applicable to
Limit

11.84%
11.34%
10.54%
10.56%
10.04%
9.54%
9.16%
9.01%
9.30%

9.40%
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Principal Employers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Table 13

(Unaudited)
2022 2013
Percentage Percentage
of Total Town of Total
Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Town of Fairfield 1,990 1 6.78% 1,922 1 6.94%
Sacred Heart University 1,007 2 3.43% 1,262 2 4.56%
Fairfield University 852 3 2.90% 881 3 3.18%
Carolton Hospital 280 4 0.95% 394 5 1.42%
Orthopedic Specialty Group 270 5 0.92% - - 0.00%
Save the Children 257 6 0.88% = - 0.00%
RBC-Heim Universal 199 7 0.68% 136 9 0.49%
R. C. Bigelow Tea Co. 195 8 0.66% 155 8 0.56%
Cambridge Manor of Fairfield 190 9 0.65% - - 0.00%
Ludlowe Center for Health and Rehab 180 10 0.61% - = 0.00%
General Electric - - 0.00% 723 4 2.61%
Stop and Shop - - 0.00% 335 6 1.21%
Home Depot - - 0.00% 298 7 1.08%
BJ's Wholesale Club - - 0.00% 115 10 0.42%
Total 5,420 18.46% 6,221 22.47%

Source: Town of Fairfield, Office of Community and Economic Development.
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Function / Program

Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Full-Time Equivalent Town Employees by Function/Program
Last Ten Years

Table 14

Administrative and General Govermnment
Board of Selectmen
Town Clerk
Registrar of Voters
Town Planning and Zoning
Conservation
Human Resources
Community and Economic Development

Finance
Finance
Purchasing
Assessor
Tax Collector
Information Systems

Public Safety
Fire
Police
Animal Control
Emergency Communications Center

Public Works
Public Works Administration
Public Works Operations
Building
Engineering

Health. Social, Human Services
Health

Social and Human Services
Solid Waste and Recycling

Libraries
Main
Fairfield Woods

Recreation
Parks and Recreation
Marina
South Pine Creek Golf Course
H. Smith Richardson Golf Course

Total

Source: Town Human Resource Departments.

(Unaudited)

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
4.00 4.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.85
6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00
1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
5.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.20
7.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00
4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4,00 4.00 4.00
1.756 175 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75
8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.15
4.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00
7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00
6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00
5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00

99.00 98.00 98.00 98.00 98.00 98.00 98.00 98.00 98.00 98.00
115.00 115.00 115.00 115.00 115.00 115.00 115.00 115.00 113.00 113.00
2.00 2.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00
22.00 22.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00
4.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85
66.00 69.00 71.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 74.00 74.00 74.00 76.00
8.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 6.40
7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00
34.00 34.00 33.00 33.00 33.00 33.00 33.00 33.00 33.00 33.00
2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
1.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
19.00 20.00 22,00 22.00 22,00 22.00 22.00 22.00 22.00 23.00
9.00 9.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00
7.00 7.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00
1.00 1.00 1.00 = - - - - - -
1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
3.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00
459.60 463.60 457.60 457.60 457.60 459.60 463.60 463.60 461.60 465.20
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Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Full-Time Equivalent Employees by Function/Program

Last Ten Years

Table 15

(Unaudited)
June 30
Function / Program 2022 2021 2020 2018 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Town

Administrative and General Government 28.75 30.75 29.75 29.75 29.75 30.75 30.75 30.75 30.75 31.80
Finance 30.00 29.00 29.00 29.00 29.00 30.00 30.00 30.00 30.00 30.15
Public Safety 238.00 237.00 231.00 231.00 231.00 231.00 231.00 231.00 229.00 229.00
Public Works 85.85 86.85 88.85 89.85 89.85 89.85 91.85 91.85 91.85 93.25
Health, Social, Human Services 37.00 38.00 37.00 37.00 37.00 37.00 37.00 37.00 37.00 37.00
Libraries 28.00 29.00 30.00 30.00 30.00 30.00 30.00 30.00 30.00 31.00
Recreation 12.00 13.00 12.00 11.00 11.00 11.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00
Total Town 459.60 463.60 457.60 457.60 457.60 459.60 463.60 463.60 461.60 465.20

Board of Education
Teaching Staff 980.20 978.75 979.55 978.28 962.95 944.15 954 .55 954.60 944.15 944.15
Administration 45.80 45.80 46.80 45.80 45.80 44.80 46.80 46.80 44.80 44.80
Other Staff 439.90 443.50 442.50 438.20 422.50 394.10 408.20 407.70 385.30 383.05
Total Board of Education 1,465.90 1,468.05 1,468.85 1,462.28 1,431.25 1.383.05 1,409.55 1,409.10 1,374.25 1,372.00
Total 1,925.50 1,931.65 1,826.45 1,919.88 1,888.85 1,842.65 1,873.15 1,872.80 1,835.85 1,837.20

Source: Town and Board of Education Human Resource Departments.



Table 16
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Operating Indicators by Function/Program
Last Ten Years

144"

(Unaudited)
For the Year Ended June 30
Function / Program 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Public safety:
Fire
Incidents 9,647 8,332 8,129 9,136 8,955 8,750 8,863 8.550 8,070 9,475
Unit responses 15,009 13,546 12,749 14,466 14,120 13,759 14,371 14,450 14,192 15,033
Fire Marshall inspections 2,037 2,059 1,870 2,368 1,579 1,668 1,663 1,339 1,206 1,213
Police:
Criminal arrests 645 749 752 823 824 819 870 896 936 996
Parking violations 5,357 3,504 3.309 4777 5,547 5,827 5,914 5,453 4771 6,123
Citations 3,878 3,262 3,161 5,664 6,225 4,367 4,051 2,808 5,133 5,176
Public works:
Street resurfacing (paved miles) 10.64 5.8 8.28 10.49 5.42 8.13 6.47 4.40 7.40 5.98
Potholes repaired 780 680 766 754 1,159 1,533 940 1,186 696 1,752
Refuse collection:
Refuse collected (tons per day) 83.97 85.17 85.04 86.58 85.51 87.82 88.87 89.53 93.25 93.11
Recyclables collected (tons per day) 14.82 16.80 15.31 14.75 15.10 15.30 15.12 13.96 13.78 13.54
Parks and recreation:
Fitness Center daily admissions (average) 77 4 117 130 132 130 132 161 154 152
Library:
Volumes in collection 255,564 251,610 248,681 262,078 265,624 265,278 284,640 308,171 323,335 342,905
Total volumes borrowed 564,179 382612 555,642 734,295 748,153 817,626 868,639 917,067 956,435 932,572
Education:
School enrollment 9.310 9,407 9,623 9,789 9,916 9,984 10,058 10,160 10,250 10,273

Source: Various Town Departments.
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Table 17
Town of Fairfield, Connecticut

Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program
Last Ten Years

(Unaudited)
June 30
Function / Program 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Parks and recreation:
Playgrounds 31 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 25 25
Baseball/softball diamonds 20 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25
Soccer/football fields 16 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19
Community centers 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 1
Public safety:
Fire stations 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Police stations 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Patrol units 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 24 24 24
Public works:
Highway department:
Streets (miles) 274 274 274 274 274 274 274 274 274 274
Streetlights 4,208 4,208 4,208 4,205 4,203 4198 4,192 4,191 4,186 4,181
stewater:
Sanitary sewers (miles) 188.05 187.72 187.72 187.72 187.72 187.46 187.46 187.19 187.18 187.17
Storm sewers (miles) 128.76 128.64 128.58 12B.24 128.16 128.01 127.91 127.39 127.10 127.07
Treatment capacity (thousands of
gallons/day) 9,000 9,000 9,000 8,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000
Libraries:
Number of public libraries 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Education:
High schools 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Middle schools 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Elementary schools 11 1 M 11 11 11 11 1 1 1

Source: Capital asset records and various Town Departments.



20 YEAR

A RESOLUTION APPROPRIATING $7,687,622 FOR THE COSTS OF CERTAIN
NONRECURRING CAPITAL PROJECTS AND AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF
BONDS TO FINANCE SUCH APPROPRIATION.

Resolved:

1.

As recommended by the Board of Finance and the Board of Selectmen, the Town of
Fairfield hereby appropriates the sum of Seven Million Six Hundred Eighty-Seven
Thousand Six Hundred Twenty-Two and 00/100 Dollars ($7,687,622) to fund all costs
associated with the nonrecurring capital projects described on Exhibit A attached hereto,
inclusive of planning, design and engineering fees, other professional fees, demolition,
construction and oversight costs and temporary and permanent financing costs
(collectively, the “Projects™), in the amount of such appropriation allocated to each
Project as set forth in Exhibit A. Any reallocation of unused bond proceeds from one
project category listed as items 1-15 on Exhibit A to a different project category listed on
Exhibit A that would cause the cost of such project to exceed the cost listed on Exhibit
A shall require approval by the Board of Selectmen, Board of Finance, and the
Representative Town Meeting.

To finance such appropriation, and as recommended by the Board of Finance and the
Board of Selectmen, the Town of Fairfield shall borrow a sum not to exceed Seven
Million Six Hundred Eighty-Seven Thousand Six Hundred Twenty-Two and 00/100
Dollars ($7,687,622) and issue bonds/bond anticipation notes for such indebtedness under
its corporate name and seal and upon the full faith and credit of the Town in an amount
not to exceed said sum for the purpose of financing the appropriation for the Projects.

The Board of Selectmen, the Treasurer and the Chief Fiscal Officer of the Town are
hereby appointed a committee (the “Committee”) with full power and authority to cause
said bonds to be sold, issued and delivered; to determine their form and terms, including
provision for redemption prior to maturity; to determine the aggregate principal amount
thereof within the amount hereby authorized and the denominations and maturities
thereof; to fix the time of issue of each series thereof and the rate or rates of interest
thereon as herein provided; to determine whether the interest rate on any series will be
fixed or variable and to determine the method by which the variable rate will be
determined, the terms of conversion, if any, from one interest rate mode to another or
from fixed to variable; to set whatever other terms of the bonds they deem necessary,
desirable or appropriate; to designate the bank or trust company to certify the issuance
thereof and to act as transfer agent, paying agent and as registrar for the bonds, and to
designate bond counsel. The Committee shall have all appropriate powers under the
Connecticut General Statutes, including Chapter 748 (Registered Public Obligations Act),
Chapter 173 (School Building Projects) and Chapter 109 (Municipal Bond Issues) to
issue, sell and deliver the bonds and, further, shall have full power and authority to do all
that is required under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and under rules of
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the Securities and Exchange Commission, and other applicable laws and regulations of
the United States, to provide for issuance of the bonds in tax exempt form and to meet all
requirements which are or may become necessary in and subsequent to the issuance and
delivery of the bonds in order that the interest on the bonds be and remain exempt from
Federal income taxes, including, without limitation, to covenant and agree to restriction
on investment yield of bond proceeds, rebate of arbitrage earnings, expenditure of
proceeds within required time limitations, the filing of information reports as and when
required, and the execution of Continuing Disclosure Agreements for the benefit of the
holders of the bonds and notes.

The First Selectman and Treasurer or Chief Fiscal Officer, on behalf of the Town, shall
execute and deliver such bond purchase agreements, reimbursement agreements, line of
credit agreement, credit facilities, remarketing agreement, standby marketing agreements,
bond purchase agreement, standby bond purchase agreements, and any other
commercially necessary or appropriate agreements which the Committee determines are
necessary, appropriate or desirable in connection with or incidental to the sale and
issuance of bonds, and if the Committee determines that it is necessary, appropriate, or
desirable, the obligations under such agreements shall be secured by the Town’s full faith
and credit.

The First Selectwoman and Treasurer or Chief Fiscal Officer shall execute on the Town’s
behalf such interest rate swap agreements or similar agreements related to the bonds for
the purpose of managing interest rate risk which the Committee determines are
necessary, appropriate or desirable in connection with or incidental to the carrying or
selling and issuance of the bonds, and if the Committee determines that it is necessary,
appropriate or desirable, the obligations under such interest rate swap agreements shall
be secured by the Town’s full faith and credit.

The bonds may be designated "Public Improvement Bonds," series of the year of their
issuance and may be issued in one or more series, and may be consolidated as part of the
same issue with other bonds of the Town; shall be in serial form maturing in not more
than twenty (20) annual installments of principal, the first installment to mature not later
than three (3) years from the date of issue and the last installment to mature not later
than twenty (20) years from the date of issue. The bonds may be sold at an aggregate
sales price of not less than par and accrued interest at public sale upon invitation for bids
to the responsible bidder submitting the bid resulting in the lowest true interest cost to
the Town, provided that nothing herein shall prevent the Town from rejecting all bids
submitted in response to any one invitation for bids and the right to so reject all bids is
hereby reserved, and further provided that the Committee may sell the bonds on a
negotiated basis, as provided by statute. Interest on the bonds shall be payable semi-
annually or annually. The bonds shall be signed on behalf of the Town by at least a
majority of the Board of Selectmen and the Treasurer, and shall bear the seal of the
Town. The signing, sealing and certification of the bonds may be by facsimile as
provided by statute.



10.

11.

The Committee is further authorized to make temporary borrowings as authorized by the
General Statutes and to issue temporary notes of the Town in anticipation of the receipt
of proceeds from the sale of the bonds to be issued pursuant to this resolution. Such
notes shall be issued and renewed at such time and with such maturities, requirements
and limitations as provided by the Connecticut General Statutes. Notes evidencing such
borrowings shall be signed by the First Selectman and Treasurer or Chief Fiscal Officer,
have the seal of the Town affixed, which signing and sealing may be by facsimile as
provided by statute, be certified by and payable at a bank or trust company incorporated
under the laws of this or any other state, or of the United States, be approved as to their
legality by bond counsel, and may be consolidated with the issuance of other Town bond
anticipation notes. The Committee shall determine the date, maturity, interest rates, form
and manner of sale, including negotiated sale, and other details of said notes consistent
with the provisions of this resolution and the General Statutes and shall have all powers
and authority as set forth above in connection with the issuance of bonds and especially
with respect to compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended, and regulations thereunder in order to obtain and maintain issuance of the
notes in tax exempt form.

Pursuant to Section 1.150-2 of the Federal Income Tax Regulations, as amended, the
Town hereby declares its official intent to reimburse expenditures (if any) paid for the
Projects from its General or Capital Funds, such reimbursement to be made from the
proceeds of the sale of bonds and notes authorized herein and in accordance with the time
limitations and other requirements of said regulations.

The First Selectman, Chief Fiscal Officer and Town Treasurer are hereby authorized, on
behalf of the Town, to enter into agreements or otherwise covenant for the benefit of
bondholders to provide information on an annual or other periodic basis to the Municipal
Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”) and to provide notices to the MSRB of
material events as enumerated in Securities and Exchange Commission Exchange Act
Rule 15c2-12, as amended, as may be necessary, appropriate or desirable to effect the
sale of the bonds and notes authorized by this resolution.

The Committee is hereby authorized to take all action necessary and proper for the sale,
issuance and delivery of the bonds and notes in accordance with the provisions of the
Connecticut General Statutes and the laws of the United States.

The First Selectman or other proper Town official is hereby authorized to apply for and
accept any available State or Federal grants, including, but not limited to, the expected
grants set forth on the attached Exhibit A, in aid of the financing of any Project, and to
take all action necessary and proper in connection therewith. Any such grants or
contribution received prior to the issuance of the bonds authorized herein shall be applied
to the costs of the specific Project or to pay at maturity the principal of any outstanding
bond anticipation notes issued pursuant this resolution and shall reduce the amount of the
bonds that can be issued pursuant to this resolution. If such grants and contributions are
received after the issuance of the bonds, they shall be applied to pay the principal on the



bonds or as otherwise authorized by the Board of Selectmen, Board of Finance and
Representative Town Meeting provided such application does not adversely affect the
tax-exempt status of the bonds or the Town’s receipt of such grant or contribution.



EXHIBIT A
TO

A RESOLUTION APPROPRIATING $7,687,622 FOR THE COSTS OF CERTAIN
NONRECURRING CAPITAL PROJECTS AND AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF
BONDS TO FINANCE SUCH APPROPRIATION
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(2
(3
(4
(5

TOWN
APPROPRIATION AND 20
Department Project YEAR BOND

AUTHORIZATION  |EXPECTED GRANTS

Engineering Guiderail Repairs Phase 2 $210,000

Engineering KHW Greens Farm Bridge Construction $432,600

Engineering Design of Stratfield Road (RSA) $325,000

Engineering Design of Post Road & Jug Handle $175,000
Engineering Round Hill Road and Reef Road Sidewalks $611,298 ($500,000)
Engineering/Harbor|Lower Wharf/Fishing Pier $800,000 ($640,000)

Fire Pumper - LSN 14 $980,000

Park & Rec HSR Driving Range Upgrades $275,000

Park & Rec Post-Tension Tennis Courts - Ffld. Woods $522,000

Park & Rec Tunxis Hill Park Pickleball Court Replace. (4) and NEW Courts (2) $575,000
SUBTOTAL NON-RECURRING CAPITAL - TOWN: $4,905,898, ($1,140,000)

BOARD OF EDUCATION
APPROPRIATION AND 20
School Project YEAR BOND

AUTHORIZATION  |EXPECTED GRANTS
N. Stratfield Elem. |Vestibule Project $652,500 ($153,284)
Osborn Hill Elem.  [Vestibule Project $597,500 ($140,364)
Ffld. Woods Middle Vestibule Project $769,500 ($180,769)
Ffld. Warde H.S.  [Boiler Burner Replacement $343,862 S0
Ffld. Warde H.S. Knapps Highway Tennis/Basketball Courts $418,362 $0
SUBTOTAL NON-RECURRING CAPITAL - BOE: $2,781,724 ($474,417)
GRAND TOTAL TOWN & BOE NON-RECURRING CAPITAL: $7,687,622 ($1,614,417)

Source of Grant:

STEAP Grant

State Grant - Small Harbor Improvement Projects Program (Port Authority)

State of Connecticut - Office of School Construction Grants Review (OSCGR)

State of Connecticut - Office of School Construction Grants Review (OSCGR)

State of Connecticut - Office of School Construction Grants Review (OSCGR)

ACTIVE/38220.1/JXG/10855541v1

(3)
(4)



Town wide Guard rail (aka Guide rail) and fencing Improvements. = $200,000 for Construction Improvements.

Phase 2

1.

10.

Background — The Town of Fairfield infrastructure is aging and in many cases roads and bridges do not comply
with current codes or roadway standards. Over the past few years, the state and Town consultants have issued
bridge and culvert reports that list current conditions and provide some short and long term repair solutions.
Based on these reports, many roadway bridge approaches are lacking proper guiderails or have aging rails or
fencing that need replacement. There are also some roadside guiderails that are damaged by trees or vehicles.
Over time, DPW has performed triage regarding replacements or repair usually based on public complaints or
accident report usually replacing a couple of sections per year. Unfortunately, there has been no plan in place
for general replacement until 2022.

Purpose and Justification — The purpose of the project is to address many State and Consultant directives or
recommendations listed in bridge reports, roadway inspections or occasional public complaint. Based on these
directives and recommendations, almost 4000 linear feet of guiderail sections for 65 bridges and about a dozen
roadways sections have been listed. The request of $ 200,000 would cover approximately a third to one half of
the higher priority locations, depending on railing material, location, potential consultant design and if railing is
repair or code complaint replacement.

Detailed Description of Proposal — The proposal includes repair or replacement of outdated guiderail, posts or
fencing system. The Engineering and Consultant will provide plans and specifications for DPW in house work
and contract bid, splitting the workload. Funding will be utilized for guiderail systems that include railing,
anchoring, bridge attachment system, removal and disposal of old guiderail system, safety fencing, maintenance
protection of traffic, reflectors and erosion control if applicable.

Reliability of Cost Estimate — Based on recent Department of Transportation cost estimates and recent state
projects drainage projects and current cost of materials the reliability of costs on a scale of 0 to 10 is estimated
at 9 based on current State DAS Contracts. If costs increase, less improvements will be performed at this time
and if costs are less than estimated, more bridge and roadways can be addressed.

Increased Efficiency or Productivity — Allow the traveling public and commerce safer access and should reduce
liability by having guiderail systems repaired and replaced.

Additional Long Range Costs — Typical Maintenance costs. Short and longer term maintenance costs should be
reduced with repair and replacements. Slight increased long range costs associated with the project for new
installations.

Additional Use or Demand on Existing Facilities —None.

Alternatives to this Request —The “Do nothing” option won’t improve safety or reduce liability. Reduction in
amount requested will reduce amount of work and installations that can be performed.

Safety and Loss Control — Allow the traveling public and commerce safer access.

Environmental Considerations — All projects will investigate environment impacts-although most will involve
locations at the road edge within the public right of way. No environmental permits are anticipated unless a
special condition structure or fencing impacting wetlands or watercourses.




11. Insurance — Any selected contractors will be required to carry the necessary insurance prescribed by the
Purchasing Department.

12. Financing — Project will be bonded as part of the Non-Recurring Capital budget of 2024. Guiderail has a service
life of about 30 -40 years unless crashes reduce its functionality.

13. Other Considerations: Public safety, aesthetics and potential opposition by abutting property owners.
Unfortunately, most guiderail systems are not aesthetically pleasing. Some property owners do not want
guiderails and some prefer only timber guiderails. In some cases, repairs may be applicable but most existing
guiderail systems are not up to current crashworthy standards and should be brought up to current roadway
standards.

14. Other Approvals:

Board of Selectman - Jan 2023
Board of Finance - Feb 2023
RTM - Mar 2023



FOURTEEN POINTS OF INFORMATION AND JUSTIFICATION FOR THE
STRATFIELD ROAD PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT (MONTAUK ST. TO
COLLINGWOOD AVE.).* estimated Design=$ 325,000 Const. $ 2,000,000

10.

Background — The State of Connecticut has awarded the Town from state bonding, an urban grant based on a
Road Safety Audit performed along Route 59 (Stratfield Road). The State awarded this grant to The Town of
Fairfield as a way to encourage alternate modes of transportation and to increase safety for pedestrians and
vehiclular traffic. The section covers Stratfield Road from Montauk Street to Collingwood Avenue and includes
potential safety improvements at Church Hill Road and Route 59 AND Church Hill Road, Wilson Street
intersection. EXACT DETAILS OF THIS GRANT HAVE NOT YET BEEN RELEASED. BASED ON SIMILAR GRANTS,
TOWN COULD BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 100 % DESIGN WITH 100% CONSTRUCTION COSTS COVERED VIA STATE
BOND/GRANT. ALTERNATE WOULD BE 80% REIMBURSEMENT FOR BOTH PHASES.

Purpose and Justification — The purpose of the project is to address many Public complaints and concerns about
pedestrian and roadway safety. Reference is made to Stratfield Road Safety Audit with input from State DOT,
Fairifeld Bike and Pedestrian Committee, State Representatives, a State Senator, Town Officials and members of
the public. This report listed problems, issues and concerns as well as recommendations and improvements.
Continuation of the sidewalk network from the pending Stratfield Four Corners project awarded in November
2022 may have increased the Town’s chances of getting this grant.

Detailed Description of Proposal — The proposal includes replacement of outdated narrow sidewalks along
Stratfield. Also included are sections of new sidewalk, ADA accessible ramps, pedestrian crossing features,
pedestrian (countdown) signals and potential realignment or improvements at two intersections. A Consultant
will provide survey, plans and specifications for Contract Bid.

Reliability of Cost Estimate — Based on recent Department of Transportation and Town Engineering Design
projects. The reliability of costs on a scale of 0 to 10 is estimated at 8 based on current design projects.
Construction will be about 2 years later. If design costs increase, scope will be lessened or project will have to
come back to Town boards.

Increased Efficiency or Productivity — Allow Pedestrians, cyclists and the traveling public safer access to various
locations along the Stratfield Road corridor.

Additional Long Range Costs — Typical Maintenance costs. Short and long term maintenance costs should be
reduced significantly in a ten year window with new sidewalks. Even though majority of the project is within
state right of way, Town is responsible for maintenance as DOT maintains only “curb to curb”.

Additional Use or Demand on Existing Facilities —Project anticipates increase in pedestrians walking in the area
and a decreased potential of accidents.

Alternatives to this Request —The “Do nothing” option won’t improve safety, reduce liability or maintenance
costs. Many sidewalks are over 40 years old. The few sections that are relatively new, will not be replaced
provided they meet current standards and are in good condition. Reduction in amount requested will reduce
amount of work and installations that can be performed.

Safety and Loss Control — Allow the traveling public and commerce safer access.

Environmental Considerations — All projects will investigate environment impacts-although most will involve
locations at the road edge or within the public right of way. No environmental permits are anticipated with
exception of an improved ADA ramp at Collingwood Avenue, which may require an inland wetlands certificate or
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staff approval. Soil testing will be performed at the beginning of the design phase to confirm underground
conditions.

11. Insurance — Any selected contractors will be required to carry the necessary insurance prescribed by the
Purchasing Department.

12. Financing — Project will be bonded as part of the Non-Recurring Capital budget of 2024. Concrete Sidewalks
have a service life of about-40 years pending tree roots, utility cuts and localized disturbance.

13. Other Considerations: If any, can be discussed during Spring approval as more grant details emerge.

14. Other Approvals:

Board of Selectman - Jan 2023
Board of Finance - Feb 2023
RTM - Mar 2023



FOURTEEN POINTS OF INFORMATION AND JUSTIFICATION FOR THE
POST ROAD AND POST ROAD JUGHANDLE PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT ( Just east of
Post Road Circle to Shoreham Village Drive) .* estimated Design=$ 175,000 Const. $ 1,750,000

1. Background — The State of Connecticut has awarded the Town from state bonding, an urban grant based on a
Road Safety Audit performed along Post Road back in 2018 and the current Post Road Circle Study. The State
awarded this grant to The Town of Fairfield as a way to encourage alternate modes of transportation and to
increase safety for pedestrians and vehicular traffic. The section covers Post Rpoad from east of the Circle, Kings
Highway East to Shoreham Village Drive and includes potential safety improvements within this section of
roadways. EXACT DETAILS OF THIS GRANT HAVE NOT YET BEEN RELEASED. BASED ON SIMILAR GRANTS, TOWN
COULD BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 100 % DESIGN WITH 100% CONSTRUCTION COSTS COVERED VIA STATE
BOND/GRANT. ALTERNATE WOULD BE 80% REIMBURSEMENT FOR BOTH PHASES.

2. Purpose and Justification — The purpose of the project is to address many Public complaints and concerns about
pedestrian and roadway safety. Reference is made to a Road Safety Audit for Post Road and Post Road Circle
study. Post Road Safety Audit had with input from State DOT, Fairifeld Bike and Pedestrian Committee, State
Representatives, a State Senator, Town Officials and members of the public. This report listed problems, issues
and concerns as well as recommendations and improvements. Continuation of the sidewalk network from the
pending Grasmere Post Neighborhood Improvement project ( bid Summer 2023) may have increased the
Town’s chances of getting this grant.

3. Detailed Description of Proposal — The proposal includes replacement of outdated narrow sidewalks along Post
Road, new sidewalks in areas that are missing sidewalks and potential intersection realignments or bulbouts.
Also included are sections of new sidewalk, ADA accessible ramps, potential pedestrian crossing features,
pedestrian (countdown) signals and potential realignment or improvements at two intersections. A Consultant
will provide survey, plans and specifications for Contract Bid.

4. Reliability of Cost Estimate — Based on recent Department of Transportation and Town Engineering Design
projects. The reliability of costs on a scale of 0 to 10 is estimated at 8 based on current design projects.
Construction will be about 2 years later. If design costs increase, scope will be lessened or project will have to
come back to Town boards.

5. Increased Efficiency or Productivity — Allow Pedestrians, cyclists and the traveling public safer access to various
locations along the Post Road corridor. Several public meetings were conducted that brought up issues at or
near the Post Road Circle.

6. Additional Long Range Costs — Typical Maintenance costs. Short and longer term maintenance costs should be
reduced significantly in a ten year window with new sidewalks. Even though majority of the project is within
state right of way, Town is responsible for maintenance as DOT maintains only “ curb to curb”.

7. Additional Use or Demand on Existing Facilities —Project anticipates increase in pedestrians walking in the area
and a decreased potential of accidents.

8. Alternatives to this Request —The “Do nothing” option won’t improve safety, reduce liability or maintenance
costs. Many sidewalks are over 40 years old. The few sections that are relatively new, will not be replaced
provided they meet current standards and are in good condition. Reduction in amount requested will reduce
amount of work and installations that can be performed.

9. Safety and Loss Control — Allow the traveling public and commerce safer access.




10. Environmental Considerations — All projects will investigate environment impacts-although most will involve
locations at the road edge or within the public right of way. No environmental permits are anticipated- however
soil testing will be performed at the beginning of the design stage to confirm underground conditions. No
wetlands permits are anticipated.

11. Insurance — Any selected contractors will be required to carry the necessary insurance prescribed by the
Purchasing Department.

12. Financing — Project will be bonded as part of the Non-Recurring Capital budget of 2024. Concrete Sidewalks
have a service life of about-40 years pending tree roots, utility cuts and localized disturbance.

13. Other Considerations: If any, can be discussed during Spring approval as more grant details emerge.

14. Other Approvals:

Board of Selectman - Jan 2023
Board of Finance - Feb 2023
RTM - Mar 2023



FOURTEEN POINTS OF INFORMATION AND JUSTIFICATION FOR THE
PROPOSED ROUND HILL ROAD AND REEF ROAD SIDEWALKS
TOTAL REQUESTED EXPENDITURES $611,298

(STEAP GRANT REIMBERSMENT COVERS $500,000)

Background: Over the years, as part of a Downtown Revitalization and Economic
Development Enhancement project, the town installed major streetscape along the Post
Road (US 1) with spur sections extending out onto side streets. This request is to
construct new sidewalk and repairs to provide connectivity to the Post Road and
Fairfield Center. With support of the neighborhood, a new sidewalk is proposed for
Round Hill Road. For Reef Road new sections of sidewalk will be replaced as needed. The
Grant was requested to “catch up” on proposed requests and repairs by replacing larger
sections at a time versus isolated and individual repair panels. The Town will go out to
bid to perform large section of repairs and new sidewalks. Engineering and DPW will
provide in house design and specifications. Project is covered by $500k reimbursement
STEAP Grant.

Purpose and Justification: The purpose of the project is to provide sidewalk connectivity
to Fairfield Center and the Post Road. Property owners along Round Hill Road and
Ermine Street have waited three years for sidewalk funding. Sidewalks will provide
access to Ludlowe Schools, Fairfield Center, and US1-Post Road from Round Hill and
Reef roads. There are several areas of existing sidewalks on Reef Road that are uneven
and in poor condition. Replacing sidewalks will provide the traveling public safer access
to commercial buildings and points of interest in the center of town. Repairs may reduce
trip and falls, liability risks and may encourage more walking.

Detailed Description of Project: The project will consist of replacing and/or installing
new sections of sidewalk and ADA ramps along Round Hill Road and Reef Road.
Sections of existing sidewalk have degraded to the point of becoming unsafe for
pedestrian use. Handicap ramps are either nonexistent or do not meet the minimum
ADA requirements. The proposed funding of $111,298 paired with the $500,000 State
Grant component (STEAP) gives the town a total of $611,298 for the project.

Reliability of Estimated Coast: The $111,298 cost to the Town represents the town
share amount paired with the STEAP Grant. Cost estimates have been performed based
on recent contracts and State DOT cost estimates.

Efficiencies: This project may increase alternate modes of transportation and make it
safer for pedestrians by reducing or eliminating tripping hazards. The Town may realize
better pricing by replacing large sections to achieve economies of scale.



6 Additional Long Range Costs: The Town would continue to pay maintenance cost for
the project: sidewalk, any streetscape amenities which it currently performs already. By
repairing significant sections of sidewalks and brick pavers, the Town will reduce short
term and medium term cost significantly.

7 Additional Use or Demands: By performing new installation and replacements,
pedestrian traffic is projected to increase slightly. The Town should encourage increased
usage of alternate modes of transportation. Providing safer and more pedestrian
friendly amenities should provide a beneficial impact to the local businesses. Demands
will remain the same with short and medium term maintenance decreasing.

8 Alternates: The only alternate is to do nothing or continue performing repairs on a site
specific basis. This would continue to burden Fairfield DPW schedule and is not
considered cost effective. The sidewalks and brick pavers would continue to deteriorate
creating more safety risks and increasing the Towns liability.

Alternative funding is not available at this time. The majority of Transportation type
grants cover new proposals and not the maintenance of existing infrastructure.
Replacing in kind, repairing older sections of streetscape or sidewalk is not eligible,
unless upgrades are preformed such as meeting ADA requirements including ramps and
wider sidewalks.

9 Safety and Loss Control: Repairs will increase pedestrian safety.
10 Environmental Considerations: No significant environmental impacts are expected.

11 Insurance: Town and State Contract procedures require the Contractor to have a
license, if required, bonds and insurance.

12 Financing: $611,298 from Capital non-recurring account. Concrete Sidewalks have a
service life of 30-40 years, Asphalt Sidewalks last about 20-25 years depending on utility
cuts and surrounding factors- curbs, trees, etc. Note: STEAP Grant covers $500,000 in
eligible reimbursement costs.

13 Other Considerations : N/A

14 Approvals:

Committees/Commissions Approval Dates
Board of Selectmen Feb 2023
Board of Finance Feb 2023

R.T.M. Feb 2023



FOURTEEN POINTS OF INFORMATION AND JUSTIFICATION FOR THE
LOWER WHARF IMPROVMENTS AND FISHING PIER REPLACEMENT PROJECT
Estimated Design=$ 100,000 Const. $700,000

10.

11.

12.

13.

Background — The Harbor Commission has submitted preliminary design and permitting to CT DEEP for Lower
Wharf Improvements and a complete replacement of the fishing pier. Half of the fishing pier was left to decay in
its natural state due to budgetary reasons, while the westerly portion was just recently closed due to poor
condition of the piles.

Purpose and Justification —The fishing pier is a popular spot enjoyed by many members of the public. Fishing,
wildlife viewing and people enjoying views of Long Island Sound and Southport Harbor. Itis one of the only 3
public access areas in Southport. The stone retain walls need repointing or resetting while some sections need
replacement. The retaining walls hold up the Lower Wharf land, if left untreated over time, scour will continue
to occur and the sections of the park will be lost forever.

Detailed Description of Proposal — The proposal includes repair and replacement of stone retaining walls and
complete replacement of the fishing pier. The Harbor Management Commission has hired a Consultant who is
providing survey, plans, permits and specifications for Contract Bid. The HMC is also seeking a Port Authority
Grant to cover 80 % of the project costs. ( Confirmation of grant conditions and approval will be needed prior to
any construction expeditures).

Reliability of Cost Estimate — Provided by the HMC Consultant, a Coastal Engineering Firm with decades of
Coastal Construction experience. The reliability of costs on a scale of 0 to 10 is estimated at 8 based on current
coastal construction projects. Construction could occur in FY 24. If costs increase, scope will be lessened or
project will have to come back to Town boards for further funding.

Increased Efficiency or Productivity — Allow public safer access to fishing pier and Lower Wharf Park.

Additional Long Range Costs — Typical Maintenance costs. Short and long term maintenance costs would be
reduced significantly in a ten year window with new construction.

Additional Use or Demand on Existing Facilities —Project anticipates increase in use with new construction.

Alternatives to this Request —The “Do nothing” option closes the fishing pier indefinitely. Reduction in amount
requested will reduce amount of work and installations that can be performed. (% the pier?)

Safety and Loss Control — Allow the public access. Currently Fishing pier is closed.

Environmental Considerations — All projects will investigate environment impacts. DEEP permit has been
submitted and project is awaiting approval.

Insurance — Any selected contractors will be required to carry the necessary insurance prescribed by the
Purchasing Department.

Financing — Project will be bonded as part of the Non-Recurring Capital budget of 2024. Fishing Pier is estimated
to have an average 30 year service life with routine maintenance. (25 years for decking, 40-50 years for piles.

Other Considerations: If any, can be discussed during Spring approval as more grant details emerge.




14. Other Approvals:
Board of Selectman - Jan 2023
Board of Finance - Feb 2023
RTM - Mar 2023




140 Reef Road o ] Office (203) 254-4713
Fairfield, CT 06824-5997 Administrative Office Office (203) 254-4720
Fax (203) 254-4724

Pumper -$980,000

1. Background-

In accordance with the Fairfield Fire Department apparatus replacement program, the department is requesting the
replacement of LSN 9, a 1999 Pierce Dash fire truck (Pumper). A Pumper carries water, hose, various fire extinguishers,
ground ladders and personnel to the scene of a fire and is the workhorse of the fire service. It is also equipped with an
Automatic External Defibrillator (AED), a Cardiac Compression Device, medical equipment and oxygen. At any one time,
there are a minimum of five (5) Pumpers in service in the Town of Fairfield positioned strategically in each of the
department’s five (5) fire stations. Based on the crew distribution and the standard tactical capabilities/limitations, a
typical building fire requires the predetermined response of 4 Pumpers along with 1 Ladder truck, 1 Rescue truck and a
Shift Commander to ensure adequate personnel and equipment are on scene to protect the public and conduct safe
operations.

Fire apparatus are specialized vehicles that are designed and constructed for specific firefighting functions. The
construction of fire apparatus is more complex than that of other vehicles. All fire apparatus must meet rigid national
safety standards and are not purchased as a standard item due to the many local variables including climate, hose
threads, and the local department’s needs. The reliability of fire apparatus and the installed equipment directly impacts
the fire department’s ability to accomplish its mission of saving lives and property.

The need for replacement of this vehicle and the entire fire apparatus replacement program was first presented to the
BOS, BOF and RTM committees during the 2014/15 budget cycle. As noted in the department’s apparatus replacement
program, the replacement of this apparatus is on schedule.

2. Purpose and Justification-

The current vehicle is 23 years old and has 181,951 miles and 19023 engine hours. This apparatus will certainly have
over 200,000 road miles and 20,000 engine hours upon replacement. The road miles on a fire apparatus are not truly
indicative of its true life use because a pumper truck remains stationary pumping water for a good portion of its service
life. Engineers have determined that multiplying the engine hours by 45 provides a more accurate road mileage
equivalency, which in the case of LSN 9 would be about 900,000 at time of replacement. Currently, at 23 years old,
electronics are difficult to purchase for this apparatus. We are starting to see signs of underside rusting. We have
serious concerns about the reliability of the engine in this apparatus with this many hours. If this was an “over-the-
road” truck, the engine would have been rebuilt already. That is not cost-effective for a fire apparatus because there
are so many specialized components such as the water pump that are also aging out.

The time from budget approval to delivery for a fire apparatus is currently over 2 years. This delay requires planning and
adherence to the replacement schedule to avoid apparatus shortages.



3. Detailed Description of Proposal-

The need for apparatus replacement is well documented in the current department apparatus replacement program
which was distributed to all members in prior budget cycles and is available upon requested. Based on the replacement
schedule, the department’s apparatus design committee has begun developing basic specifications for a replacement
pumper to meet the long term needs of the organization and is incorporating the quint specifications.

This proposal is to utilize the extant Fairfield pumper design and purchase a replacement Class A, 1500 GPM fire
pumper.

Cost Estimate, including design, construction and ancillary equipment: $980,000

4. Reliability of Cost Estimate-

On a scale of 1 to 10, the reliability of this estimate is a 9.0.

5. Increased Efficiency and Productivity-

Our proposed pumper will be in compliance with current EPA requirements for pollution and fuel efficiency. The truck
will be designed so as not to require additional staffing beyond the 3 members currently assigned and will accommodate
up to four in the event of significant storm or natural disaster.

The company that manufactured the current apparatus remains in business as a sole source provider. Due to the age of
the truck and the custom nature of fire apparatus, replacement parts are increasingly more difficult to locate. As a
result, apparatus down-time and repair hours are higher than that of a new apparatus. Many of the components on new
apparatus purchases have extended warranties that reduce potential costs of major component failures and freeing up
maintenance personnel.

6. Additional Long Range Costs-

There will initially be some reduction in maintenance costs, as this will be a new piece of equipment. Sticking to the
apparatus replacement program allows for a more balanced and predictable bonding cycle due to the minimization of
multiple apparatus purchases in a single budget.

7. Additional Use or Demand-

N/A

8. Alternatives to This Request-

This request represents the best alternative for the department.

9. Safety-

As stated under justification, the current pumper is out of compliance with NFPA standards for fire apparatus.
Requirements for new apparatus include passenger air bags, improved seat belt systems, additional safety marking and
several structural changes to the design and construction of this equipment.

This modern fire apparatus will allow the department to operate effectively and improve fire ground survivability.

10. Environmental Considerations-




New diesel engines must comply with significantly more stringent rules governing exhaust emissions than the current in
service pumper. These engines burn cleaner and hotter through the use a diesel exhaust fluid and high temp run cycles
to incinerate toxins more effectively. The reduction of black diesel fumes near and the around the truck is the most
significant observable improvement,

11. Insurance- N/A
12. Financing-
Project bonded as per BOF recommendations.

13. Other Considerations-

The Apparatus Replacement Program was revised as a result of Board of Finance recommendations, the experience of
the Fairfield Fire Department and similar Fire Departments and other variables such as caustic road treatments. There
were updates to this Program in 2020 and 2022 to reflect recent purchases and surplusing of older equipment. While
recent information from State DOT suggests truck replacement schedules being reduced from 12 years to 8 years due to
due to effects of caustic road treatments, we are hopeful that our program of under-carriage cleaning and protective
treatments will prevent or lessen these effects in our fleet.

14. Approvals-

Board of Selectmen, Board of Finance, RTM



H. SMITH RICHARDSON

DRIVING RANGE
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Town of Fairfield Golf Commission
Submitted, October 25, 2022

. Background:

The driving range at H. Smith Richardson is located on Hoyden'’s Hill Road. The
range provides approximately $150K per year in revenue to the Town’s general fund.
There have been no significant improvements to the range in the past 20 years. In
keeping with our goal to improve the quality of each golfer's experience. We are
requesting $275,000 in order to develop and expand upon the current driving range
facility. We view this initiative as phase one in a two phase improvement.

. Purpose & Justification:

In the upcoming year, we plan to replace and improve the driving range bays from
which the golfers tee off. This improvement will include replacing the current turf
matting, adding covered tops to each bay, adding heat for an extended season,
replacing the current storage/office space, replacing the current ball machine to an
automated machine, the addition of Toptracer, and designing a functional short game
area (building will likely take place in phase two).

. Detailed Description of Proposal

As of right now, we have had discussions with two separate golf course designers and
they have provided us with cost estimates for phase one of the project. The work
would still need to be publically bid through the Town’s Purchasing Department
according to policy.

. Reliability of Estimated Cost
The cost estimate is made up of known prices for materials and labor and machine
based on current bid.

. Increase Efficiency or Productivity

These terms don'’t directly apply to this type of project but there are advantages.
With these improvements it is expected that additional revenue would be generated
through additional use of the driving range as the golfing community realizes the
improved conditions.

. Additional Long Range Costs
There will be none except for the regular daily maintenance during the golf season, as
the improvements being made will last 20 years.

. Additional Use or Demand on Existing Facilities
We do expect additional use with these improvements however we do not anticipate
additional burdens on the existing facilities as a result.



8. Alternatives to this request
The alternative to this request is to leave the driving range as it currently is and
replace items one at a time as our operating budget can sustain each year. The
golfers would likely not see a substantial difference in the conditions from year to year.

9. Safety & loss Control
This project would enhance safety and loss control by drastically reducing the risk of
injury to the public on the existing deteriorating surface material.

10.Environmental Considerations
This project work will include proper grading and drainage which will in turn help the
environment in the immediate surrounding area. Being adjacent to a conservation
area, we will ensure that we receive proper permits and approvals from the
Conservation Commission/Department as required.

11.Insurance
Contractor will be required to carry insurance coverage.

12.Financing
Bonded

13.0Other Considerations
None

14.0ther Approvals
Board of Selectman
Board of Finance
RTM






FAIRFIELD WOODS
MIDDLE SCHOOL

TENNIS COURT
REPLACEMENT

NON-RECURRING CAPITAL REQUEST
2024
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Town of Fairfield - FWMS Tennis Court Replacement

Background:

Fairfield Woods Middle School Tennis Courts consist of four playing courts. The courts
were rebuilt in 2004 and are at the end of their useful life. These tennis courts are an
integral part of the high school athletic program and are used for tournaments and
games. These courts are also heavily used by the general public and the Parks and
Recreation Department. The tennis courts are at the end of their 10-12 year life span
and have very large cracks and excessive peeling that are beyond repair and
repainting for use another year. We are requesting $522,000 for funding the
replacement of the Fairfield Woods Middle School Tennis courts with new Post-tension
concrete courts, new painting, surface coating, new chain link fencing and new nets.

Purpose & Justification:

The condition of the existing tennis courts is considered poor and continues to
deteriorate to the point that they are unusable. Many repairs, fixes and new paintings
have been performed over the past 18 years but current examination by professional
engineers and contractors have clearly identified that it is time for a full replacement.
The current cracks and deterioration are beyond repair to be cost effective for the long
term.

Detailed Description of Proposal:

The expenditure would cover the total costs for demolition and removal of existing
bituminous material, new installation of Post-Tension concrete courts, new painting,
surface coating, new chain link fencing and new nets.

. Reliability of Estimated Cost

The cost estimate is made up of known prices for materials and labor and machine
based on current quotes.

. Increase Efficiency or Productivity

These terms don’t directly apply to this type of project.

. Additional Long Range Costs

Post-tension tennis courts, when newly installed are guaranteed against cracks for 20
years and an additional 10 year guarantee not to bubble or peel. In contrast,
bituminous tennis courts when newly installed should last 10-12 years with proper
preventative maintenance, power washing, and repairing any cracks and repainting as
they arise.

. Additional Use or Demand on Existing Facilities

This project would reduce the maintenance costs to repair older tennis courts that are
typically performed every two years for the first 10-12 years of the new installation.
These courts, in particular, were repaired as best they could be given their condition in
2019.

. Alternatives to this request

One alternative to this request is to do nothing and to continue to spend money
repairing the courts every summer, a second alternative would be to rebuild the courts
as bituminous material, however, we would run the risk of having the same
maintenance issue we currently have.



9. Safety & loss Control
This project would enhance safety and loss control by drastically reducing the risk of
injury to students, staff, as well as the public on the existing deteriorating surface
material.

10. Environmental Considerations
This project work will include proper grading and drainage which will in turn help the
environment in the immediate surrounding area.

11.Insurance
Contractor will be required to carry insurance coverage.

12.Financing
This project would not proceed without funding approval. This project will be bonded.

13. Other Considerations
None

14. Other Approvals
Board of Selectman
Board of Finance
RTM




TUNXIS HILL PARK

PICKLEBALL COURT
REPLACEMENT

NON-RECURRING CAPITAL REQUEST
2024




Town of Fairfield — Tunxis Hill Park
Pickleball Court Replacement

. Background:

Tunxis Hill Pickleball Courts consist of four playing courts. The courts were rebuilt in
2014 and are at the end of their useful life. These pickleball courts are an integral part
of our Town'’s recreational system. These courts are heavily used by the general
public. The courts are at the end of their 10-12 year life span and have very large
cracks and excessive peeling that are beyond repair and repainting for use another
year. We are requesting $575,000 for funding the replacement of the current four
courts and addition of two courts with new Post-tension concrete courts, new painting,
surface coating, new chain link fencing and new nets.

. Purpose & Justification:

The condition of the existing pickleball courts is considered poor and continues to
deteriorate to the point that they are unusable. Many repairs, fixes and new paintings
have been performed over the past 8 years but current examination by professional
engineers and contractors have clearly identified that it is time for a full replacement.
The current cracks and deterioration are beyond repair to be cost effective for the long
term.

. Detailed Description of Proposal:

The expenditure would cover the total costs for demolition and removal of existing
bituminous material, new installation of Post-Tension concrete courts, new painting,
surface coating, new chain link fencing and new nets.

4. Reliability of Estimated Cost

The cost estimate is made up of known prices for materials and labor and machine
based on current quotes.

5. Increase Efficiency or Productivity

These terms don’t directly apply to this type of project.

6. Additional Long Range Costs

Post-tension pickleball courts, when newly installed are guaranteed against cracks for
20 years and an additional 10 year guarantee not to bubble or peel. In contrast,
bituminous tennis courts when newly installed should last 10-12 years with proper
preventative maintenance, power washing, and repairing any cracks and repainting as
they arise.

7. Additional Use or Demand on Existing Facilities

This project would reduce the maintenance costs to repair older tennis courts that are
typically performed every two years for the first 10-12 years of the new installation.
These courts, in particular, were repaired as best they could be given their condition in
2019.



8. Alternatives to this request
One alternative to this request is to do nothing and to continue to spend money
repairing the courts every summer, a second alternative would be to rebuild the courts
as bituminous material, however, we would run the risk of having the same
maintenance issue we currently have.

9. Safety & loss Control
This project would enhance safety and loss control by drastically reducing the risk of
injury to students, staff, as well as the public on the existing deteriorating surface
material.

10. Environmental Considerations

This project work will include proper grading and drainage which will in turn help the
environment in the immediate surrounding area.

11.Insurance
Contractor will be required to carry insurance coverage.

12.Financing
This project would not proceed without funding approval. This project will be bonded.

13. Other Considerations None

14. Other Approvals
Board of Selectman
Board of Finance
RTM
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FAIRFIELD 501 Kings Hwy East, Suite 210

PUBLIC SCHOOLS Fairfield, CT 06825
203-255-8309

Stephen Tracy, Ed.D.
Interim Superintendent of Schools

September 27, 2022

Dear Board of Education Members:

This booklet provides an overview of the following 2023-2024 Proposed Capital Non-Recurring and
Capital Project Requests:

Capital Non-Recurring Projects:
1. North Stratfield Elementary School Vestibule Project

. Osborn Hill Elementary School Vestibule Project

. Fairfield Woods Middle School Vestibule Project

. Fairfield Warde High School Boiler Burner Replacement Project (Design Only)

. Fairfield Warde High School Knapps Highway Tennis Courts & Basketball Court
(Design only)

N W N

Capital Projects:
1. Holland Hill Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement (Design Only)

2. Riverfield Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement
3. Roger Sherman Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement

I have included all of the above projects in the Fairfield Public Schools’ Facilities Plan. Information for
each project is provided using the 12-point format devised by the Town of Fairfield and includes:

» Justification and background information;

» A cost estimate that includes previous project information, verbal quotations, and/or written
proposals; and

» Photographs of projects in existing conditions

We hope you find this information helpful, and we are confident it will answer many of your questions as
we begin the budget discussions. Thank you for your continued support.

Sincerely,

Stephen Tracy
Interim Superintendent of Schools ST:mb






Fairfield Public Schools
2023-2024
Capital & Non-Recurring Projects

Table of Contents

Location Project Estimated Cost Page

Non-Recurring Projects

No. Stratfield Elementary School Vestibule Project S 652,500 1

Osborn Hill Elementary School Vestibule Project S 597,500 7

Fairfield Woods Middle School Vestibule Project S 769,500 13

Fairfield Warde High School Boiler Burner Replacement (Design Only) S 25,000 19

Fairfield Warde High School Knapps Highway Tennis Courts & S 30,416 25
Basketball Court (Design Only)

Capital Projects

Holland Hill Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement (Design Only) S 8,000 33

Riverfield Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement Project $1,565,110 39

Roger Sherman Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement Project $1,916,647 45

Total

$5,564,673
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North Stratfield Elementary School

North Stratfield Elementary School Security Vestibule Project $652,500

Background: North Stratfield Elementary School was built in 1961, with renovations in 1996 and
2000. Beginning with the Riverfield addition/alteration project, the district has improved the
building's main entrance security through the construction of a security vestibule. Consistent
with the last three addition/alteration projects (Riverfield, Holland Hill, and Mill Hill), the district
seeks to upgrade the main entrance security at North Stratfield concurrent with the
Districtwide Air Conditioning Project — Phase | work at that facility.

Purpose & Justification: This project is intended to improve the main security of the building
through the construction of a security vestibule.

Detailed Description: This expenditure would cover the cost of an architect and design plans
along with permits and construction - further details of the project would require a private
executive session meeting.

Estimated Cost: The cost of this funding request is $652,500. This number was calculated by
reviewing the cost of similar projects recently completed in the district to establish an industry
standard.

Long Range Costs: No significant long-range cost is associated with this project. Minor repairs
and routine upkeep will be performed as needed.

Demand on Existing Facilities: This project would create a minimum impact on the district's
current infrastructure.

Security, Safety, and Loss Control: The project would increase the safety of North Stratfield
Elementary School to the same level as other comparable district buildings.

Environmental Considerations: This project would have no environmental impact.

Funding, Financing & OSCG&R: This project would not proceed without funding approval. This
project does qualify for reimbursement through the OSCG&R program.

Schedule, Phasing & Timing: The schedule for this project would coincide with Districtwide Air
Conditioning Project — Phase | work at that facility.

Other Considerations: The Town Purchasing Department will bid out this work, which will be
awarded to a licensed professional contractor. The Town's attorney will review all contracts and
advise the Board of Selectmen on executing contracts with the winning bidder. This project




does require the formation of a Town of Fairfield Building Committee to qualify for CT OSCG&R
reimbursement.

Alternates to The Request: If this request is not approved, we will continue to operate a
building that does not meet the standard of other district buildings.




Fairfield Public Schools Long Term Facilities Plan

Project Summary Sheet

|Genera| Information

Origination Date:
Project No:

Project Name:
Non-Reoccurring Status
Project Description:

7/1/21

NS-003

Entrance Vestibule Project
Yes

1/20/21 added to waterfall
9/22 moved from 25/26

9/8/22 combined design and construction monies into one year

9/22 plugged SPA estimate into worksheet.

Status:
Project Budget |
Design Budget: $35,000
Construction Budget: $550,000
Construction Escalation: SO
Total Construction Budget: $550,000
Escalation Date: 9/20/2022
Estimated Construction Start: 7/1/2023
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses:
- State Permits (.0026%) $0
- Testing & Inspections S0
- Advertising S500
Construction Admin $7,500
Commissioning $0
Hazardous Materials $4,500
Other SO
Subtotal Fees & Expenses: $12,500
Project Subtotal $597,500
Project Contingency 10% $55,000
Total Budget $652,500
OSCGR Eligible? Yes
OSCGR Reimbursement $153,284
Action Items
1.00| |
Project Priority Ranking
- Security
- Severity of Condition 0
- Code/Statutory 0
- Programmatic Need 0
- Constructability/Sequencing 0
0

Printed: 9/21/2022
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Osborn Hill Elementary School

Osborn Hill Elementary School Security Vestibule Project $597,500

Background: Osborn Hill Elementary School was built in 1958, with renovations in 1969, 1981,
1997, 2000, and 2009. Beginning with the Riverfield addition/alteration project, the district has
improved the building's main entrance security through the construction of a security vestibule.
Consistent with the last three addition/alteration projects (Riverfield, Holland Hill, and Mill Hill),
the district seeks to upgrade the main entrance security at Osborn Hill concurrent with the
Districtwide Air Conditioning Project — Phase | work at that facility.

Purpose & Justification: This project is intended to improve the main security of the building
through the construction of a security vestibule.

Detailed Description: This expenditure would cover the cost of an architect and design plans
along with permits and construction - further details of the project would require a private
executive session meeting.

Estimated Cost: The cost of this funding request is $597,500. This number was calculated by
reviewing the cost of similar projects recently completed in the district to establish an industry
standard.

Long Range Costs: No significant long-range cost is associated with this project. Minor repairs
and routine upkeep will be performed as needed.

Demand on Existing Facilities: This project would create a minimum impact on the district's
current infrastructure.

Security, Safety, and Loss Control: The project would increase the safety of Osborn Hill
Elementary School to the same level as other comparable district buildings.

Environmental Considerations: This project would have no environmental impact.

Funding, Financing & OSCG&R: This project would not proceed without funding approval. This
project does qualify for reimbursement through the OSCG&R program.

Schedule, Phasing & Timing: The schedule for this project would coincide with Districtwide Air
Conditioning Project — Phase | work at that facility.

Other Considerations: The Town Purchasing Department will bid out this work, which will be
awarded to a licensed professional contractor. The Town's attorney will review all contracts and
advise the Board of Selectmen on executing contracts with the winning bidder.




This project does require the formation of a Town of Fairfield Building Committee to qualify for
CT OSCG&R reimbursement.

Alternates to The Request: If this request is not approved, we will continue to operate a
building that does not meet the standard of other district buildings.



Fairfield Public Schools Long Term Facilities Plan
Project Summary Sheet

General Information

Origination Date:
Project No:

Project Name:
Non-Reoccurring Status
Project Description:

Entrance Vestibule Project

1/20/21 added to waterfall
9/8/22 combined design and construction monies into one year
9/22 plugged spa estimate in

Project Budget

Design Budget:

Construction Budget:
Construction Escalation:
Total Construction Budget:

Escalation Date:
Estimated Construction Start:

Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses:
- State Permits (.0026%)
- Testing & Inspections
- Advertising
Construction Admin
Commissioning
Hazardous Materials
Other
Subtotal Fees & Expenses:

Project Subtotal
Project Contingency 10%
Total Budget

OSCGR Eligible?

$35,000

$500,000
S0

$500,000
9/20/2022
7/1/2023

S0
$7,500
$500
S0

S0
$4,500
S0

$12,500

$547,500
$55,000

$597,500

Yes

OSCGR Reimbursement $140,364

Action Items

Project Priority Ranking

- Security

- Severity of Condition

- Code/Statutory

- Programmatic Need

- Constructability/Sequencing

o0 O O ©
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Fairfield Woods Middle School

Fairfield Woods Middle School Security Vestibule Project $769,500

Background: Fairfield Woods Middle School was built in 1954, with renovations in 1961, 1972,
1995, and 2011. Beginning with the Riverfield addition/alteration project, the district has
improved the building's main entrance security through the construction of a security vestibule.
Consistent with the last three addition/alteration projects (Riverfield, Holland Hill, and Mill Hill),
the district seeks to upgrade the main entrance security at Fairfield Woods concurrent with the
Districtwide Air Conditioning Project — Phase | work at that facility.

Purpose & Justification: This project is intended to improve the main security of the building
through the construction of a security vestibule.

Detailed Description: This expenditure would cover the cost of an architect and design plans
along with permits and construction - further details of the project would require a private
executive session meeting.

Estimated Cost: The cost of this funding request is $769,500. This number was calculated by
reviewing the cost of similar projects recently completed in the district to establish an industry

standard.

Long Range Costs: No significant long-range cost is associated with this project. Minor repairs
and routine upkeep will be performed as needed.

Demand on Existing Facilities: This project would create a minimum impact on the district's
current infrastructure.

Security, Safety, and Loss Control: The project would increase the safety of Fairfield Woods
Middle School to the same level as other comparable district buildings.

Environmental Considerations: This project would have no environmental impact.

Funding, Financing & OSCG&R: This project would not proceed without funding approval. This
project does qualify for reimbursement through the OSCG&R program.

Schedule, Phasing & Timing: The schedule for this project would coincide with Districtwide Air
Conditioning Project — Phase | work at that facility.

Other Considerations: The Town Purchasing Department will bid out this work, which will be
awarded to a licensed professional contractor. The Town's attorney will review all contracts and
advise the Board of Selectmen on executing contracts with the winning bidder. This project

13



does require the formation of a Town of Fairfield Building Committee to qualify for CT OSCG&R
reimbursement.

Alternates to The Request: If this request is not approved, we will continue to operate a
building that does not meet the standard of other district buildings.
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Fairfield Public Schools Long Term Facilities Plan
Project Summary Sheet

General Information

Origination Date: 7/1/21
Project No: FWMS-006
Project Name: Entrance Vestibule Project

Non-Reoccurring Status

Project Description: 1/20/21 added to waterfall
9/22 moved from 29/30
9/22 plugged SPA estimate in

Status:
Project Budget |
Design Budget: $40,000
Construction Budget: $650,000
Construction Escalation: SO
Total Construction Budget: $650,000
Escalation Date: 9/20/2022
Estimated Construction Start: 7/1/2023
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses:
- State Permits (.0026%) S0
- Testing & Inspections S0
- Advertising SO
Construction Admin S500
Commissioning $8,500
Hazardous Materials $5,500
Other SO
Subtotal Fees & Expenses: $14,500
Project Subtotal $704,500
Project Contingency 10% $65,000
Total Budget $769,500
OSCGR Eligible? Yes
OSCGR Reimbursement $180,769
Action Items
1.00| |

Project Priority Ranking

- Security

- Severity of Condition

- Code/Statutory

- Programmatic Need

- Constructability/Sequencing

o|©o O O O
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Fairfield Woods Middle School
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Fairfield Warde High School

Fairfield Warde High School Boiler Burner Replacement Project $343,862

Amount of funding request at this time $25,000

Background: Fairfield Warde was built in 1955 and has three boilers. The boilers were replaced
in 2006, 2012, and 2015. The burners were in good condition at the time and were not included
as part of the boiler project. The burners are now starting to fail and are showing signs of their
age as they were originally installed in 2000. This funding request is for architectural design
services to produce bid documents to replace the burners. A funding request for the full
replacements will be made at a future date with the anticipation of a summer 2024 installation.

Purpose & Justification: This project would be to update the boilers to a newer burner system
that would meet today’s standards for energy efficiency.

Detailed Description: This expenditure would cover the cost of a design architect to design
plans and prepare the bid to replace the burners.

Estimated Cost: The cost of this funding request is $25,000. This number was calculated by
working with multiple engineering firms to establish and industry standard for pricing on
similar projects.

Long Range Costs: The only long-range cost would be routine maintenance of the newer
system.

Demand on Existing Facilities: This project would ease the strain on the current infrastructure
by providing newer equipment with less than current maintenance requirements. Additionally,
there would be the potential for energy savings with newer, more efficient equipment.

Security, Safety, and Loss Control: The project would provide a safe and optimum learning
environment by allowing us to maintain building temperatures through the cold months.

Environmental Considerations: This project would have a positive environmental impact as the
new boilers would meet new standards on environmental impact.

Funding, Financing & OSCG&R: This project would not proceed without funding approval. This
project does not qualify for reimbursement through the OSCG&R program.

Schedule, Phasing & Timing: This project would work through the 2023/2024 fiscal year with an
engineering company on the Town’s on-call services list to prepare for an early 2024/2025 bid
to optimize the best pricing available.
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Other Considerations: This project is being approved in 2023/2024 as a non-recurring request

for design services; we plan to reapply for funding for this project to move forward in the
2024/2025 fiscal year.

Alternates to The Request: If this request is not approved, we will continue to maintain aging
and failing systems to the best of our ability.
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Fairfield Public Schools Long Term Facilities Plan
Project Summary Sheet

General Information

Origination Date: 7/1/21
Project No: FWHS-006
Project Name: Replace Boiler/ Burner NR

Non-Reoccurring Status
Project Description:

Status:

Project Budget |
Design Budget: $25,000
Construction Budget: $250,000
Construction Escalation: $31,246
Total Construction Budget: $281,246
Escalation Date: 7/1/2021
Estimated Construction Start: 7/1/2024
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses:

- State Permits (.0026%) $731

- Testing & Inspections SO

- Advertising SO
Construction Admin $2,813
Commissioning $2,813
Hazardous Materials N
Other SO
Subtotal Fees & Expenses: $6,356
Project Subtotal $312,602
Project Contingency 10% $31,260
Total Budget $343,862
OSCGR Eligible? No

OSCGR Reimbursement

Action Items

1.00| |

Project Priority Ranking

- Security

- Severity of Condition

- Code/Statutory

- Programmatic Need

- Constructability/Sequencing

oO|©O © O O
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Fairfield Warde High School

Boiler Burner Replacement Project

(Design Only)
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Fairfield Warde High School

Knapp’s Hwy Tennis/Basketball Courts Replacement $418,362

Amount of funding requested at this time S 30,416

Background: Fairfield Warde High School Knapp’s Hwy Tennis/Basketball Courts consist
of four tennis-playing courts and one basketball court located near Knapp’s Hwy beside
the high school. They are original from the 60s and are at the end of their useful life. The
tennis courts are well over 60 years old and had a resurface completed in 2007. They
have substantial cracks that require ongoing repair. This funding request is for
architectural design services to produce bid documents to replace the four tennis courts
and one basketball court with a new post-tension system concrete playing surface, new
fencing, and gates around the tennis court area, along with new nets and posts.
Additionally, the basketball post and rims will be replaced. A funding request for the full
replacements will be made at a future date with the anticipation of a summer 2024
installation.

Purpose & Justification: The condition of the existing tennis courts is considered poor
and continues to deteriorate. The cracks and deterioration are beyond repair and are
not cost-effective in the long term. This project would allow the school and community
to use the tennis courts for many years

Detailed Description: This expenditure would cover the cost of a design architect to
design plans and prepare the bid to replace the tennis/basketball courts.

Estimated Cost: The cost of this funding request is $30,416. This number was calculated
by working with established contractors to provide budget numbers based on industry
standards.

Long Range Costs: Tennis courts, when installed new, should last at least 20+ years with
proper preventative maintenance and power washing.

Demand on Existing Facilities: This project would reduce the maintenance costs of older
tennis courts.

Security, Safety and Loss Control: This project would enhance safety and loss control by
drastically reducing the risk of students, staff, and the public getting hurt on the
deteriorating surface material.

Environmental Considerations: This project will include proper grading and drainage,
which will help the environment in the immediate surrounding area.

Funding, Financing & OSCG&R: This project would not proceed without funding
approval. There are no State or Federal regulations that require this project to be
undertaken. This project is not eligible for reimbursement through the OSCG&R
Program.
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Schedule, Phasing & Timing: Approval of this funding will allow completion of the
design work over the 2023/2024 fiscal year and preparation for a whole project
approval and bid over the 2024/2025 fiscal year.

Other Considerations: The work will be bid out by the Town Purchasing Department
and performed by outside professional licensed contractors.

Alternates to the Request: The alternative to this request is to do nothing. This
alternative will delay this much-needed replacement and could increase the risk of
closing the tennis courts for play and/or athletic events.
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Fairfield Public Schools Long Term Facilities Plan
Project Summary Sheet

General Information

Origination Date: 7/1/21
Project No: FWHS-007
Project Name: Knapps Hwy Tennis Courts & Basketball Courts

Non-Reoccurring Status
Project Description:

Status:

Project Budget |
Design Budget: $30,416
Construction Budget: $304,163
Construction Escalation: $38,016
Total Construction Budget: $342,179
Escalation Date: 7/1/2021
Estimated Construction Start: 7/1/2024
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses:

- State Permits (.0026%) $890

- Testing & Inspections SO

- Advertising SO
Construction Admin $3,422
Commissioning $3,422
Hazardous Materials N
Other SO
Subtotal Fees & Expenses: $7,734
Project Subtotal $380,329
Project Contingency 10% $38,033
Total Budget $418,362
OSCGR Eligible? No

OSCGR Reimbursement

Action Items

1.00| |

Project Priority Ranking

- Security

- Severity of Condition

- Code/Statutory

- Programmatic Need

- Constructability/Sequencing

oO|©O ©O O O
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Fairfield Warde High School
Tennis Court Project (Design Only)
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Fairfield Warde High School

Basketball Court Project (Design Only)
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Capital Projects






Holland Hill Elementary School

Holland Hill Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement $1,370,014

Amount of funding request at this time $8,000

Background: Holland Hill Elementary School was built in 1956, with additions and alterations in
1978, 2001 & 2018. The six built-up roof areas originally installed in 1991 and 1996 are now out
of warranty and are approaching the end of life. This funding request is for architectural design
services to produce bid documents to replace these six roof areas. Funding for the roof
replacements will be made at a future date in anticipation of a summer of 2024 installation.

Purpose & Justification: This project is intended to replace the parts of the roof at Holland Hill
Elementary School, showing multiple areas of fatigue. The district has identified the roof as
needing replacement on the roofing waterfall chart. The areas to be replaced were not part of
the latest building alteration and addition project.

Detailed Description: Today's funding request would be to perform design services that allow us
to prepare for a full funding request in anticipation of a summer 2024 installation.

Estimated Cost: The cost of this funding request is $8,000. This number was based on the
results of Bid #2021-40

Long Range Costs: There are no long-range costs associated with this request.

Demand on Existing Facilities: This request causes no demand on this facility.

Security, Safety, and Loss Control: Once designed and installed, the new roofing system will
provide a dry and safe environment for optimum working and learning.

Environmental Considerations: Once designed and installed, the new roofing system will meet
all new current codes and be consistent with industry standards.

Funding, Financing & OSCG&R: This project would not proceed without funding approval. The
anticipated roof replacement project (that results from this architectural design) does qualify
for reimbursement through the OSCG&R program.

Schedule, Phasing & Timing: The anticipated roof replacement project schedule would be a late
fall bid in 2023; this early bid will facilitate the best pricing for a 2024 summer recess project. All
work would be performed over the 2024 summer recess, and we do not anticipate issues or
concerns with the start of the 2024 school year.

Other Considerations: The Town Purchasing Department will bid out this anticipated roof
replacement work, and the work will be awarded to a licensed professional contractor. The
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Town's attorney will review all contracts and advise the Board of Selectmen on executing
contracts with the winning bidder. This project does require the formation of a Town of
Fairfield Roof Building Committee to qualify for CT OSCG&R reimbursement.

Alternates to The Request: The alternate would be to keep performing regular maintenance
and repairs to a failing infrastructure at a higher cost. Additionally, by not performing this work,
we risk the ability to provide a dry and secure building. Not performing this work can potentially
compromise the indoor air quality of the building.
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Fairfield Public Schools Long Term Facilities Plan
Project Summary Sheet

|Genera| Information

Origination Date: 7/1/21

Project No: HH-001

Project Name: Partial Roof Replacement

Non-Reoccurring Status

Project Description: 1/20/21added to waterfall
Status:

|Project Budget |

Design Budget: $8,000
Construction Budget: $1,093,675
Construction Escalation: $136,693
Total Construction Budget: $1,230,368
Escalation Date: 7/1/2021
Estimated Construction Start: 7/1/2024
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses:
- State Permits (.0026%) $3,199
- Testing & Inspections S0
- Advertising $0
Construction Admin $3,900
Commissioning SO
Hazardous Materials SO
Other SO
Subtotal Fees & Expenses: $7,099
Project Subtotal $1,245,467
Project Contingency 10% $124,547
Total Budget $1,370,014
OSCGR Eligible? Yes
OSCGR Reimbursement $321,841
Action Items
1.00| |

Project Priority Ranking

- Security

- Severity of Condition

- Code/Statutory

- Programmatic Need

- Constructability/Sequencing

o|©o O O O
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Holland Hill Elementary School

Partial Roof Replacement

(Design Only)
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Riverfield Elementary School

Riverfield Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement $1,565,110

Background: Riverfield had a new roof installed in 1991. In 2012 a roof warranty extension
project was done to extend the useful life of the roof area. This past year the roof system
began to exhibit signs of rapid failure and increased leaks in quantity and severity. Our roof
preventative maintenance contractor (Tecta America) performed several larger area repairs
that will be sufficient to maintain a dry building for this school year. Tecta America has
reported that it is time to replace these roofs before these 'temporary' larger area repairs fail
and further damage increases rapidly. This request is for the funding of the replacement of
these roofs.

Purpose & Justification: The conditions of these four roofs are declining, and leaks are
increasing in frequency and severity. Replacing these roofs now will prevent the need to
replace them as an emergency, thus preventing disruption to the school's learning
environment.

Detailed Description: This expenditure would cover the total costs for removing the five roof
areas down to the existing roof deck and installing a new roofing system. These funds would
also cover the bidding and construction administration costs and a contingency for unforeseen
conditions that might be uncovered during construction activities. The replacement of a new
roofing system will carry a minimum twenty-year warranty.

Estimated Cost: The cost of this funding request is $ 1,565,110. This number was based on the
probable cost estimate provided a Silver/Petrucelli Architects, the architectural design firm
hired to design this roof replacement project.

Long Range Costs: Roof replacements will reduce the maintenance costs on old roofs and
produce energy savings through a better insulated roof system. This roof replacement project
is part of the Fairfield Public Schools waterfall schedule, and the anticipated life of this upgrade
is 20+ years with our current roof preventative maintenance program.

Demand on Existing Facilities: This project would reduce the maintenance costs for roof repairs
and increase energy efficiency in the building.

Security, Safety, and Loss Control: The new roofing system will provide a dry and safe
environment for optimum working and learning.

Environmental Considerations: The new roofing system would meet all new current codes and
be consistent with the industry standard. It would also reduce greenhouse gases through
increased energy efficiency.
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Funding, Financing & OSCG&R: This project would not proceed without funding approval. This
project does qualify for reimbursement through the OSCG&R program.

Schedule, Phasing & Timing: The schedule for this project would be a late fall bid in 2022. This
early bidding will facilitate the best pricing for a 2023 summer recess project. All work would
be performed and completed during the 2023 summer recess.

Other Considerations: The Town Purchasing Department will bid out this work, which will be
awarded to a licensed professional contractor. The Town's attorney will review all contracts
and advise the Board of Selectmen on executing contracts with the winning bidder. This project
does require the formation of a Town of Fairfield Roof Building Committee to qualify for CT
OSCG&R reimbursement.

Alternates to The Request: The alternate would be to keep performing regular maintenance
and repairs to a failing infrastructure at a higher cost. Additionally, by not performing this
work, we risk the ability to provide a dry and secure building. Not performing this work can
potentially compromise the indoor air quality of the building.
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Fairfield Public Schools Long Term Facilities Plan
Project Summary Sheet

General Information

Origination Date: 7/1/21
Project No: RIV-001
Project Name: Partial Roof Replacement

Non-Reoccurring Status
Project Description: 1/20/21 added to waterfall

9/8/22 combined design and construction monies into one year

Status:

Project Budget |
Design Budget: SO
Construction Budget: S0
Construction Escalation: S0
Total Construction Budget: S0
Escalation Date: 7/1/2021
Estimated Construction Start: 7/1/2023
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses:

- State Permits (.0026%) S0

- Testing & Inspections S0

- Advertising SO
Construction Admin SO
Commissioning SO
Hazardous Materials SO
Other SO
Subtotal Fees & Expenses: S0
Project Subtotal S0
Project Contingency 10% S0
Total Budget $1,565,110
OSCGR Eligible? Yes
OSCGR Reimbursement $367,673
Action Items

1.00 |

Project Priority Ranking

- Security

- Severity of Condition

- Code/Statutory

- Programmatic Need

- Constructability/Sequencing

o|©o O O O
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Riverfield Elementary School
Partial Roof Replacement Project
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Roger Sherman Elementary School

Roger Sherman Elementary School Partial Roof Replacement $1,916,647

Background: Five roof areas are at the end of their useful lives and are in need of replacement.
Two roofs were installed in 1991, and the other three were installed in 2000. These roofs are
out of warranty as of 2016 and 2020, respectively. The roof systems are showing signs of
failure, and our roof preventative maintenance contractor has reported that it is time to
replace these roofs before further damage increases rapidly. This request is for the funding of
the replacement of these roofs.

Purpose & Justification: The conditions of these five roofs are declining, and leaks are increasing
in frequency and severity. Replacing these roofs now will prevent the need to replace them in
an emergency, thus preventing disruption to the school's learning environment.

Detailed Description: This expenditure would cover the total costs for removing the five roof
areas down to the existing roof deck and installing a new roofing system. These funds would
also cover the bidding and construction administration costs and a contingency for unforeseen
conditions that might be uncovered during construction activities. The replacement of a new
roofing system will carry a minimum twenty-year warranty.

Estimated Cost: The cost of this funding request is $ 1,916,647. This number was based on the
probable cost estimate provided a Silver/Petrucelli Architects, the architectural design firm
hired to design this roof replacement project.

Long Range Costs: Roof replacements will reduce the maintenance costs on old roofs and
produce energy savings through a better insulated roof system. This roof replacement project is
part of the Fairfield Public Schools waterfall schedule, and the anticipated life of this upgrade is
20+ years with our current roof preventative maintenance program.

Demand on Existing Facilities: This project would reduce the maintenance costs for roof repairs
and increase energy efficiency in the building.

Security, Safety, and Loss Control: The new roofing system will provide a dry and safe
environment for optimum working and learning.

Environmental Considerations: The new roofing system would meet all new current codes and
be consistent with the industry standard. It would also reduce greenhouse gases through
increased energy efficiency.
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Funding, Financing & OSCG&R: This project would not proceed without funding approval. This
project does qualify for reimbursement through the OSCG&R program.

Schedule, Phasing & Timing: The schedule for this project would be a late fall bid in 2022. This
early bidding will facilitate the best pricing for a 2023 summer recess project. All work would be
performed and completed during the 2023 summer recess.

Other Considerations: The Town Purchasing Department will bid out this work, which will be
awarded to a licensed professional contractor. The Town's attorney will review all contracts and
advise the Board of Selectmen on executing contracts with the winning bidder. This project
does require the formation of a Town of Fairfield Roof Building Committee to qualify for CT
OSCG&R reimbursement.

Alternates to The Request: The alternate would be to keep performing regular maintenance
and repairs to a failing infrastructure at a higher cost. Additionally, by not performing this work,
we risk the ability to provide a dry and secure building. Not performing this work can potentially
compromise the indoor air quality of the building.
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Fairfield Public Schools Long Term Facilities Plan
Project Summary Sheet

General Information

Origination Date: 7/1/21
Project No: SHERM-001
Project Name: Roof Replacement

Non-Reoccurring Status
Project Description:

Status:

Project Budget |
Design Budget: SO
Construction Budget: SO
Construction Escalation: S0
Total Construction Budget: SO
Escalation Date: 7/1/2021
Estimated Construction Start: 7/1/2023
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses:

- State Permits (.0026%) SO

- Testing & Inspections SO

- Advertising SO
Construction Admin S0
Commissioning SO
Hazardous Materials N
Other SO
Subtotal Fees & Expenses: SO
Project Subtotal SO
Project Contingency 10% S0
Total Budget $1,916,647
OSCGR Eligible? Yes

OSCGR Reimbursement $450,255

Action Items

1.00| |

Project Priority Ranking

- Security

- Severity of Condition

- Code/Statutory

- Programmatic Need

- Constructability/Sequencing

o0 O O O©
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A RESOLUTION APPROPRIATING $760,000 FOR THE COSTS RELATED TO USES
OF CORONAVIRUS STATE FISCAL RECOVERY FUND AND THE CORONAVIRUS
LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND

WHEREAS, the Town of Fairfield, Connecticut (the “Town”) received grant funds from
both the Coronavirus State Fiscal Recovery Fund and the Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund
in the total amount of $24,800,000 (the “Grant Funds”); and

WHEREAS, on September 27, 2021, the Town’s Representative Town Meeting (“RTM”)
approved a resolution entitled: “A RESOLUTION APPROPRIATING $24,800,000 FOR THE
COSTS RELATED TO USES OF CORONAVIRUS STATE FISCAL RECOVERY FUND AND
THE CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND SPECIFIED IN EXHIBIT A” (the
“Initial Resolution”); and

WHEREAS, on October 24, 2022, the Town’s RTM approved a resolution entitled: “A
RESOLUTION AMENDING AND RESTATING A RESOLUTION ENTITIED *“A
RESOLUTION APPROPRIATING $24,800,000 FOR THE COSTS RELATED TO USES OF
CORONAVIRUS STATE FISCAL RECOVERY FUND AND THE CORONAVIRUS LOCAL
FISCAL RECOVERY FUND SPECIFIED IN EXHIBIT A;” TO REDUCE THE
APPROPRIATION TO $22,640,000 AND REVISE CERTAIN USES OF FUNDS IN THE
PROJECT LIST AS REFLECTED IN THE ATTACHED AMENDED EXHIBIT A” (the
“Amended Resolution”) in order to amend and restate the Initial Resolution to reflect certain
project list revisions, including funding amounts for certain projects, as reflected in the Exhibit A
attached to the Amended Resolution; and

WHEREAS, the Amended Resolution reduced the total appropriation from $24,800,000
to $22,640,000; and

WHEREAS, Grant Funds in the amount of $2,160,000 remain to be appropriated for
additional Town projects, and the Town desires to appropriate $760,000 of the $2,160,000 in Grant
Funds for the uses specified in Exhibit A attached hereto.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:

As recommended by the Board of Finance and the Board of Selectmen, the Town of Fairfield,
Connecticut hereby appropriates the sum of Seven Hundred Sixty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars
($760,000) subject to the availability of such funds, for the uses specified in the project list set
forth in the attached Exhibit A.



EXHIBIT A

Coronavirus State Fiscal Recovery Fund and the Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund

Project List

Department Project Amount
Fire Fire Station Rehabilitation $50,000
Fire Shift Commander Vehicle Replacement $150,000
Park & Rec Sgt. Murphy Playground Replacement $150,000
Police Police Department Headquarters Rehabilitation $350,000
Fire Vehicle Replacement $60,000

$760,000
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Fire Station Rehabilitation Program Year 3:
Overhead Doors, Exhaust Systems and Design Work $300,000

1. Background

This project is Phase 3 of a multiyear Program enabling the rehabilitation of the five
Fairfield Fire Stations. The Program addresses the major living and operating spaces
critical to efficient, safe and healthy working conditions. The first five years of the Program
addresses bathrooms, overhead doors, vehicle apparatus bay exhaust systems,
apparatus maintenance facilities, ADA compliance, security initiatives, infrastructure and
continuity of operations systems, window replacement and a kitchen renovation. This
Program is distinct from and not addressed by the DPW “Capital Needs Assessment”
which pointed out Town Facilities’ code violations, HVAC and other internal building
infrastructure needs. We believe that the Fire Department’'s comprehensive Station
Rehabilitation Program will preserve the operating effectiveness of our facilities for
decades.

2. Purpose and Justification

The Fire Department proposes to renovate conditions at Fire Stations over the next fiscal
years. This proposal comes after annual assessments of our facilities beginning in 2016.
Over this period the fire department, with the assistance of the DPW, evaluated the
conditions of the stations and highlighted the priority projects that cannot be completed
without capital budget investments. The department respectfully requests this investment
in our stations.

These projects include repair, renovation or replacement of the spaces and systems.
They include:

e FY 21 Bathrooms Design: Architect produced design of bathrooms at Stations 2, 1
and 5.

e FY 22 Exhaust Systems were completed, Overhead Doors: Planning Stage

e FY 23 Overhead Doors: Underway in Q2, Renovation of Station 2 Bathrooms Q1-
Q2. Continuation of Bathroom renovations: Station 1 is next. Station 5 will be in
future FY.

e Future Projects: Renovation of Administrative Offices, Elevator and Fire Sprinklers at
Headquarters, Station 2 Dorm Upgrade, Station 1 Kitchen Upgrade and Storage
Space Addition, Cameras, Security and Generators at various fire stations, Station 3
Apparatus Epoxy floor.

Each of these projects address specific issues. The projects are sequenced to insure that
no portion of a project would be duplicative or require further investments. Through careful
design and selection of durable, cost effective and easy to maintain materials each project
is expected to have long service life extending for decades.



The completion of this Multi-Year Fire Station Rehabilitation Project will address the major
shortcomings plaguing our facilities. It is expected that following the completion of this
project, the department will maintain its facilities with normal operating budget
appropriations for building maintenance.

3. Detailed Description of Proposal

The major focus of this request is to continue the bathroom renovation project. Fire
Station 2's bathroom is complete and rather than accepting last-year’s bid results for
Station 1 we are re-bidding the project utilizing existing Architect’s drawings and hope to
get more favorable costing.

The project we are looking to complete in this request is Fire Station 1. Last year’s bids
ranged from $312K to $405K, not including asbestos and lead remediation and temporary
bathroom trailers. We believe that prices may be more favorable at this time.

4. Reliability of Cost Estimate

Project budget is based on estimates provided in FY22 Q2 but will go out to re-bid FY23
Q3 in order to ensure reliable cost estimate and with possibility to reduce quoted prices.

5. Increased Efficiency and Productivity

The existing equipment and spaces are highly inefficient and unreliable. These spaces
were built over 60 years ago. 1950’s-era windows will be replaced in second floor spaces
and will reduce energy loss. There have been numerous failures of 2" floor bathroom
piping which resulted in leaks into the kitchen area below.

6. Additional Long Range Costs

The department expects reduced long term maintenance costs as the existing equipment
is subject to failures requiring costly emergency repairs by contractors.

7. Additional Use or Demand

These projects are part of the comprehensive multiyear station improvement plan and will
provide safe and efficient fire station services for 30-40 years.



8. Alternatives to This Request

The proposal makes the best use of capital funding. The alternative would be to have a
larger capital request and then attempt to complete all the remaining bathroom projects
at one time. However, the bids that were originally received did not indicate significant
savings for that scale of work.

9. Safety

This project is expected to considerably improve the health and safety conditions. This
project will assure that waste-water is not leaking into the kitchen area causing a serious
health concern. Additionally, Station 1 is open to the public and the completion of this
project will provide required ADA facilities.

10. Environmental Considerations

Environmental concerns such as lead, asbestos and PCBs are addressed properly during
construction projects. Additionally, all new fixtures are energy efficient.

11. Insurance

N/A

12. Financing

Bonding per Town Policy.

13. Other Considerations

N/A

14. Approvals

BOS, BOF, RTM



FFairfield f i Department

140 Reef Road o ] Office (203) 254-4713
Fairfield, CT 06824-5997 Administrative Office Office (203) 254-4720
Fax (203) 254-4724

December 8, 2022
14 Point Summary of Funding Request for Replacement of Fire Department Command Vehicle: $150,000
1. Background

The function and reliability of fire apparatus and the equipment carried on them directly impacts the ability of
the Fairfield Fire Department to accomplish its primary mission of saving lives and protecting property. In
accordance with the apparatus replacement program, the department is requesting replacement of Car 3, a 2019
Ford F-250. Car 3 was placed in service April 2019 and by the time it’s delivered and outfitted, it will be in
service for about 5 years and will have over 80,000 miles on it. Car 3 is the shift commander’s response vehicle
that responds to all multi-unit responses and provided command and coordination to all multi-unit incidents. It
is essential that the shift commander have a reliable four wheel drive vehicle capable of safe operation in all
weather conditions. When the shift commander arrives on the scene emergency, they assume command of the
incident. Establishment of effective incident command with the required to technology to support the incident
operations protects the safety of the responders and assures an effective and coordinated response to the fire or
other emergency. Car 3 is consistently utilized as part of the Incident Command Post.
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2. Purpose and Justification

Our replacement program calls for replacement of the shift commander’s vehicle every 5 years.

The shift commander travels approximately 16,500 miles per year.

c. Existing Car 3 is a 2019 Ford F-250 with 57,000 miles. By time of replacement Car 3 will have
approximately 82,000 miles.

d. This vehicle is a front line response vehicle that serves as the foundation for our incident
management team. It provides critical incident management resources. It also contains
firefighting equipment as well as command and communications equipment. It is in service 24
hours a day, 7 days a week. As the fire service evolves into an all hazards response organization,
we take on more roles and responsibilities which means more equipment and technology. We
need a durable, reliable and capable vehicle to perform the functions that it provides.

e. Existing Car 3 will be used as a reserve unit when Car 3 is out for service. It will also be placed

in front line service when the Callback Shift Commander comes in during working fires or

weather events.

oo

3. Detailed Description of Proposal

Vehicle, F250 $55,000
Cap and Tray $ 9,000
Warning Equipment and Vehicle Marking $19,000
Custom Qutfitting for Incident Management Equipment $22,000
Communications and Incident Management Technology/Equipment $25,000
Fire and Rescue Equipment $20,000
Total Cost of Project $150,000

4, Reliability of Cost Estimate

On a scale of 1 to 10, the reliability of this estimate is a 9.0. The proposed request is uncomplicated and costs are easily
quantified.

5. Increased Efficiency and Productivity

This purchase will enable timely replacement of equipment used daily in our core mission and ensure efficient
and reliable response and command.

6. Additional Long Range Costs

None anticipated.

7. Additional Use or Demand

None anticipated.



8. Alternatives to This Request

None

9. Safety

The Incident Commander makes incident management decisions that are critical and can be life altering. To do
this properly, they must have modern technology readily available on the fire scene. This technology includes
incident management software, air management software, and accurate electronic pre-plan information.
Additionally, there is a great deal of data that indicates that exposure to firefighting gear and equipment can
increase the likelihood of cancer in firefighters which is why the Fairfield Fire Department along with
numerous other emergency response groups such as Bridgeport, Stratford, Wilton, Norwalk and East Haven
Fire Departments, as well as the Connecticut State Police, have switched from an SUV style command vehicle
to a pick up style to remove all PPE from the passenger compartment of vehicles. Our use of this type of
vehicle has kept firefighting equipment and gear separate from the passenger area of the vehicle.

10. Environmental Considerations

No Environmental impact.
11. Insurance
N/A

12. Financing

No additional expenditures are tied to this request. We expect this item to have a useful life for budgeting purposes of 15
years: 5 years first-line service 5 years as a spare vehicle and 5 years as a utility vehicle.

13. Other Considerations

N/A

14. Approvals

First Selectman, Board of Selectmen, Board of Finance, RTM
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Town of Fairfield — SGT Murphy Park Playground Replacement

1. Background:
SGT Murphy Park is a 1.5 acre piece of property located at 140 Reef Road. This park
is similar to many of the Town’s inventory of parks as this is a neighborhood park. The
park consists of a covered pavilion with a picnic table, a couple benches, and an
outdated playground. The playground includes an original swing set with four swings,
a slide, an old seesaw, and a dated set of monkey bars. We are requesting $150,000
for funding the replacement of the playground equipment, upgrades to the covered
pavilion, and to add additional picnic tables and benches.

2. Purpose & Justification:
The condition of the existing playground is considered poor and continues to
deteriorate to the point that the equipment is unsafe. Many repairs, fixes and new
paintings have been performed over the years but current examination by our Master
Plan consultant has clearly identified that it is time for a full replacement.

3. Detailed Description of Proposal:
The expenditure would cover the total costs for demolition and removal of existing
playground equipment. It would also cover the complete installation of the new
equipment and wood fiber surfacing.

4. Reliability of Estimated Cost
The cost of materials and installation was estimated by KOMPAN. The new
playground would meet all playground safety requirements.

5. Increase Efficiency or Productivity
These terms don’t directly apply to this type of project.

6. Additional Long Range Costs
| do not see any long range costs associated with this project outside of normal
maintenance.

7. Additional Use or Demand on Existing Facilities
This project would not contribute to additional use or demand of the neighborhood
park.

8. Alternatives to this request
The alternative to this request is to do nothing. While the park is currently functional,
there will come a point where equipment will fail and need to be removed and/or
replaced. The cost of doing nothing also runs the risk of potential lawsuits for injuries
on noncompliant playground equipment.

9. Safety & loss Control
This project would enhance safety and loss control by drastically reducing the risk of
the public getting hurt on the existing deteriorating playground equipment.

10.Environmental Considerations
This project work will meet all environment requirements and considerations.



11.Insurance
Contractor will be required to carry insurance coverage.

12.Financing
This project would not proceed without funding approval. This project will be bonded.

13.0ther Considerations
None

14.0Other Approvals
Board of Selectman
Board of Finance

RTM




Police Department Rehabilitation

Year 1: Lobby Reconfigure; Build Shift Commander Office; Classroom Technology; Carpets.
Rough Est. $300,000

Year 2: Men and Women’s Locker Rooms and Bathroom; Booking; Detention Area Rough Est.
$500,000

Year 3: Former ECC Redesign; Rough Est. 300,000

1. Background

The police department building has been operating 24/7/365 since 1976. In the last 50
years, the needs of the police department have grown. Like every growing police
department, the needs for more parking, more office space, and more indoor and
outdoor secured storage have increased.

In addition to the square footage and footprint concerns, there are concerns regarding
the basic functionality and safety of the various areas in and around the police
department.

One can make an argument that the Police Department is in need of new facility. The
disjointed structure of the building does not allow for all Divisions and Bureaus to work
in the same cohesive space. Over the years, Server Rooms and Evidence Storage have
taken real estate of office space. All the bathrooms in the building need to be updated,
sinks, toilets and the roof leak, electrical outlets constantly trip, and HVAC can rarely be
regulated to work comfortably, even after the recent upgrade to the system. We often
field union complaints about the working conditions in the building. Any large equipment
or vehicles that are seized as evidence are stored in our general unsecured outdoor
parking lot. Due to ongoing maintenance issues, security becomes challenging as
contractors and venders are required to both be vetted and escorted (according to
federal requirements) throughout the building. This issue is further exacerbated
because of consistent work being performed by various telecommunications companies
that need access to the Police Department’s roof and cell phone tower.

FPD Command Staff members have consolidated some of these concerns and are
proposing a 3-year renovation plan for some of the heaviest impacted areas around the
police department. This effort will address the major operating spaces critical to
efficient, safe and healthy working conditions.

Ideally, this renovation is a multiyear project, to be completed in 3 separate phases.
Each phase will align with a fiscal year (FY), contingent on design, supply chain, and
construction availability.

The 3 phases are listed below:



FY 23-24

e Lobby reconfiguration — Addition of Shift Commander Office

e New carpets throughout the building

e Upgrade the technology in the multipurpose classroom (used for training, press
conferences, commissioner/town meetings)

FY 24-25

e Upgrade the safety of the police booking area and build a mental wellness
holding area

e Women’s Locker Room & Bathroom & Lactation Area

e Men’s Locker Room & Bathroom

FY 25-26

e Former ECC Redesign

2. Purpose and Justification

The following summarizes the 3 phases of this proposed project. However additional
information including a variety of concerns can be found in the Town'’s Capital Needs
Assessment Report (October 8,2021).

Phase 1 of this project includes three major elements.

FY 23-24 consists of three renovations.

1. Addition of Shift Commander Office and remodel lobby
2. Upgraded Technology in the multipurpose classroom
3. New carpets throughout the building

FY 23-24 Project 1

Circa 1990, the police department converted a small 10x10 interview room connected to
the PD’s main lobby into an office for the Patrol Shift Commanders (Lieutenants). This
office, pictured below, is shared (24/7) by four of Patrols highest-ranking officials. It is
here that they meet with members of the community, hear citizen complaints, plan
events, meet with subordinate officers and make critical decisions. The office was never
compatible to serve the needs of a Shift Commander.



This project requires walls be removed, expanding the current office into the main lobby
space. This expansion would encapsulate one of the current bathrooms in the lobby.
This newly acquired space would require the bathroom to be remodeled into a locker
room for the Shift Commanders, which would be accessible through the newly
constructed office. During that time, the lobby should be renovated, however the cost
would increase substantially. There are also HVAC and Electrical concerns.

Cost of this project is difficult to determine without retaining an architect and builder.

FY 23-24 Project 2

There is a need to upgrade the technology in the Multipurpose Community Classroom.
This room is used for our Emergency Management System, Training Classroom,
Citizens Police Academy, Press Conferences and Commissioner Meetings. This project
will update the technology capabilities of the room, consisting of audio/visual aids,
cameras and advanced communications needs of our agency. The aging furniture
within this room should be replaced to accommodate the multipurpose nature of this
environment.

An estimate was obtained of $50,000 to retrofit the technology in this classroom.

FY 23-24 Project 3

Replace the roughly 7,000 square feet of carpet throughout the Police Department,
excluding the carpet in the lobby and break room. (Lobby will be under construction and
the break room will be consumed by the new PD locker room).

An estimate was obtained of $35,000 to replace the carpets. 7000sf x $5sf.



Phase 2 of this project includes three major elements.
FY 24-25 consists of three renovations.

1. Women'’s Locker Room & Bathroom & Lactation Area

2. Men’s Locker Room & Bathroom

3. Upgrade the safety of the police booking area and build a mental wellness
holding area

FY 24-25 Project 1

The Police Department currently has 12 female police officers all of which need to be
provided with a locker to secure their belongings, including sensitive items, such as
radios, bulletproof vests, police uniforms and firearms. As illustrated in the picture
below, six of those lockers are physically located in the latrine area. The second picture
illustrates the remaining nine lockers. Though there are a total of 15 lockers, these
lockers are old, small and rusting. This proposal suggests that the bathroom be
remodeled, in addition to adding a second shower stall. A Lactation Room needs to be
added to comply with federal law. To achieve this, it requires the current and only
department fitness center to be decommissioned to acquire the needed space for
expansion.

FY 24-25 Project 2

The men’s locker-room is plagued with similar issues; Limited ventilation, limited
lighting, and insufficient storage space for officers. It is important to note that these



locker rooms were original to the building. These lockers have very limited storage
space, no airflow, no electricity to charge cameras, flashlights, phones and radios.

This proposal also calls for a remodel of the men’s locker room bathroom. This remodel
will also add 2 more shower stalls (totaling 4). This renovation requires the current and
only department break room to be decommissioned to acquire the needed space for
expansion.

FY 24-25 Project 3
Detention Area;

The detention area of the police department facilitates the processing of an arrestee
and serves as a temporary holding facility for evidence. Currently, this area is furnished
with regular office furniture, which cannot be secured to the floor. This poses a threat to
officers and arrestees. Furnishing this room with the appropriate furniture would ensure
a safer environment for officers and arrestees.

Secondly, in order to comply with the best law enforcement practices while dealing with
arrestees, an industry trend is providing a safe holding facility for arrestees. These are
known as de-escalation/cool down/padded rooms. These rooms are used to create an
environment completely removed from outside distractions, facilitating de-escalation
within a safe environment. These rooms are typically equipped with floor and wall
padding, and can also involve impact-absorbing floor tiles and other safety features.

Phase 3 of this project.

FY-25-26



Phase 3 of this project pertains to the former ECC space. This space will need to act as
a temporary locker room during phase 2. Currently, the space is occupied with office
cubicles once used by telecommunicators. There are wires, computers, and printers
that need disassembling. After disassembly, lockers will need to be installed, windows
will need to be removed, locks placed on the doors and other modifications (such as
access to server rooms) as this space will serve as a temporary locker-room for the
female and male officers during phase 2.

The future use of this space has yet to be determined. There is an old kitchen and
bathroom attached to the ECC that need to be addressed as well. Ideas for this space
include a fitness room and break room, as the current ones will be decommissioned for
the expansion of the female and male locker rooms.

3. Detailed Description of Proposal

FY 23-24

e Lobby remodel - Shift Commander Office
Considerations:

Architect Costs

(Unknown Hazardous Materials)

Removal of Walls

Reconfiguring Walls

Remodel bathroom

Moving an ADA complainant exterior door
Electrical

HVAC

Furniture

Bullet Proof Construction Material

e Upgrade the technology in the multipurpose classroom (used for training, press
conferences, commissioner/town meetings)
e New Carpets

FY 24-25

e Women's Locker Room & Bathroom
e Men'’s Locker Room & Bathroom

Architect Costs



(Unknown Hazardous Materials)

Removal of Walls

Reconfiguring Walls

Remodel bathrooms

Decommission Fitness Center (Consumed by the women’s locker room)
Decommission Break Room (Consumed by the men’s locker room)
Electrical

HVAC

Furniture- 24 inch Lockers

e Upgrade the safety of the police booking area and build a mental wellness
holding area

Requires Furniture Upgrades, relocating an evidence storage facility currently
occupying a detention cell, and a vendor to build a de-escalation room.

FY 25-26
e Former ECC Redesign
This space is in the basement of Police Headquarters.

Architect Costs

(Unknown Hazardous Materials)
Removal of Walls

Reconfiguring Walls

Removing and/or Remodeling a Kitchen
Electrical

HVAC

This space must be done after the locker room project, as it will serve as the temporary
female, then male locker room.

4. Reliability of Cost Estimate

Currently, these are conservative estimates. An architect is needed to best configure
the space, search for any hazardous materials that may be present and structural
considerations. There was a RFP put out for Architecture Company’s in 2021 by our
towns Purchasing Department. The estimated cost of architects exceeded the money
the police department was willing to spend from the operating budget at that time.
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. Increased Efficiency and Productivity

Provides a better working environment for employees.

Possibly removes some hazardous materials.

Promotes officer wellness.

More attractive for potential police recruits.

Provides a more efficient and technologically advanced community room.
Provides more lockers and locker space for a growing police department.
Allows for a safer booking area for officers and arrestees.

Will also assist in being in compliance with accreditation standards.

6. Additional Long Range Costs

We continue to invest money and resources into the current building to keep it
operational and functional despite its obvious shortcomings.

7. Additional Use or Demand

These projects are part of the comprehensive multiyear improvement plan and will
provide a safer and more efficient work environment of our employees for the next 20
years.

8. Alternatives to This Request

There is an alternative to this project. The cost of a maintaining and operating within an
old building comes with challenges. An alternative would be to consult with a Facility
and Space needs assessment expert who can determine the cost benefit of either
rehabilitating the current police department versus seeking a new facility. Either way
would promote meeting the agency’s growing needs.

9. Safety

This project is expected to considerably improve the health and safety conditions.

10. Environmental Considerations

Concerns of hazardous material may be present as the building was constructed in the
70's.



11. Insurance

N/A

12. Financing

Bonding per Town Policy.

13. Other Considerations

14. Approvals

BOS, BOF, RTM
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